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INTRODUCTION

This Annual Review (“Review”) was prepared by the Subcommittee on Annual

Review of the Committee on Federal Regulation of Securities of the ABA Business

Law Section. The Review covers significant developments in federal securities
law and regulation during 2016. The Review is divided into three sections: reg-

ulatory actions, accounting statements, and caselaw developments. The Review is

written from the perspective of practitioners in the fields of corporate and secu-
rities law. This results in an emphasis on significant developments under the fed-

eral securities laws relating to companies, shareholders, and their respective

counsel. Our discussion is limited to those developments that are of greatest in-
terest to a wide range of practitioners and addresses only final rules.

During 2016, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commis-

sion” or “SEC”) continued its efforts on rulemaking required by the Dodd-
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13q-1 was adopted to increase the transparency of such payments made by oil,
natural gas, or mining companies.11

On February 14, 2017, the President signed a joint resolution of Congress that

effectively nullified Rule 13q-1.12 The resolution stated that the SEC rule on Dis-
closure of Payments by Resource Extraction Issuers “shall have no force or ef-

fect.”13 While Rule 13q-1 is not effective, analyzing the mechanics of the final

rule adopted by the SEC affords readers a historical perspective as to the disclo-
sure requirements and serves an important purpose by providing readers context

in the event a new version of Rule 13q-1 is adopted by the SEC in the future.

In November 2016, the Commission adopted intrastate and regional offerings
rules meant to complement recent efforts by Congress, state legislatures, and

state securities regulators to modernize existing federal and state securities

laws and regulations to assist smaller companies with capital formation.14

Generally, the Review does not discuss rules or cases that are narrowly focused.

For example, the Review does not address hedge fund and other private-fund-

related rulemaking, nor rulemaking related to registered investment companies,
registered investment advisers, or municipal advisors. Cases are chosen for both

their legal concepts as well as factual background. While the Subcommittee

tries to avoid making editorial comments regarding regulations, rules, or cases,
we have attempted to provide a practical analysis of the impact of the develop-

ments in the law and regulations on the day-to-day practice of securities lawyers.

11. Id. at 49361 (“Based on the statutory text and the legislative history, we understand that Con-
gress enacted Section 1504 to increase the transparency of payments made by oil, natural gas, and
mining companies to governments for the purpose of the commercial development of their oil, nat-
ural gas, and minerals.”).
12. H.R.J. Res. 41, 115th Cong. (2017).
13. Id.
14. Exemptions to Facilitate Intrastate and Regional Securities Offerings, 81 Fed. Reg. 83494

(Nov. 21, 2016) (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. pts. 200, 230, 239, 240, 249, 270 & 275).
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Regulatory Developments 2016

A. CHANGES TO EXCHANGE ACT REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS TO

IMPLEMENT TITLE V AND TITLE VI OF THE JOBS ACT

1. OVERVIEW

In 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”)1 amended

sections 12(g) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”)2 to increase the “held of record” thresholds related to the registration and

reporting requirements under the Exchange Act as well as termination of regis-

tration and suspension of reporting. Section 501 of the JOBS Act amended sec-
tion 12(g)(1) of the Exchange Act to increase the “held of record” threshold re-

quiring registration of a class of equity securities to either 2,000 persons in total

or 500 persons who are not accredited investors.3 Section 601 of the JOBS Act
further amended section 12(g)(1) of the Exchange Act to increase the “held of

record” threshold applicable to banks and bank holding companies to 2,000 per-

sons.4 In addition, section 601 amended sections 12(g)(4) and 15(d)(1) of the
Exchange Act to increase the thresholds related to termination and suspension

of reporting applicable to banks and bank holding companies to 1,200 persons.5

Section 502 of the JOBS Act6 amended section 12(g)(5) of the Exchange Act to
exclude from the definition of “held of record” securities held by persons who

received them pursuant to an “employee compensation plan” in transactions ex-

empt from registration pursuant to section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the
“Securities Act”).7 Finally, section 503 of the JOBS Act directed the U.S. Securi-

ties and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) to revise its “held of record”

1. Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, Pub. L. No. 112-106, 126 Stat. 306 (2012) (codified in
scattered sections of 15 U.S.C.).
2. 15 U.S.C. §§ 78l(g), 78o(d) (2012 & Supp. III 2015).
3. JOBS Act § 501, 15 U.S.C. § 78l(g)(1)(A) (2012). Section 501 also increased the statutory total

asset threshold in section 12(g)(1) of the Exchange Act to $10 million. Id. This total asset threshold
was already reflected in Rules 12g-1, 12g-4, and 12h-3 and, thus, did not require further rulemaking.
See 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12g-1, 240.12g-4, 240.12h-3 (2016).
4. JOBS Act § 601, 15 U.S.C. § 78l(g)(1)(B) (2012 & Supp. III 2015). “Bank” and “bank holding

company” for these purposes are defined in section 2 of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956. 12
U.S.C. § 1841 (2012). As amended, section 12(g)(1) generally requires an issuer to register a class of
equity securities within 120 days after the last day of a fiscal year on which it has total assets exceed-
ing $10 million and any of the applicable “held of record” thresholds are met. 15 U.S.C. § 78l(g)(1)
(2012 & Supp. III 2015).
5. JOBS Act § 601, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78l(g)(4), 78o(d)(1) (2012 & Supp. III 2015).
6. JOBS Act § 502, 15 U.S.C. § 78l(g)(5) (2012).
7. 15 U.S.C. § 77e (2012).
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definition to implement section 502 and to create a safe harbor for determining
whether holders received securities pursuant to an “employee compensation

plan” in an exempt transaction.8

On December 17, 2014, the Commission proposed amendments to imple-
ment these provisions.9 While the statutory amendments in the JOBS Act provi-

sions became effective without Commission rulemaking being required (with the

exception of section 503), the Commission proposed amendments to its rules
related to the mechanics of entering and exiting the section 12/Section 15(d) reg-

istration and reporting regime in order to reflect the changed statutory thresh-

olds.10 Proposed amendments to Rules 12g-1, 12g-2, 12g-3, 12g-4, and 12h-3
under the Exchange Act reflected the higher “held of record” thresholds of sec-

tions 501 and 601 of the JOBS Act, and would have extended the bank and bank

holding company “held of record” thresholds to savings and loan holding com-
panies.11 Proposed amendments to Rule 12g5-1 would have implemented the

“employee benefit plan” definitional exclusion of section 502 of the JOBS Act

and created the safe harbor as directed by section 503 of the JOBS Act.12

In 2015, subsequent to the JOBS Act Proposed Rules, section 85001 of the

Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act (the “FAST Act”) extended the ap-

plication of the increased statutory “held of record” thresholds for banks and
bank holdings companies to savings and loan holding companies.13 As noted

above, the Commission had already proposed such an extension in its rules.14

2. FINAL RULES

On May 3, 2016, the Commission adopted final rules to reflect and implement

Title V and VI of the JOBS Act and section 85001 of the FAST Act.15

8. JOBS Act § 503, 15 U.S.C. § 78l note (2012).
9. Changes to Exchange Act Registration Requirements to Implement Title V and Title VI of the

JOBS Act, 79 Fed. Reg. 78343 (proposed Dec. 30, 2014) (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. pts. 230 & 240)
[hereinafter JOBS Act Proposed Rules].
10. Id. at 78345 (“As a result of the JOBS Act changes to Exchange Act Sections 12(g)(1), 12(g)(4)

and 15(d), we are proposing changes to Exchange Act Rules 12g-1, 12g-2, 12g-3, 12g-4 and 12h-3,
which are the rules that govern the mechanics relating to registration, termination of registration
under Section 12(g) and suspension of reporting obligations under Section 15(d).”).
11. Id. at 78354–55 (“We are proposing to amend specified Exchange Act rules to reflect the

new, higher threshold for banks and bank holding companies under Section 12(g)(4) and Sec-
tion 15(d)(1).”). For these purposes, “savings and loan holding companies” are defined in section 10
of the Home Owners’ Loan Act. Id. at 78349; see 12 U.S.C. § 1461 (2012).
12. JOBS Act Proposed Rules, supra note 9, at 78350.
13. Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act, Pub. L. No. 114-94, § 85001, 129 Stat. 1312,

1797 (2015) (codified at 15 U.S.C. §§ 78l, 78o (Supp. III 2015).
14. See supra notes 9–11 and accompanying text.
15. Changes to Exchange Act Registration Requirements to Implement Title V and Title VI of the

JOBS Act, 81 Fed. Reg. 28689 (May 10, 2016) (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. pts. 230 & 240) [here-
inafter JOBS Act Final Rules].
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a. Exchange Act Reporting Thresholds

i. Increased Thresholds for Registration and Reporting Obligations

The Commission adopted, substantially as proposed, amendments to Rules

12g-1, 12g-2, 12g-3, 12g-4, and 12h-3 under the Exchange Act.16 These revised
rules reflect the higher statutory “held of record” thresholds described above.

The Commission’s amendment to Rule 12g-1 provides that an issuer is not re-

quired to register a class of equity securities if, as of the last day of its most recent
fiscal year, such issuer does not exceed the existing $10 million total asset

threshold or meet any of the applicable increased “held of record” thresholds

(i.e., the securities are held of record by fewer than 2,000 persons and fewer
than 500 of those persons are not accredited investors for issuers other than

banks, bank holding companies, and savings and loan holding companies,17

and fewer than 2,000 persons for banks, bank holding companies, and savings
and loan holding companies).18 The amendment to Rule 12g-4(a) reflects the in-

creased “held of record” threshold of fewer than 1,200 persons for banks, bank

holding companies, and savings and loan holding companies for purposes of
eligibility to terminate registration under section 12(g).19

As a result of this amendment, banks, bank holding companies, and savings and

loan holding companies with fewer than 1,200 holders are able to terminate reg-
istration and immediately suspend their duty to report upon filing a Form 15.20

Similarly, the amendment to Rule 12h-3 reflected the fewer than 1,200 holder

threshold applicable to banks, bank holding companies, and savings and loan
companies for purposes of suspending the duty to report pursuant to sec-

tion 15(d) of the Exchange Act.21 For issuers other than banks, bank holding com-

panies, and savings and loan holding companies, the thresholds to terminate reg-
istration under section 12(g) or suspend reporting under section 15(d) were not

changed by the JOBS Act or the Commission’s rule amendments and remain at

fewer than (i) 300 holders (regardless of the amount of total assets) and (ii) 500
holders (if total assets have not exceeded $10 million at the end of any of the

three preceding fiscal years).22 Amendments to Rules 12g-2 and 12g-3 reflect

the higher statutory threshold for banks, bank holding companies, and savings

16. Id. at 28690–91 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12g-1, 240.12g-2, 240.12g-3, 240.12g-4
& 120.12h-3).
17. Id. at 28691 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g-1). On December 21, 2016, the Commission

adopted a final rule making a technical correction to the language of amended Rule 12g-1 to clarify that
a non-bank issuer meeting either the total held of record threshold or the non-accredited investor
threshold (and that exceeds the total asset threshold) is required to register under the Exchange Act.
Changes to Exchange Act Registration Requirements to Implement Title V and Title VI of the JOBS
Act; Correction, 81 Fed. Reg. 95458 (Dec. 28, 2016) (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. pt. 240).
18. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28691 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g-1).
19. Id. (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g-4).
20. Id. (“As a result of the changes to Rule 12g-4(a), banks, savings and loan holding companies

and bank holding companies will be able to terminate registration of a class of securities and suspend
immediately their duty to file current and periodic reports upon filing a certification on Form 15 at
the 1,200 person threshold.”).
21. Id. (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12h-3).
22. 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g-4, 240.12h-3 (2016).
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and loan holding companies in the rules related to deemed registration under sec-
tion 12(g)(1) (upon termination of exemptions available under section 12(g)(2) for

listed securities registered under section 12(b) and for registered investment com-

panies) and registration of securities of successor issuers under section 12(b) or
section 12(g).23

ii. Non-Accredited Investor Threshold

As described above, section 12(g)(1) of the Exchange Act (as amended by sec-

tion 501 of the JOBS Act) and revised Rule 12g-1 now include a “held of record”

threshold of 500 persons who are not accredited investors.24 Therefore, notwith-
standing the increased general “held of record” threshold of 2,000 persons, an

issuer that exceeds the total asset threshold and has more than 500 non-

accredited holders of a class of equity securities at the end of a fiscal year
would be required to register the class of securities under the Exchange Act.25

The Commission adopted, as proposed, an amendment to Rule 12g-1 to clarify

that the term “accredited investor” for these purposes is as defined in Rule 501(a)
under the Securities Act (i.e., for Regulation D offering purposes).26 The amend-

ment also clarified that the determination must be made as of the last day of the

issuer’s fiscal year.27

In adopting the proposed amendment to Rule 12g-1, the Commission noted

that Rule 501(a) defines an accredited investor as a person falling in one of sev-

eral enumerated categories or whom the issuer reasonably believes does so.28

Despite several comment letters recommending guidance as to what constitutes

a “reasonable belief” and/or a safe harbor related to this determination, the Com-

mission declined to provide either.29 The Commission noted that forming a rea-
sonable belief is a facts-and-circumstances determination, and that no similar

23. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28691 n.43 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12g-2,
240.12g-3).
24. See supra notes 3, 17 and accompanying text.
25. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28691 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g-1).
26. Id. at 28691–93 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g-1); see 17 C.F.R. § 230.501(a) (2016);

see generally 17 C.F.R. §§ 230.500–230.508 (2016) (Regulation D).
27. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28693.
28. Id.; see 17 C.F.R. § 230.501(a).
29. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28693; see, e.g., Letter from Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen &

Hamilton LLP to Elizabeth M. Murphy, Sec’y, U.S. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n (Feb. 27, 2015), https://
www.sec.gov/comments/s7-12-14/s71214-7.pdf; Letter from Catherine T. Dixon, Chair, Fed. Reg. of
Sec. Comm., Bus. Law Section, Am. Bar Ass’n, to U.S. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n (Apr. 10, 2015), https://
www.sec.gov/comments/s7-12-14/s71214-1.pdf [hereinafter ABA Letter]; Letter from Brian Knight,
Assoc. Dir., Fin. Policy & Staci Warden, Exec. Dir., Ctr. for Fin. Mkts., Milken Inst., to Brent J.
Fields, Sec’y, U.S. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n (Mar. 2, 2015), https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-12-14/
s71214-10.pdf; Letter from Kevin Shields, Chairman, Inv. Program Ass’n, to Brent J. Fields, Sec’y,
U.S. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n (Mar. 2, 2015), https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-12-14/s71214-9.pdf
[hereinafter IPA Letter]; Letter from Thomas Voekler, President, Alt. & Direct Inv. Sec. Ass’n, to
Brent J. Fields, Sec’y, U.S. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n (Mar. 2, 2015), https://www.sec.gov/comments/
s7-12-14/s71214-6.pdf [hereinafter ADISA Letter]. Topics addressed in these comment letters in-
cluded, among others, the timing or frequency of the determination, self-certification processes,
and reliance on third parties. See, e.g., ADISA Letter, supra, at 3.
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safe harbor exists under Regulation D.30 Commenters also recommended that
the determination need not be made as of the end of a fiscal year (perhaps

only at the time of sale to the holder, for example).31 However, the Commission

adopted the amendment, as proposed, to require the determination be made at
the end of the fiscal year, consistent with the asset and “held of record” threshold

determinations in section 12(g)(1).32

b. Employee Compensation Plans

i. Definition

Section 12(g)(5) of the Exchange Act, as amended by section 502 of the JOBS

Act, defines “held of record” to exclude, for purposes of determining whether an

issuer is required to register a class of securities under section 12(g)(1) (but not
for other purposes, such as determining eligibility to terminate registration or

suspend reporting), “securities held by persons who received the securities pur-

suant to an employee compensation plan in transactions exempted from the reg-
istration requirements of section 5 of the Securities Act.”33 Section 503 of the

JOBS Act directed the Commission to amend its definition of “held of record”

to implement the section 502 exclusion related to securities received pursuant
to employee compensation plans.34

The Commission adopted new Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(i) to implement the statu-

tory exclusion for securities held by persons who received them pursuant to
an employee compensation plan.35 Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(i)(A) largely tracks the lan-

guage of section 12(g)(5), as amended, by providing that, for purposes of deter-

mining whether an issuer is required to register a class of securities pursuant to
section 12(g)(1), the issuer may exclude securities “held by persons who re-

ceived the securities pursuant to an employee compensation plan in transactions

exempt from, or not subject to, the registration requirements” of the Securities
Act.36 Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(i)(B) provides relief in the context of business combi-

nations and similar transactions and allows for the exclusion of securities issued

in exchange for, or in substitution of, securities that were excludable under Rule
12g5-1(a)(i)(A), so long as the persons receiving those exchanged or substitute

30. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28693.
31. See IPA Letter, supra note 29, at 2; ADISA Letter, supra note 29, at 2.
32. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28693; see 15 U.S.C. § 78l(g)(1) (2012 & Supp. III

2015).
33. 15 U.S.C. § 78l(g)(5) (2012).
34. Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, Pub. L. No. 112-106, § 503, 126 Stat. 306, 326 (2012)

(codified at 15 U.S.C. § 78l note (2012)).
35. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28693–95 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g5-1(a)(8)(i)).
36. Id. at 28706 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g5-1(a)(8)(i)(A)). The “or not subject to”

language is not contained in the statute and is designed to make the exclusion available so long as
registration is not required by section 5 of the Securities Act. See id. at 28695. The Commission
noted its belief that regardless of the exemption available or whether a “sale” was involved at all, com-
pensatory issuances were similar enough that the adopted rule was consistent with the statutory re-
lief. Id.
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securities were eligible to receive securities pursuant to Rule 701(c) at the time
they received the original securities.37

In response to concerns of commenters,38 the final rule was slightly modified

from the proposed rule to ensure the “employee compensation plan” exclusion
would be available regardless of whether an issuer relies on a transaction-

based or security-based exemption or on a “no-sale” theory to avoid registration

under the Securities Act.39 In addition, Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(i)(B) was broadened
from the proposed rule so as not to restrict the type of business combination

transaction it would apply to (i.e., language was added to the final rule to clarify

that it would apply to a transaction involving an exchange or a substitution) and
to cover securities received by former employees as long as they were eligible to

receive securities pursuant to Rule 701(c) under the Securities Act at the time of

the original issuance.40

In adopting Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(i), the Commission did not define “employee

compensation plan,” noting the potential for confusion and conflict with similar

definitions in Rule 701 and Form S-8 and that flexibility would be provided by
having a principles-based determination alongside a non-exclusive safe harbor

(discussed below) for certainty.41

ii. Safe Harbor

Section 503 of the JOBS Act also directed the Commission to adopt a safe harbor

that issuers can rely on for purposes of determining whether the “employee benefit
plan” exclusion is available.42 The Commission adopted new Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(ii)

as a non-exclusive safe harbor, providing that, for purposes of Rule 12g5-1(a)(8):

(A) a person may be deemed to have received the securities pursuant to an “em-
ployee compensation plan” if the plan and person who received the securities

met the plan and participant conditions of Rule 701(c) under the Securities Act,

and (B) securities may be deemed to have been issued in a transaction exempt
from, or not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act if the is-

suer had a reasonable belief that was the case at the time of issuance.43

In response to comments,44 the final safe harbor rule was modified from the
proposed rule so that the rule only requires that the plan and participant condi-

37. Id. at 28706 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g5-1(a)(8)(i)(B)); see 17 C.F.R. § 230.701(c)
(2016). Persons eligible to receive securities pursuant to Rule 701(c) are discussed below. See infra
note 45.
38. See ABA Letter, supra note 29, at 2–3.
39. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28695 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g5-1(a)(8)(i)(A)).
40. Id.; see ABA Letter, supra note 29, at 14; see also infra note 45 (discussing eligibility under

Rule 701(c)).
41. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28694; see 17 C.F.R. §§ 230.701, 239.16b (2016).
42. Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, Pub. L. No. 112-106, § 503, 126 Stat. 306, 326 (2012)

(codified at 15 U.S.C. 78l note (2012)).
43. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28706 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R.

§ 240.12g5-1(a)(8)(ii)(A)–(B)).
44. See ABA Letter, supra note 29, at 3; ADISA Letter, supra note 29, at 4.
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tions of Rule 701(c) be satisfied under the first prong of the safe harbor con-
tained in Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(ii)(A).45 Provided another exemption satisfies the

second prong of the safe harbor contained in Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(ii)(B), it is not

necessary that the other conditions of Rule 701, such as issuer eligibility, volume
limitations, or disclosure delivery, be satisfied.46 In response to concerns about

the burden of conducting a yearly verification of the availability of a Securities

Act exemption for issuances that may have occurred far in the past,47 the provi-
sion of Rule 12g5-1(a)(8)(ii)(B) was added to the final rule in order to allow is-

suers to rely on a reasonable belief at the time of issuance that registration was

not required under the Securities Act.48

The safe harbor described above is limited to holders who are persons iden-

tified in Rule 701(c).49 Once securities are transferred by such a person to a per-

son who is not identified in Rule 701(c), the securities held by the transferee
generally must be counted for purposes of determining whether a “held of re-

cord” threshold has been reached for purposes of determining whether registra-

tion is required under section 12(g)(1).50 However, the Commission clarified
that the safe harbor applies to “family member” (as defined in Rule 701(c)) trans-

ferees with respect to securities issued pursuant to a complying plan and trans-

ferred by a plan participant by gift, domestic relations order, or death.51

c. Foreign Private Issuers

Rule 12g3-2 under the Exchange Act exempts from registration under sec-

tion 12(g) any class of securities of a foreign private issuer if less than 300 holders

45. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28706 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R.
§ 240.12g5-1(a)(8)(ii)(A)). Rule 701(c) exempts offers and sales pursuant to “a written compensatory
benefit plan (or written compensation contract) established by the issuer, its parents, its majority-
owned subsidiaries or majority-owned subsidiaries of the issuer’s parent, for the participation of
their employees, directors, general partners, trustees (where the issuer is a business trust), officers
or consultants and advisors [subject to specified limitations], and their family members who acquire
such securities from such persons through gifts or domestic relations orders.” 17 C.F.R. § 230.701(c)
(2016). A “compensatory benefit plan” is defined as “any purchase, savings, option, bonus, stock ap-
preciation, profit sharing, thrift, incentive, deferred compensation, pension or similar plan.” Id.
§ 230.701(c)(2). A “family member” is defined to include “any child, stepchild, grandchild, parent,
stepparent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niece, nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-
law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, including adoptive relationships,
any person sharing the employee’s household (other than a tenant or employee), a trust in which
these persons have more than fifty percent of the beneficial interest, a foundation in which these per-
sons (or the employee) control the management of assets, and any other entity in which these persons
(or the employee) own more than fifty percent of the voting interests.” Id. § 230.701(c)(3).
46. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28697; see 17 C.F.R. § 230.701(b), (d)–(e) (2016).
47. See ABA Letter, supra note 29, at 10–11. The commenter recommended that the safe harbor

deem, solely for purposes of section 12(g)(1), that an issuance of securities was qualified for an ex-
emption under the Securities Act, if the conditions of Rule 701(c) were satisfied as of the end of the
relevant fiscal year. Id.
48. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28696–97 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R.

§ 240.12g5-1(a)(8)(ii)(B)).
49. Id. at 28697.
50. Id.
51. Id.; see 17 C.F.R. § 230.701(c)(3) (2016) (defining “family member”).
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of the class are resident in the United States.52 Because Rule 12g3-2(a)(1) refer-
ences Rule 12g5-1 as the means, with specified exceptions, for determining the

securities held of record by persons resident in the United States, the Commission

confirmed that foreign private issuers are entitled to rely on Rule 12g5-1(a)(8) to
determine the number of U.S. holders for purposes of the exemption provided by

Rule 12g3-2.53 However, in order to determine the percentage of the issuer’s out-

standing securities held by U.S. residents for purposes of qualifying as a “foreign
private issuer” under the definition provided by Rule 3b-4 under the Exchange Act

and Rule 405 under the Securities Act, the Commission determined that an issuer

cannot rely on the Rule 12g5-1(a)(8) exclusion.54 The instructions to Rule 3b-4
and Rule 405 were amended to provide this clarification.55

B. DISCLOSURE OF PAYMENTS BY RESOURCE EXTRACTION ISSUERS

1. OVERVIEW

On June 27, 2016, the Commission adopted Rule 13q-1 under the Exchange
Act and an amendment to Form SD pursuant to section 1504 of the Dodd-Frank

Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”).56

Rule 13q-1 requires issuers engaged in the commercial development of oil, nat-
ural gas, or minerals to disclose certain payments made to the federal or foreign

governments.57 Rule 13q-1 was adopted to increase the transparency of such

payments made by oil, natural gas, or mining companies.58 The Commission
adopted a prior version of Rule 13q-1 in 2012, but the U.S. District Court for

the District of Columbia vacated the rule in 2013.59 Subsequently, the Commis-

52. 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g3-2 (2016).
53. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28697–98.
54. Id.; see 17 C.F.R. §§ 230.504, 240.3b-4 (2016). This clarification was necessary due to a cross-

reference in the instructions to Rule 3b-4 to the method of calculating record ownership under Rule
12g3-2(a) (which in turn references Rule 12g5-1). Id. § 240.3b-4.
55. JOBS Act Final Rules, supra note 15, at 28697–98.
56. Disclosure of Payments by Resource Extraction Issuers, 81 Fed. Reg. 49360 (July 27, 2016) (to

be codified at 17 C.F.R. pts. 240 & 249b) [hereinafter Disclosure of Payments]; see Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 111-203, § 1504, 124 Stat. 1376, 2220
(2010) (codified at 15 U.S.C. § 78m(q) (2012)). In section 1504 of the Dodd-Frank Act, Congress
directed the Commission to “issue final rules that require each resource extraction issuer to include
in an annual report . . . information relating to any payment made by the resource extraction issuer, a
subsidiary of the resource extraction issuer, or an entity under the control of the resource extraction
issuer to a foreign government or the Federal Government for the purpose of the commercial devel-
opment of oil, natural gas, or minerals.” 15 U.S.C. § 78m(q)(2)(A) (2012).
57. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49360 (“Section 13(q) requires a resource extraction

issuer to provide information about the type and total amount of such payments made for each proj-
ect related to the commercial development of oil, natural gas, or minerals, and the type and total
amount of payments made to each government.”).
58. Id. at 49361 (“Based on the statutory text and the legislative history, we understand that Con-

gress enacted Section 1504 to increase the transparency of payments made by oil, natural gas, and
mining companies to governments for the purpose of the commercial development of their oil, nat-
ural gas, and minerals.”); see infra Part B.3.a (discussing the Commission’s definitions of “federal gov-
ernment” and “foreign government”).
59. Am. Petroleum Inst. v. SEC, 953 F. Supp. 2d 5, 8 (D.D.C. 2013) (vacating Disclosure of Pay-

ments by Resource Extraction Issuers, 77 Fed. Reg. 56365 (Sept. 12, 2012)). In vacating the rule, the
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sion revised Rule 13q-1 in light of the court’s ruling and passed the current ver-
sion of the rule after reviewing additional comments from issuers.60

On February 14, 2017, the President signed a joint resolution of Congress that

effectively nullified Rule 13q-1.61 The resolution stated that the SEC rule on Dis-
closure of Payments by Resource Extraction Issuers “shall have no force or ef-

fect.”62 Joint Resolution 41 effectively scuttles the SEC’s current rule: Rule

13q-1, if re-proposed, may not be reissued in substantially the same form.63

Given this development, this survey analyzes the mechanics of the current

Rule 13q-1 for the purpose of helping readers better understand any subsequent

version of Rule 13q-1 that may be adopted in the future.
As adopted by the Commission, Rule 13q-1 would have required certain issu-

ers in the oil, natural gas, or mining business to annually disclose payments

made to either the federal or foreign governments64 that are equal to or in excess
of $100,00065 and made for the purpose of furthering the commercial develop-

ment of oil, natural gas, or minerals.66 Issuers subject to Rule 13q-1 would have

first been required to comply with the rule starting in their first fiscal year ending
on or after September 30, 2018 (the “Compliance Date”).67 After the Compliance

Date, issuers would have made Rule 13q-1 disclosures on Form SD no later than

150 days after the end of such issuer’s fiscal year.68 Accordingly, most issuers
would have submitted their first Rule 13q-1 disclosures by May 30, 2019.69

2. WHO WOULD HAVE BEEN REQUIRED TO COMPLY?

Rule 13q-1 applied to oil, natural gas, or mining companies that are “resource

extraction issuers.”70 Rule 13q-1 was an industry-specific rule that would not

have applied to many issuers, as the Commission estimated that only 755 cur-

district court held that: (1) the Commission misread the statute to mandate public disclosure of re-
ports and (2) the Commission’s denial of an exemption for issuers that operate in countries that pro-
hibit the disclosure of payments was arbitrary and capricious. Id. at 11.
60. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49361–62.
61. H.R.J. Res. 41, 115th Cong. (2017).
62. Id.
63. 5. U.S.C. § 801(b)(2) (2016).
64. See infra Part B.3.a (discussing the Commission’s definitions of “federal government” and “for-

eign government”).
65. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49375 (“A ‘not de minimis’ payment is one that equals

or exceeds $100,000, or its equivalent in the issuer’s reporting currency, whether made as a single
payment or series of related payments.” (footnote omitted)).
66. Id. at 49426 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.13q-1); see infra Part B.2.b (discussing the

Commission’s definition of “commercial development of oil, natural gas, or minerals”).
67. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49399 (“Thus, under the final rules, the initial Form

SD filing for resource extraction issuers would cover the first fiscal year ending on or after September
30, 2018 and would not be due until 150 days later. Since most issuers use a December 31 fiscal year
end, the filing deadline would not be until May 30, 2019 for most issuers.”).
68. Id.
69. Id.
70. Id. at 49429 (defining “resource extraction issuer”).
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rent issuers would have been affected by the rule.71 Investment companies, issu-
ers subject to Tier 2 reporting requirements under Regulation A, and issuers sub-

ject to Regulation Crowdfunding were exempt from Rule 13q-1’s disclosure

requirements.72

a. Defining “Resource Extraction Issuer”

Under Rule 13q-1, an issuer was a “resource extraction issuer” if such issuer

(i) was required to file an annual report with the Commission on Forms 10-K,

20-F, or 40-F, and (ii) engaged73 in the commercial development of oil, natural
gas, or minerals.74 Smaller reporting issuers, foreign issuers, and issuers whose pri-

mary operations are focused in other industries were not exempt from Rule 13q-1’s

disclosure requirements.75 Because foreign issuers were not automatically exempt,
some foreign issuers would have been subject to duplicative reporting in other ju-

risdictions.76 The Commission indicated that “whether an issuer is a resource ex-

traction issuer ultimately depends on the specific facts and circumstances.”77

b. “Engages in the Commercial Development of Oil,
Natural Gas, or Minerals”

The Commission defined the “commercial development of oil, natural gas, or

minerals” as the “exploration, extraction, processing, and export of oil, natural
gas, or minerals, or the acquisition of a license for any such activity.”78 This def-

71. Id. at 49400. The Commission noted that the 755 “number does not reflect the number of
issuers that actually made resource extraction payments to governments in 2015, but rather repre-
sents the estimated number of issuers that might make such payments.” Id.
72. See id. at 49367–68, 49429.
73. The Commission will interpret “engages” to include “indirectly engaging in the specified com-

mercial development activities through an entity under a company’s control.” Id. at 49367 n.113
(“We continue to interpret ‘engages’ as used in Section 13(q) and Rule 13q-1 to include indirectly
engaging in the specified commercial development activities through an entity under a company’s
control.”); see infra note 78 and accompanying text (discussing the term “engages”).
74. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49367 (“Under the final rules, resource extraction

issuers are issuers that are required to file an annual report with the Commission pursuant to Section
13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and engage in the commercial development of oil, natural gas, or
minerals.” (footnote omitted)).
75. Id. One commenter suggested to the Commission that foreign private issuers should be spe-

cifically excluded from the definition of “resource extraction issuer.” Id. However, the Commission
decided not to automatically exempt such issuers, citing the presence of alternative reporting provi-
sions and the availability of other exemptive relief. Id. Furthermore, the Commission estimates that at
least 25 percent of resource extraction issuers are already subject to some type of reporting require-
ments, such as the EU Transparency Directive or the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative
(the “EITI”). Id. at 49362–63 n.40.
76. Id. at 49367. For example, a foreign issuer might have needed to report payments under both

Rule 13q-1 and the EU Transparency Directive. See id. at 49363. The Commission decided to address
concerns relating to duplicative reporting by including alternative reporting provisions in the rule
instead of exempting such issuers altogether. Id. at 49367. The rationale for this decision centered
on the possibility that the foreign jurisdiction’s reporting requirements may be significantly different
than the requirements of the Commission. Id.
77. Id. at 49369.
78. Id. at 49428.
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inition was broad and could have encompassed activities that were not covered
in comparable disclosure regimes,79 such as the European Union’s Transparency

Directive.80 Indirect participation in these commercial development activities by

an issuer could have subjected an issuer to Rule 13q-1, even if the issuer did not
directly participate in the commercial development of oil, natural gas, or miner-

als.81 Despite the broad scope of the definition, the Commission clarified that an

issuer who was only “providing products or services that support the explora-
tion, extraction, processing, or export of such resources” would not constitute

a “resource extraction issuer.”82

As used in the definition of “commercial development of oil, natural gas, or
minerals,” “extraction” included the “production of oil or natural gas as well

as the extraction of minerals.”83 An issuer was involved in the “processing” of

oil, natural gas, or minerals if the issuer participated in upstream or midstream
activities, such as removing impurities from natural gas prior to its transport

through a pipeline or crushing and processing ore prior to smelting.84 However,

issuers were not “processing” a resource if the issuer only participated in down-
stream activities, such as refining or smelting.85 Payments were considered re-

lated to “exploration” if they were “made as part of the process of identifying

areas that may warrant examination or examining specific areas that are consid-
ered to have prospects of containing oil and gas reserves, or as part of a mineral

79. Id. at 49369 (noting “differences between the definition [the Commission is] adopting today
and that used in other transparency regimes”). For example, although Canada’s regulatory regime de-
fines “minerals,” neither the Commission nor the EU Directive does so. Id. at 49370.
80. Compare id. at 49428 (regulating “exploration, extraction, processing, and export of oil, nat-

ural gas, or minerals”), with Council Directive 2013/34, art. 41(1), 2013 O.J. (L 182) 19, 52 (EU)
(regulating “exploration, prospection, discovery, development, and extraction of minerals, oil, natural
gas deposits or other materials”), and Council Directive 2004/109, arts. 4–6, 2004 O.J. (L 390) 38,
44–46 (EC) (requiring annual, half-year, and interim disclosures).
81. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49367 n.113. Indirect participation in these activ-

ities may subject issuers to Rule 13q-1’s disclosure requirements because the Commission interprets
the term “engages” in the definition of “resource extraction issuer” as including both direct and in-
direct activities. Id. An issuer acts indirectly if it engages in the specified commercial development
activities through an entity under the issuer’s control. Id.; see infra note 87 (discussing the Commis-
sion’s definition of “control”).
82. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49370 (“We do not consider an issuer that is only

providing products or services that support the exploration, extraction, processing, or export of such
resources to be a ‘resource extraction issuer’ . . . .”). For example, an issuer hired by an operator to
provide hydraulic fracturing or drilling services is not a “resource extraction issuer.” Id.
83. Id. at 49428.
84. Id. at 49429 (“‘Processing’ . . . include[s] but is not limited to, midstream activities such as the

processing of gas to remove liquid hydrocarbons, the removal of impurities from natural gas prior to
its transport through a pipeline, and the upgrading of bitumen and heavy oil, through the earlier of
the point at which oil, gas, or gas liquids (natural or synthetic) are either sold to an unrelated third
party or delivered to a main pipeline, a common carrier, or a marine terminal. It would also include
the crushing and processing of raw ore prior to the smelting phase.”).
85. Id. (“‘Processing’ . . . [does] not include the downstream activities of refining or smelting.”).

The Commission clarified that, in general, it does not believe that the term “export” was “intended
to capture activities with little relationship to upstream or midstream activities, such as commodity
trading-related activities” in the oil, natural gas, or minerals industry. Id. at 49370.
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exploration program.”86 Issuers were permitted to report payments related to ex-
ploration on a delayed basis, as discussed in detail in Part B.5 below.87

The final rule defined “export” as “the movement of a resource across an in-

ternational border from the host country to another country by a company
with an ownership interest in the resource.”88 This definition excluded service

providers who provide transportation services to resource extractors, so long

as the service provider maintained no ownership interest in the resource.89 Ac-
cordingly, resource extraction issuers who transported resources in which they

had an ownership interest (or who owned or controlled90 subsidiaries that trans-

ported such resources) internationally would have been required to comply with
Rule 13q-1, but passive service providers who had no ownership interest in the

goods they were carrying would not have been subject to the rule.91 After deter-

mining whether it was a “resource extraction issuer,” an issuer would consider
which payments must be disclosed under Rule 13q-1.

3. WHAT WOULD HAVE BEEN DISCLOSED?

Though determining whether a given issuer was a resource extraction issuer

would have been the first level of inquiry for issuers in the oil, natural gas, or

minerals business, resource extraction issuers would also have had to decide
which payments to disclose and how to disclose them. In summary, resource ex-

traction issuers would have been required to disclose the type and total amount

of payments made to the federal or foreign government for each project relating
to the commercial development of oil, natural gas, or minerals.92

a. Definition of the “Federal” or a “Foreign Government”

Rule 13q-1 defined the term “federal government” as the U.S. federal govern-

ment, excluding any state and/or local governments or corporations controlled

86. Id. at 49391. Issuers should also note that payment information related to exploratory activ-
ities includes “all payments made as part of the process of (i) identifying areas that may warrant ex-
amination, (ii) examining specific areas that are considered to have prospects of containing oil and
gas reserves, or (iii) as part of a mineral exploration program, in each case limited to exploratory ac-
tivities that were commenced prior to any development or extraction activities on the property, any
adjacent property, or any property that is part of the same project.” Id. at 49428.
87. Id. at 49428. “A resource extraction issuer may delay disclosing payment information related

to exploratory activities until the filing of a Form SD for the fiscal year immediately following the
fiscal year in which the payment was made.” Id.; see infra Part B.5.
88. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49428.
89. Id. (“Export also does not include cross-border transportation activities by an entity that is func-

tioning solely as a service provider, with no ownership interest in the resource being transported.”).
90. “Control” means that “the resource extraction issuer consolidates the entity or proportionately

consolidates an interest in an entity or operation under the accounting principles applicable to the
financial statements included in the resource extraction issuer’s periodic reports filed pursuant to
the Exchange Act.” Id.
91. Id.
92. Id. at 49427.
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by the federal government.93 The rule’s definition of “foreign government” was
more nuanced. A “foreign government” was defined as any “foreign government,

a department, agency, or instrumentality of a foreign government, or a company

at least majority owned by a foreign government.”94 Unlike the definition of “fed-
eral government,” the definition of “foreign government” adopted by the Com-

mission included subnational governments.95 Accordingly, resource extraction

issuers would have been required to analyze the definition of “foreign govern-
ment” in order to determine whether a given payment must be reported pursu-

ant to Rule 13q-1 and the appropriate entity to which the payment should be

attributed on Form SD.

b. Definition of “Payments”

Rule 13q-1 did not require resource extraction issuers to disclose every pay-

ment made to the federal or a foreign government. Instead, Rule 13q-1 limited

the disclosure of payments by setting a de minimis dollar threshold for pay-
ments96 and specifying that only certain types of payments must be disclosed.97

In interpreting which payments would constitute a “payment” under the rule,

the Commission indicated that it would emphasize substance over form.98

The definition of “payment” adopted by the Commission included an anti-

evasion provision that required resource extraction issuers to disclose payments

that would otherwise not be subject to the disclosure requirements of Rule 13q-1
if the payment was made as part of a plan or scheme to evade disclosure required

under Rule 13q-1.99

Under Rule 13q-1, “payment” meant any payment:

• made to further the commercial development of oil, natural gas, or

minerals;100

• that is not de minimis; and

93. Id. at 49383 (“‘Federal Government’ means the U.S. Federal Government and does not in-
clude subnational governments within the United States.”).

94. Id. at 49428. Under the Commission’s definition, payments made by a resource extraction
issuer to a company that is majority owned by a foreign government must be disclosed. Id.

95. Id.
96. Id.
97. Rule 13q-1 requires the disclosure of payments made to “further the commercial develop-

ment of oil, natural gas, or minerals.” Id.
98. Id. at 49375. By emphasizing substance over form, the Commission intended to capture pay-

ments that were made for the purpose of evasion. Id.
99. Id. at 49426–27 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.13q-1(b)).
100. As used in this context, the “commercial development of oil, natural gas, or minerals” has

same definition discussed above. See supra Part B.2.b.
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• is one or more of the following: taxes,101 royalties,102 fees,103 production
entitlements, bonuses, dividends,104 payments for infrastructure im-

provements, and community and social responsibility payments required

by law or contract.105

Under this definition, “not de minimis meant any payment . . . which equals or

exceeds $100,000.”106 If a given payment was to be made periodically or in in-

stallments, resource extraction issuers would have been required to use the ag-
gregate amount of the related periodic payments or installments in determining

whether the payment threshold had been met.107 In-kind payments that other-

wise satisfied the requirements above would have been disclosed at cost or, if
cost was not determinable, at fair market value.108 When calculating whether

a monetary or in-kind payment is de minimis, an issuer would have been required

to use and disclose a consistent method.109

Resource extraction issuers were required to report payments it made, as well

as payments made by any of its subsidiaries.110 In interpreting the definitions of

“subsidiary” and “control,” the Commission indicated that using accounting
principles, rather than Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, was appropriate.111 A

resource extraction issuer was considered to “control” another entity if the issuer

“consolidated that entity or proportionately consolidated an interest in an entity
or operation under the accounting principles applicable to the financial state-

ments it included in periodic reports filed pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d)

of the Exchange Act.”112 If an entity or operation was proportionally consoli-
dated by a resource extraction issuer, such issuer was required to disclose the

proportionate amount of payments made by the entity relating to such issuer’s

proportionate interest.113 Finally, payments made by service providers to the

101. Under this definition, taxes on corporate profits, corporate income, and production would
have been required to be disclosed. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49429.
102. “Royalties” included “unit-based, value-based, and profit-based royalties.” Id.
103. “Fees” included “license fees, rental fees, entry fees, and other considerations for licenses or

concessions.” Id. at 49429–30.
104. “Dividends” would not have included “dividends paid to a government as a common or or-

dinary shareholder,” provided that any such dividend was paid to the government on the same terms
as other shareholders. Id. at 49430. A resource extraction issuer would also have been required to
disclose dividends paid to the government if the dividend was paid in lieu of production entitle-
ments, royalties, or other required payments. Id.
105. Id. at 49428–29.
106. Id. at 49428.
107. Id.
108. Id. at 49430.
109. Id. at 49375 n.225.
110. Id. at 49366 (“A resource extraction issuer is required to disclose payments made by its sub-

sidiaries and other entities under its control.”).
111. Id. at 49377 (“We continue to believe that using accounting principles to determine control,

rather than Rule 12b-2, is appropriate in light of the significant international developments since the
2012 Rules were vacated.”).
112. Id. at 49376.
113. Id. (noting that “a resource extraction issuer that proportionately consolidates an interest in

an entity or an operation would be required to disclose the issuer’s proportionate amount of that en-
tity’s or operation’s eligible payments indicating the issuer’s proportionate interest”).
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federal or foreign government would have possibly been required to be disclosed
by resource extraction issuers if the payment by the service provider met the def-

inition of “payment.”114

c. Definition of “Project”

After determining which payments made to foreign or federal governments
constitute “payments” under Rule 13q-1, resource extraction issuers would

have needed to disaggregate and disclose payments by project.115 Under Rule

13q-1, “project” was defined to mean “operational activities that are governed
by a single contract, license, lease, concession, or similar legal agreement,

which form the basis for payment liabilities with a government.”116 “Agreements

that were both operationally and geographically interconnected would have been
treated by the resource extraction issuer as a single project.”117 Requiring the

disaggregation of payment information by project, rather than other forms of

measurement, was intended to combat corruption and increase transparency
of payments on a local level.118 In addition to this project-level disclosure,

Form SD required issuers to report certain cumulative disclosures, such as the

type and total amount of such payments for all projects made to each
government.119

4. HOW PAYMENT WOULD HAVE BEEN DISCLOSED; FORM SD

Disclosure pursuant to Rule 13q-1 would have been made annually on Form

SD,120 which included Section 2, Item 2.01, and the accompanying instruc-

tions.121 Form SD required issuers to disclose the following information in
XRBL electronic format:

• the type and total amount of payments an issuer was required to disclose,
by payment type listed in paragraph (d)(8)(iii) of Item 2.01 of Form SD,

made for each project of the resource extraction issuer that related to the

commercial development of oil, natural gas, or minerals;

114. Id. at 49429 (“Although an entity providing only services to a resource extraction issuer to
assist with exploration, extraction, processing or export would generally not be considered a resource
extraction issuer, where such a service provider makes a payment that falls within the definition of
‘payment’ to a government on behalf of a resource extraction issuer, the resource extraction issuer
must disclose such payment.”).
115. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49379, 49427–28.
116. Id. at 49429.
117. Id.
118. Id. at 49379 (“Such disaggregated information may help local communities and various levels

of subnational government combat corruption by enabling them to verify that they are receiving the
resource extraction revenue allocations from their national governments that they may be entitled to
under law.”).
119. Id. at 49428–29.
120. Id. at 49426–27.
121. Id. at 49427–30.
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• the type and total amount of such payments, by payment type listed in
paragraph (d)(8)(iii) of Item 2.01 of Form SD, for all projects made to

each government;

• the total amounts of the payments, by payment type listed in paragraph
(d)(8)(iii) of Item 2.01 of Form SD;

• the currency used to make the payments;

• the fiscal year in which the payments were made;

• the business segment122 of the resource extraction issuer that made the
payments;

• the governments (including any foreign government or the federal gov-

ernment) that received the payments and the country in which each
such government is located;

• the project of the resource extraction issuer to which the payments
related;

• the particular resource that was the subject of commercial development;

and

• the subnational geographic location of the project.123

The precise requirements issuers would have followed to properly comply with
Rule 13q-1 was set forth on Item 2.01 of Form SD.124

5. EXEMPTIVE RELIEF

Resource extraction issuers would have been able to apply for exemptive relief

from Rule 13q-1 on a case-by-case basis.125 Exemptive relief would have been

granted in the following, nonexclusive situations: (i) where compliance with the
rule would subject a resource extraction issuer to competitive harm,126 (ii) where

disclosure of payments required by the rule was prohibited under the host countries’

laws,127 or (iii) where revealing payment information would breach contractual ob-
ligations in existence prior to the passage of section 13(q).128 As an alternative to

122. 15 U.S.C. § 78m(q)(2)(D)(ii)(IV) (2012) (“The interactive data standard shall include elec-
tronic tags that identify . . . the business segment of the resource extraction issuer that made the pay-
ments . . . .”).
123. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49427–28.
124. Id.
125. Id. at 49390; see 17 C.F.R. § 240.0-12 (2016).
126. Disclosure of Payments, supra note 56, at 49390 n.399 (“For example, an issuer claiming that

a foreign law prohibits the required payment disclosure under section 13(q) will be able to make the
case that it would suffer substantial commercial or financial harm if relief is not granted.”).
127. Id. at 49366 (noting that “issuers may seek exemptive relief when foreign laws may prohibit

the section 13(q) disclosures”). For example, several comments regarding Rule 13q-1 emphasized
that China and Qatar prohibit the disclosure required by the Commission. Id. at 49390 n.402.
128. Id. at 49390 n.399 (“An issuer could also apply for an exemption in situations where disclo-

sure would conflict with the terms of a material preexisting contract . . . .”).
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idents and companies that are incorporated or organized out-of-state.139 The
Final Rules also amend Rule 504 of Regulation D under the Securities Act to

(1) increase the aggregate amount of securities that may be offered and sold in

any twelve-month period from $1 million to $5 million, and (2) disqualify cer-
tain bad actors from participating in Rule 504 offerings.140 In addition, the Final

Rules repeal Rule 505 of Regulation D, which had provided a safe harbor from

registration for securities offered and sold in any twelve-month period from $1
million to $5 million.141

2. AMENDMENTS TO RULE 147

The Final Rules largely follow the Proposed Rules by continuing to require that

sales be made only to residents of an issuer’s state or territory, redefining “intra-

state offering,” and easing issuer eligibility requirements. The Final Rules, how-
ever, do not adopt the proposed federal limits on state exemptions.142 Amended

Rule 147 continues to function as a safe harbor under section 3(a)(11).143 New

Rule 147A is substantially identical to Rule 147, except that it allows (1) offers
to be accessible to out-of-state residents and (2) for companies to be incorporated

or organized out-of-state.144 Amended Rule 147 and new Rule 147A will become

effective April 20, 2017.145

Both amended Rule 147 and new Rule 147A include the following provisions,

which are discussed in detail below:

• a requirement that the issuer has its “principal place of business” in-state
and satisfies at least one “doing business” requirement that would dem-

onstrate the in-state nature of the issuer’s business;146

• a new “reasonable belief” standard on which issuers may rely when de-

termining the residence of the purchaser at the time of the sale of

securities;147

139. Id. at 83498 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A).
140. See id. at 83553 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.504).
141. Compare id. (removing and reserving Rule 505), with 17 C.F.R. § 230.505 (2016) (exempting

certain offers not exceeding $5 million).
142. Final Rules, supra note 132, at 83508–09. The Proposed Rules included amendments to Rule

147 to limit the availability of the section 3(a)(11) exemption to offerings that are either registered in
the state in which all of the purchasers are resident or conducted pursuant to an exemption from state
law registration in such state that (1) limits the amount of securities an issuer may sell pursuant to
such exemption to no more than $5 million in a twelve-month period and (2) imposes an investment
limitation on investors. See Proposed Rules, supra note 133, at 69797–98.
143. See Final Rules, supra note 132, at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(a) (“This

section shall not raise any presumption that the exemption provided by section 3(a)(11) of the
Act is not available for transactions by an issuer which do not satisfy all of the provisions of this
section.”)).
144. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A).
145. Id. at 83494.
146. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c)); id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R.

§ 230.147A(c)).
147. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(d) (regulating offers and sales)); id. at

83552 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(d) (regulating sales)).
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• a requirement that issuers obtain a written representation from each pur-
chaser as to residency;148

• a limit on resales to persons residing within the state or territory of the

offering for a period of six months from the date of the sale by the issuer
to the purchaser;149

• a safe harbor to protect issuers against integration of any prior offers or
sales of securities by the issuer under that rule as well as certain subse-

quent offers or sales of securities by the issuer occurring after the com-

pletion of the offering;150 and

• legend requirements to offerees and purchasers about the limits on

resales.151

a. Principal Place of Business and Doing Business
Requirement

Amended Rule 147 and new Rule 147A define an issuer’s “principal place of

business” (as opposed to its “principal office” as defined in the old Rule 147) as
the location from which the officers, partners, or managers of the issuer primarily

direct, control, and coordinate the activities of the issuer.152 Under amended Rule

147, issuers will be deemed a “resident” of a particular state or territory in which
they are both incorporated or organized and have their “principal place of busi-

ness.”153 New Rule 147A(c)(1), however, relies solely on the “principal place of

business” requirement to determine the state or territory in which the issuer
shall be deemed a “resident,” which applies to all issuers, including issuers that

are not organized under any state or territorial law, such as general partnerships.154

Under amended Rule 147 and new Rule 147A, issuers that have changed their
principal place of business after making sales in an intrastate offering pursuant to

amended Rule 147 or new Rule 147A, as applicable, will not be able to conduct

another intrastate offering pursuant to either rule in another state for a period of
six months from the date of the last sale in the prior state.155 This is consistent

148. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(f)(1)(iii)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at
17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(f)(1)(iii)).
149. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(e)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R.

§ 230.147A(e)).
150. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R.

§ 230.147A(g)).
151. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(f)(1)(i)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at 17

C.F.R. § 230.147A(f)(1)(i)).
152. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c)(1)(i)); id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17

C.F.R. § 230.147A(c)(1)). Compare 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c)(1)(ii), (c)(2)(iv) (2016) (referencing
“principal office”).
153. Final Rules, supra note 132, at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c)(1)(i)).
154. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(c)(1)).
155. See id. at 83550–51 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c), (e)); id. at 83551–52 (to be

codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(c), (e)).
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with the duration of the resale limitation period specified in amended Rule 147(e)
and new Rule 147A(e), which is addressed in more detail below.

Pursuant to amended Rule 147 and new Rule 147A, an issuer is required to

meet at least one of the following requirements in order to be considered
“doing business” in-state:

• the issuer derived at least 80 percent of its “consolidated gross revenues

from the operation of a business or of real property located in or from the
rendering of services within such state or territory”;156

• the issuer had, at the end of its most recent semi-annual fiscal period
prior to the first offer of securities pursuant to the exemption, at least

80 percent of its consolidated assets located within such state or

territory;157

• the issuer intends to use and uses at least 80 percent of the net proceeds

to the issuer from sales made pursuant to the exemption in connection

with the “operation of a business or of real property, the purchase of
real property located in, or the rendering of services within such state

or territory”;158 or

• a majority of the issuer’s employees are based in such state or territory.159

b. Reasonable Belief Standard

Amended Rule 147(d) and new Rule 147A(d) include a reasonable belief stan-
dard for the issuer’s determination as to a purchaser’s residence at the time of the

sale of the securities.160 This requirement can be satisfied by (1) the fact that the

purchaser is a resident of the applicable state or territory or (2) establishing that
the issuer had a reasonable belief that the purchaser of the securities in the of-

fering was a resident of such state or territory.161 Whether an issuer has formed a

reasonable belief that the prospective purchaser was an in-state resident will be
determined on the basis of all facts and circumstances.162 Under amended Rule

147 and new Rule 147A, the residence of a purchaser that is a legal entity (i.e., a

corporation, partnership, trust, or other form of business organization) is de-

156. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c)(2)(i)); id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17
C.F.R. § 230.147A(c)(2)(i)).
157. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c)(2)(ii)); id. at 83551 (to be codified at

17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(c)(2)(ii)).
158. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c)(2)(iii)); id. at 83551–52 (to be codified

at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(c)(2)(iii)).
159. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(c)(2)(iv)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at 17

C.F.R. § 230.147A(c)(2)(iv)). This fourth prong was not included in the old Rule 147. See 17 C.F.R.
§ 230.147(c)(2) (2016).
160. Final Rules, supra note 132, at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(d)); id. at 83552

(to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(d)).
161. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(d)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R.

§ 230.147A(d)).
162. Id. at 83503.
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fined as the location where, at the time of the sale, the entity has its principal
place of business.163 Amended Rule 147 and new Rule 147A also define a pur-

chaser’s principal place of business consistently with the final definition for is-

suer eligibility purposes.164

c. Limitation on Resales

The Final Rules limit resales under Rule 147(e) and Rule 147A(e) by provid-

ing that, for a period of six months from the date of the sale by the issuer of a

security sold pursuant to the rule, any resale of such security by a purchaser will
be made only to persons who reside within such state or territory.165 In addition,

an issuer’s ability to rely on the amended Rule 147 or new Rule 147A is not con-

ditioned on a purchaser’s compliance with the resale limitations.166

d. Integration

The Final Rules also align the integration safe harbor in Rule 147 with the in-

tegration safe harbor in Rule 251(c) of Regulation A under the Securities Act.167

Under the Final Rules, offers and sales made pursuant to either amended Rule

147 or new Rule 147A will not be integrated with:

• prior offers or sales of securities under amended Rule 147 and new Rule

147A;168 or

• subsequent offers or sales of securities that are

� registered under the Securities Act, except as provided in subsection (h)

of amended Rule 147 and new Rule 147A;169

� exempt from registration under Regulation A;170

� exempt from registration under Rule 701 under the Securities Act;171

� made pursuant to an employee benefit plan;172

163. Id. at 83550 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(d)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R.
§ 230.147A(d)).
164. Id. at 83499.
165. Id. at 83550–51 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(e)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at 17

C.F.R. § 230.147A(e)). The Commission originally proposed a nine-month holding period. See Pro-
posed Rules, supra note 133, at 69793–94.
166. Final Rules, supra note 132, at 83505.
167. Id. at 83506; see 17 C.F.R. § 230.251(c) (2016).
168. Final Rules, supra note 132, at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)(1)); id.

at 83552 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(g)(1)).
169. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)(2)(i)); id. at 83552 (to be codified at 17

C.F.R. § 230.147A(g)(2)(i)).
170. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)(2)(ii)); id. at 83552 (to be codified

at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(g)(2)(ii)).
171. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)(2)(iii)); id. at 83552 (to be codified

at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(g)(2)(iii)).
172. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)(2)(iv)); id. at 83552 (to be codified

at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(g)(2)(iv)).
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� exempt from registration under Regulation S under the Securities
Act;173

� exempt from registration under section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act;174

or

� made more than six months after the completion of an offering con-

ducted pursuant to that rule.175

3. AMENDMENTS TO REGULATION D

The Final Rules amend Rule 504 to (1) increase the aggregate amount of se-
curities that may be offered and sold in any twelve-month period from $1 mil-

lion to $5 million and (2) disqualify certain “bad actors” from participation in

Rule 504 offerings by referencing the disqualification provisions of Rule
506.176 The Final Rules also repeal Rule 505, which had provided a safe harbor

from registration for offerings of up to $5 million annually that must be sold so-

lely to accredited investors or no more than thirty-five non-accredited inves-
tors.177 Amended Rule 504 became effective January 20, 2017, and the repeal

of Rule 505 will become effective May 22, 2017.178

173. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)(2)(v)); id. at 83552 (to be codified
at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(g)(2)(v)).
174. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)(2)(vi)); id. at 83552 (to be codified

at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(g)(2)(vi)).
175. Id. at 83551 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147(g)(2)(vii)); id. at 83552 (to be codified

at 17 C.F.R. § 230.147A(g)(2)(vii)).
176. Id. at 83553 (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. § 230.504(b)(2)–(3)).
177. Compare id. (removing and reserving Rule 505), with 17 C.F.R. § 230.505 (2016) (exempting

certain offers not exceeding $5 million).
178. Final Rules, supra note 132, at 83494.
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Accounting Developments 2016

In 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued three
more Accounting Standards Updates (“ASUs”) to its Accounting Standards Cod-

ification (“ASC” or the “Codification”) than it issued in 2015. Of the twenty ASUs

that it issued, the FASB issued three standards that relate to major standard-
setting projects initially begun as a part of the convergence efforts with the In-

ternational Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), five standards that clarified

the revenue recognition standard adopted in 2014,1 including one standard
that represented technical corrections or improvements in narrow areas and

one that conformed the Codification to actions taken by the staff of the U.S. Se-

curities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), one standard that is applicable to
not-for-profit entities (“NFPs”), and five additional standards, including three

standards that simplified existing standards and one containing technical correc-

tions and improvements. In addition, the FASB issued five standards that were
consensuses of the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (the “EITF”) and one

that was a consensus of the FASB’s Private Company Council (the “PCC”). In

2015, the FASB issued seventeen ASUs, including four that were consensuses
of the FASB’s EITF and two that conform the Codification to revised guidance

issued by the staff of the SEC.

The EITF, which was formed in 1984, seeks to address emerging accounting
issues before divergent approaches to those issues become widespread.2 The

FASB must approve all consensuses reached by the EITF. The EITF is chaired

by the FASB’s technical director and is made up of members from the auditing
profession and from the preparer- and financial-statement-user communities and

observers from the FASB, the SEC, the Financial Reporting Executive Committee

of the American Institute of Certified Accountants (the “AICPA”), and the IASB.
The PCC was formed by the Board of Trustees of the Financial Accounting

Foundation (the “FAF”) in May 2012 to determine whether exceptions or mod-

ifications to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), including
ASUs being considered by the FASB, are appropriate to address the needs of

users of private company financial statements.3 The FASB must endorse all con-

1. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (May 2014) [hereinafter ASU 2014-09].
2. See About the EITF, FIN. ACCT. STANDARDS BD., http://www.fasb.org/eitf/about_eitf.shtml (last vis-

ited Mar. 8, 2017).
3. See Press Release, Fin. Accounting Found., Financial Accounting Foundation Establishes New

Council to Improve Standard Setting for Private Companies (May 23, 2012), http://www.
accountingfoundation.org/cs/ContentServer?site=Foundation&c=FAFContent_C&pagename=
Foundation%2FFAFContent_C%2FFAFNewsPage&cid=1176160049265.
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sensuses reached by the PCC. Similar to the EITF, the members of the PCC come
from the auditing profession and the preparer- and financial-statement-user

communities and have significant experience auditing, preparing, and using pri-

vate company financial statements. An FASB member is a liaison between the
PCC and FASB, and the FASB provides technical and administrative staff to

work with the PCC. In November 2015, the FAF announced revisions to the op-

erating procedures of the PCC as a result of a three-year review of the PCC and
its operations.4

The following is a discussion about (a) the ASUs that the FASB issued in 2016

that were not originated by the EITF or the PCC, (b) the ASUs that were origi-
nated by the EITF in 2016, and (c) the ASU that was originated by the PCC

in 2016.

A. ASUS ORIGINATED BY THE FASB

The FASB issued two standards in 2016 that represented the completion of

major standard-setting projects: the leases project, which resulted in partial con-
vergence with the International Financial Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) issued by

the IASB,5 and the credit losses project, in which the FASB took a different ap-

proach to a forward-looking model for credit losses than the one adopted by the
IASB.6 Another project that began as one of the potential major convergence

projects resulted in the issuance of a standard by the FASB that makes targeted

improvements to the accounting standards for financial instruments based upon
the FASB’s evaluation of the potential costs and benefits of seeking complete

convergence with the IASB’s financial instruments standard.7 As noted in the in-

troduction, the FASB issued five ASUs in 2016 related to ASU 2014-09, the rev-
enue recognition standard adopted in 2014. The remaining six standards include

one standard that is applicable to NFPs, one standard that addressed a particular

issue with the consolidation guidance, one standard containing technical correc-
tions and improvements, and three standards issued in connection with the

FASB’s so-called Simplification Initiative.8 Projects are selected for the Simplifi-

4. See Press Release, Fin. Accounting Found., FAF Updates Procedures of Private Company Council
to Increase Effectiveness, Improve Communication (Nov. 18, 2015), http://www.accountingfoundation.
org/cs/ContentServer?c=FAFContent_C&pagename=Foundation%2FFAFContent_C%2FFAF
NewsPage&cid=1176167613219.
5. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842)

7 (Feb. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-02].
6. See Russell G. Golden, Chairman, Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Remarks to AICPA Confer-

ence on Current SEC & PCAOB Developments 7 (Dec. 6, 2016), http://www.fasb.org/cs/
ContentServer?c=Document_C&pagename=FASB%2FDocument_C%2FDocumentPage&cid=
1176168661135.
7. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-01, Financial

Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Fi-
nancial Liabilities 5 (Jan. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-01].
8. See Simplifying Accounting Standards, FIN. ACCT. STANDARDS BOARD, http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/

Page/SectionPage&cid=1176164432530 (last visited Mar. 8, 2017). FASB Chair Russell Golden dis-
cussed this initiative in December 2013 at the AICPA’s annual conference on SEC and Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) developments. Russell G. Golden, Chairman, Fin. Ac-
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cation Initiative if they have a narrow scope, are expected to involve limited
changes to GAAP, and are expected to be completed quickly.9

1. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS—RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, which is intended to enhance

“the reporting model for financial instruments to provide users of financial state-

ments with more decision-useful information.”10 Although the FASB and the
IASB had begun a joint project to improve and converge the accounting for fi-

nancial instruments,11 the FASB decided to avoid the cost and complexity of
converging the accounting model for financial instruments with IFRS and, in-

stead, to make targeted improvements to GAAP that also resulted in a few

areas of convergence with IFRS.12

The targeted improvements set forth in ASU 2016-01 are the following:

• with respect to investments in equity securities, except for equity invest-

ments accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that
result in consolidation of the investee and other ownership interests,

such as partnerships, unincorporated joint ventures, and limited liability

companies:

� require the recognition of such equity investments at fair value, with

changes in fair value recognized in net income;

� require enhanced disclosures about those investments; and

� with respect to equity investments that do not have readily determin-
able fair values, measure such investments upon the occurrence of an

observable price change or upon identification of an impairment and

provide for a simplified and less costly qualitative impairment assess-
ment at each reporting period in lieu of the complex other-than-

counting Standards Bd., Remarks to AICPA Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments
(Dec. 10, 2013), http://www.fasb.org/cs/ContentServer?c=Document_C&pagename=FASB%
2FDocument_C%2FDocumentPage&cid=1176163675405. He noted that the FASB planned to ad-
dress two types of accounting standards, those that are difficult and costly for preparers to implement
because they are dense or complicated or may permit alternative accounting treatments and those that
are clear but require a “lengthy, convoluted—and expensive” process or include “[o]verly prescriptive
disclosure requirements.” Id. at 5–6.

9. Tom Linsmeier & Mary Tokar, FASB/IASB Update—Part II, Presentation to American Ac-
counting Association 55 (Aug. 9, 2015), http://www.fasb.org/cs/ContentServer?c=Document_
C&pagename=FASB%2FDocument_C%2FDocumentPage&cid=1176166262871.
10. ASU 2016-01, supra note 7, at 1.
11. Id.
12. Id. at 5. The converged areas relate to the requirement that most equity investments be mea-

sured at fair value; the separate presentation in “other comprehensive income the portion of the total
change in the fair value of a liability that results from a change in the instrument-specific credit risk
for financial liabilities that the entity has elected to measure at fair value in accordance with the fair
value option”; and the evaluation of the need for a valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset related
to available-for-sale securities. Id.
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temporary impairment analysis required under the superseded guid-
ance;13

• with respect to disclosures about financial instruments:

� reduce preparers’ costs through:

• the elimination of the requirement for entities that are not public

business entities14 to disclose the fair value of financial instruments
measured at amortized cost; and

• the elimination of the requirement for public business entities to dis-
close the method and significant assumptions used to estimate the

fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial instruments

measured at amortized cost on the balance sheet; and

� require public business entities that recognize financial instruments at

amortized cost on the balance sheet to measure the fair value of financial

instruments for disclosure purposes using the exit price notion, rather
than measuring fair value by using either the entry price method or

the exit price notion, thereby increasing comparability of disclosures;15

• with respect to a liability that an entity measures at fair value in accordance

with the fair value option, require the separate presentation in other com-

prehensive income of the portion of the total change in the fair value of the
liability resulting from a change in the instrument-specific credit risk;16

• with respect to the presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities

on the balance sheet or the accompanying notes to the financial statements,
require separate presentation by measurement category and form of finan-

cial asset;17 and

• with respect to a deferred tax asset related to available-for-sale securities,

evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on such deferred tax asset in

combination with the entity’s other deferred tax assets.18

13. Id. at 1–3.
14. ASU 2016-01 “adds the Master Glossary term Public Business Entity to Subtopic 825-10.” Id. at

10. “Public business entity” means an entity that (a) files financial statements with, including as a part
of another entity’s filing, (or furnishes to) the SEC or another regulatory agency under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or rules or regulations promulgated thereunder, or a foreign or
domestic regulatory agency in preparation for the sale or issuance of securities that are not subject to
contractual restrictions on transfer; (b) has issued, or is a conduit bond obligor for, securities that are
traded, listed, or quoted on an exchange or an over-the-counter market; or (c) is subject to legal or
contractual provisions that require the issuer to prepare and make public on a periodic basis GAAP
financial statements. Id. at 10–11; see Master Glossary, Accounting Standards Codification, FIN. ACCT.
STANDARDS BOARD, https://asc.fasb.org/glossary&letter=P (last visited Feb. 9, 2017) (password
protected).
15. ASU 2016-01, supra note 7, at 2–3.
16. Id. at 2.
17. Id.
18. Id.
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ASU 2016-01 is effective for public business entities for financial statements
for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after De-

cember 15, 2017.19 Other entities must adopt ASU 2016-01 for financial state-

ments for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and for interim peri-
ods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, although they may

adopt the amendments as of fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, in-

cluding interim periods within those fiscal years, and are not required to comply
with certain existing disclosure guidance.20 Early adoption by public business

entities is permitted at the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption only, except

that entities may early adopt the provision relating to the separate presentation in
other comprehensive income of the instrument-specific credit risk portion of the

fair value change for financial liabilities recognized under the fair value option in

financial statements.21 Upon adoption, entities must recognize a cumulative-
effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of

adoption.22 Entities must apply amendments related to equity securities without

readily determinable fair values, including the disclosure requirements, prospec-
tively to equity investments that exist as of the date ASU 2016-01 was adopted.23

2. LEASES

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, which is intended to in-

crease transparency and comparability by requiring the recognition of all lease

assets and all lease liabilities on the balance sheet, including those classified as
operating leases, and the disclosure of key information about leasing arrange-

ments.24 Although ASU 2016-02 is the product of an effort by the FASB and

the IASB to improve financial reporting for leases,25 the standards adopted by
the FASB and the IASB are not fully converged in their treatment of operating

leases or certain other areas.26

The principal provisions in ASU 2016-02 are the following:

• Scope of ASU 2016-02:

� ASU 2016-02 defines a lease as “a contract, or a part of a contract, that
conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant, or

equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in exchange for

consideration,” and states that “[c]ontrol over the use of the identified
asset means that the customer has both (1) the right to obtain substan-

19. Id. at 4.
20. Id.
21. Id. at 223.
22. Id. at 4.
23. Id.
24. ASU 2016-02, supra note 5, at 1.
25. Id.
26. Id. at 7–9.
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tially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset and (2) the
right to direct the use of the asset.”27

� ASU 2016-02 provides that an entity must identify any nonlease com-

ponents of a contract (such as maintenance services or other activities
that transfer a good or service to the customer) and account for them in

accordance with other applicable guidance, unless the lessee makes an

accounting policy election by class of underlying asset not to separate
lease components from nonlease components.28

� ASU 2016-02 does not apply to leases of intangible assets; leases to ex-
plore for or use minerals, oil, natural gas, and similar nonregenerative

resources; leases of biological assets; leases of inventory; and leases of

assets under construction.29

• Lessee Accounting:

� Balance Sheet Treatment:

• A lessee must recognize each of its leases in the statement of financial

position as a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and

a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset
for the lease term.30

• A lessee with a lease having a term of twelve months or less need not
comply with this requirement.31

• The measurement of the lease asset and the lease liability should
include:

� payments to be made in optional periods only if the lessee is rea-

sonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease or not to
exercise an option to terminate the lease; and

� payments to exercise a right to purchase the underlying asset only if
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that purchase option.32

• The “reasonably certain” standard is intended to be applied in the same

way as the “reasonably assured” threshold in the prior lease guidance.33

• Variable lease payments should be excluded in measuring lease as-

sets and lease liabilities, consistent with prior lease guidance.34

27. Id. at 5.
28. Id.
29. Id. at 13.
30. Id. at 3.
31. Id.
32. Id.
33. Id.
34. Id.
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� Income Statement Treatment: The recognition, measurement, and pre-
sentation of expenses and cash flows arising from the lease, similar to

prior GAAP,35 are different for the two types of leases: finance leases,

which are similar to capital leases,36 and operating leases.

• Finance Leases:

� Interest on the lease liability must be recognized separately from
amortization of the right-of-use asset in the statement of compre-

hensive income; and

� Repayments of the principal portion of the lease liability must be
classified within financing activities and payments of interest on

the lease liability and variable lease payments must be recognized

within operating activities in the statement of cash flows.37

• Operating Leases:

� Lease expense, which will reflect both the interest expense and the
amortization of the right-of-use asset, will be allocated over the

lease term generally on a straight-line basis; and

� All cash payments will be classified within operating activities in

the statement of cash flows.38

• If the lessee elects not to recognize a lease asset and lease liability re-
lated to a lease having a term of less than twelve months, the lessee

must recognize lease expense generally on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.39

• Lessor Accounting: The lessor’s accounting treatment is similar to prior

GAAP, which requires the recognition of operating lease income gener-
ally on a straight-line basis over the lease term.40

• Leveraged Leases: ASU 2016-02 eliminates the accounting model for

those leveraged leases that commence after the effective date of the new
guidance.41

• Sale and Leaseback Transactions:

� Unless the seller is permitted under Topic 606 to account for the trans-

fer of the asset as a sale, the buyer cannot account for the transaction as

a purchase, and any consideration paid by the buyer is treated as a fi-

35. Id.
36. Id. at 2.
37. Id. at 3.
38. Id. at 3–4.
39. Id. at 3.
40. Id. at 4.
41. Id.
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nancing transaction by both the seller-lessee and the buyer-lessor.42 It
is likely that many sale and leaseback transactions involving real estate

will qualify for sale and leaseback accounting under ASU 2016-02 that

would not have qualified under the prior lease accounting guidance.43

� If a leaseback is classified as a finance/sales-type lease, no sale has

occurred.44

� The right of a seller-lessee to repurchase the asset from the buyer-

lessor precludes sale accounting by the seller “unless (1) the asset is

nonspecialized and (2) the exercise price of the option is the fair
value of the asset on the date the option is exercised.”45

• Disclosures: Certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures are required

in order to provide users of financial statements of lessees and lessors in-
formation relevant to the assessment of the amount, timing, and uncer-

tainty of cash flows arising from the leases.46

ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fis-

cal years, beginning after December 15, 2018, for public business entities; NFPs

that have issued, or are conduit bond obligors for, securities that are traded,
listed, or quoted on an exchange or an over-the-counter market; and employee

benefit plans that file financial statements with the SEC.47 All other entities must

comply with ASU 2016-02 beginning with financial statements for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within fiscal

years beginning after December 15, 2020.48 Early adoption is permitted for all

entities.49 Upon adoption, lessors and lessees must recognize and measure leases
at the beginning of the earliest period presented using a modified retrospective

approach.50 ASU 2016-02 provides various practical expedients to assist entities

with the transition to the new lease guidance.51 In addition, there is transition
guidance for sale and leaseback transactions, build-to-suit leases, leveraged

leases, and amounts previously recognized in accordance with the business com-

binations guidance for leases.52

42. Id. at 5–6.
43. Id. at 6.
44. Id.
45. Id.
46. Id.
47. Id. at 7.
48. Id.
49. Id.
50. Id. at 6.
51. Id.
52. Id. at 7.
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3. INVESTMENTS—EQUITY METHOD AND JOINT VENTURES

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-07,53 which is intended to sim-

plify the accounting for equity investments that meet the requirements for the

use of the equity method of accounting as a result of an increase in the investor’s
level of ownership interest or degree of influence.54 The FASB issued this update

as part of its Simplification Initiative.55 Stakeholders informed the FASB that the

requirement to retroactively adopt the equity method of accounting was costly
and time consuming when the equity method was required as a result of an in-

crease in the level of ownership interest or the degree of influence.56 In addition,

stakeholders asserted that the retroactive presentation did not “provide a clear
benefit to users of financial statements.”57

ASU 2016-07 eliminates the requirement that an investment that qualifies for

use of the equity method because of an increase in the investor’s level of own-
ership interest or degree of influence must be reflected in the investor’s financial

statements as if the equity method had been in effect during all previous periods

during which the investor held the investment.58 Instead of the retroactive ad-
justment, ASU 2016-07 requires the investor to add to its current basis for

the investment the cost of acquiring the additional interest in the investee that

requires the investor to use the equity method of accounting.59 In addition,
ASU 2016-07 requires an investor with an available-for-sale equity security to

“recognize through earnings the unrealized gain or loss in accumulated other

comprehensive income” related to that equity security at the time that the invest-
ment becomes qualified for the equity method.60

ASU 2016-07 is effective for all entities for financial statements issued for fis-

cal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after Decem-
ber 15, 2016.61 Early adoption is permitted.62 Upon adoption, the amendments

must be applied prospectively to increase the level of ownership interest or de-

gree of influence that results in the adoption of the equity method.63

53. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-07, Investments—
Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323): Simplifying the Transition to the Equity Method
of Accounting (Mar. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-07].
54. Id. at 1.
55. Id.
56. Id.
57. Id.
58. Id.
59. Id.
60. Id. at 1–2.
61. Id. at 2.
62. Id.
63. Id.
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4. REPORTING REVENUE GROSS VERSUS NET

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08,64 which provides guidance as

to how an entity should determine whether its involvement in the provision by

another party of goods or services to the entity’s customer results in its being a
principal or an agent.65 The FASB issued this guidance to reduce the potential

for diversity and the cost and complexity of applying the revenue recognition

guidance based on discussions by the FASB-IASB Joint Transition Resource
Group for Revenue Recognition (the “TRG”), a group that the FASB and the

IASB formed to address implementation issues arising from their converged stan-

dard on the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers.66 The TRG’s
discussions identified for the FASB various implementation issues relating to the

identification of whether an entity is a principal, because the nature of its promise

is to provide a good or service to the customer, or an agent, because it simply ar-
ranges for a good or service to be provided to the customer by the other party.67

ASU 2016-08 provides guidance to assist an entity in determining, for pur-

poses of its implementation of the revenue recognition standard in Topic 606,
whether the entity is a principal because it controls the specified good or service

before that good or service is provided to the customer.68 When an entity is a

principal, it must recognize revenue in the gross amount of consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the specified good or service

once it satisfies the performance obligation.69 In contrast, an entity that is an

agent recognizes revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified good or service

to be provided to the customer once it satisfies the performance obligation.70

ASU 2016-08 is effective at the same time as ASU 2014-09, as amended by
ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral

of the Effective Date.71 As stated in Accounting Developments 2015, the revenue

recognition requirements in ASU 2014-09 are effective for public business enti-
ties, certain NFPs, and certain employee benefit plans for their annual reporting

period beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods

within that reporting period.72 All other entities must comply with the update
beginning with financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15,

64. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-08, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal Versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue
Gross Versus Net) (Mar. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-08].
65. Id. at 2.
66. Id. at 1; see Press Release, Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., FASB and IASB Announce the For-

mation of the Joint Transition Resource Group for Revenue Recognition (June 3, 2014), http://www.
fasb.org/jsp/FASB/FASBContent_C/NewsPage&cid=1176164099926.
67. ASU 2016-08, supra note 64, at 1.
68. Id. at 2.
69. Id.
70. Id.
71. Id. at 4.
72. 71 BUS. LAW. 985, 999–1000 (2016); see Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards

Update No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective
Date 1 (Aug. 2015) [hereinafter ASU 2015-14].
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2018, and interim reporting periods within fiscal years beginning after Decem-
ber 15, 2019.73

5. EMPLOYEE SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ACCOUNTING

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09,74 which simplifies the ac-
counting for share-based awards in several areas, including income tax conse-

quences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and classification

in the statement of cash flows.75 The FASB identified these areas for simplifica-
tion through “outreach for the Simplification Initiative, pre-agenda research re-

lated for the [PCC], and the August 2014 Post-Implementation Review Report on
FASB No. 123 (R2004), Share-Based Payment.”76 The following amendments are

applicable to public business entities:

• Accounting for Income Taxes: The update changes the treatment of ex-
cess tax benefits and tax deficiencies (including tax benefits of dividends

on share-based awards) to require that they be recognized as income tax

expense or benefit in the income statement, regardless of whether an ex-
cess tax benefit reduces taxes in the current period.77 In addition, the up-

date states that tax effects are discrete items in the reporting period in

which the deduction occurs, which means that entities should not con-
sider them in determining the annual estimated effective tax rate.78 Cur-

rent GAAP requires the recognition of excess tax benefits, which are the

excess of the deduction for a share-based payment award for tax pur-
poses over the compensation cost for financial reporting purposes, in ad-

ditional paid-in capital when the deduction reduces taxes payable, and

the recognition of tax deficiencies either as an offset to accumulated ex-
cess tax benefits, if any, or in the income statement.79

• Classification of Excess Tax Benefits on the Statement of Cash Flows: The
update provides that excess tax benefits should be classified along with

other income tax cash flows as an operating activity, in contrast to current

GAAP, which requires that excess tax benefits be presented separately
from other income tax cash flows and classified as a financing activity.80

• Forfeitures: The update permits an entity to make an entity-wide ac-

counting policy election to either estimate the number of awards that
are expected to vest, as required by the current GAAP, or account for for-

73. ASU 2016-08, supra note 64, at 4; ASU 2015-14, supra note 72, at 1.
74. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, Compensation—

Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting
(Mar. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-09].
75. Id. at 1.
76. Id.
77. Id. at 1–2.
78. Id. at 112.
79. Id.
80. Id. at 2.
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policy from fair value to intrinsic value if it concludes that the change is a
preferable method.91

ASU 2016-09 is effective for public business entities for financial statements

issued for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning
after December 15, 2016.92 ASU 2016-09 is effective for other entities beginning

with financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and

for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018.93

Early adoption is permitted provided the entity adopts all of the amendments

in the same period.94 If an entity early adopts the standard in an interim period,

it must reflect any adjustments as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes
the interim period.95 The update requires a modified retrospective transition

method to be used for adoption of the amendments related to the timing of

when excess tax benefits are recognized, minimum statutory withholding re-
quirements, forfeitures, and intrinsic value.96 It requires retrospective applica-

tion of the amendments related to the presentation of employee taxes paid

upon the withholding of shares. The amendments requiring recognition of ex-
cess tax benefits and tax deficiencies in the income statement and the practical

expedient for estimating the expected term should be applied prospectively.97

Finally, the update permits an entity to elect to use either a prospective transition
method or a retrospective transition method in adopting the amendments related

to the presentation of excess tax benefits on the statement of cash flows.98

6. REVENUE RECOGNITION: IDENTIFYING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

AND LICENSING

In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10,99 which amends Topic 606 to
clarify the identification of performance obligations and provide guidance related

to licensing activities.100 The FASB and the IASB determined to address the areas

of performance obligations and licensing as a result of the discussions of the TRG
and the Boards’ research related to these topics.101 ASU 2016-10 does not change

the core principle announced in ASU 2014-09, which is “that an entity should rec-

ognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in

91. Id. at 3, 118.
92. Id. at 3.
93. Id.
94. Id.
95. Id.
96. Id.
97. Id.
98. Id.
99. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-10, Revenue from

Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing (Apr.
2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-10].
100. Id. at 2.
101. Id. at 1–2, 59.
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an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services.”102

With respect to identifying performance obligations, ASU 2016-10 provides

guidance in two areas: the identification of goods or services in a contract,
which is the first step in identifying performance obligations, and the determi-

nation whether promised goods and services are distinct.103 To reduce the

cost and complexity of identifying the goods or services in a contract, ASU
2016-10 provides the following guidance:

• Promised goods or services that are immaterial in the context of the con-

tract with a customer need not be assessed as to whether such goods or
services are performance obligations; and

• An entity may make an accounting policy election to treat “shipping and
handling activities that occur after the customer has obtained control of a

good as an activity to fulfill the promise to transfer the good rather than

as an additional promised service.”104

ASU 2014-09 provides two criteria for evaluating whether the identified

promised goods and services are distinct.105 One is “that a customer can benefit

from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that
are readily available to the customer.”106 The other one is that the promises are

separately identifiable,107 which ASU 2016-10 clarifies as follows:

• It emphasizes that, in determining whether promises to transfer goods or

services are separately identifiable, “an entity determines whether the na-

ture of its promise in the contract is to transfer each of the goods or ser-
vices or whether the promise is to transfer a combined item (or items) to

which the promised goods and/or services are inputs”; and

• It revises the existing guidance to align with the above focus.108

The other topics covered by ASU 2016-10 relate to licensing arrangements.

ASU 2016-10 provides guidance on the determination as to whether an entity’s
promise to grant a license to a customer represents the customer’s right to use

the entity’s intellectual property, which requires recognition of revenue at a

point in time because the promise is satisfied at a point in time, or the right
to access the intellectual property, which requires recognition of revenue over

a period of time because the promise is satisfied over time.109 In this regard,

ASU 2016-10 provides the following guidance:

102. Id. at 2.
103. Id. at 3.
104. Id.
105. Id.
106. Id. at 66.
107. Id.
108. Id. at 3.
109. Id. at 1–2.
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• When a license to intellectual property “has significant standalone func-
tionality (for example, the ability to process a transaction, perform a func-

tion or task, or be played or aired)” and the entity is not expected to do

anything that will change the functionality of the intellectual property,
the promise is a right to use the intellectual property at the point in

time when the license is granted.110 Examples of “functional intellectual

property” are software, biological compounds or drug formulas, and
completed media content, such as films, television shows, or music.111

• A promise to license symbolic intellectual property includes the promise

of the entity to support or maintain the intellectual property during the
license period and therefore requires recognition of revenue over that li-

cense period. Symbolic intellectual property does not have significant

standalone functionality and includes brands, team or trade names,
logos, and franchise rights.112

In addition, ASU 2016-10 provides the following guidance on when to recog-
nize revenue for a sales-based or usage-based royalty promised in exchange for a

license of intellectual property:

• A sales-based or a usage-based royalty should be accounted for as a
whole and not split into a portion that is not subject to the recognition

guidance applicable to those types of royalties.113

• “The guidance on sales-based and usage-based royalties applies to a sales-

based or usage-based royalty whenever the predominant item to which

the royalty relates is a license of intellectual property.”114

Finally, ASU 2016-10 provides guidance on the determination as to whether

contractual provisions relate to the transfer of control of additional goods or ser-

vices. ASU 2016-10 states that “contractual provisions that, explicitly or implic-
itly, define the attributes of a single promised license (for example, restrictions of

time, geographical region, or use) . . . define a customer’s right to use or right to

access an entity’s intellectual property and, therefore, do not define whether the
entity satisfies its performance obligation at a point in time or over time and do

not create an obligation for the entity to transfer any additional rights to use or

access its intellectual property.”115

ASU 2016-10 is effective at the same time as ASU 2014-09, as amended by ASU

2015-14, that is, it is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those

fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017, for public business entities, cer-
tain NFPs, and employee benefit plans that file or furnish financial statements with

110. Id. at 3–4.
111. Id. at 4.
112. Id.
113. Id.
114. Id.
115. Id. at 5.

Accounting Developments 2016 803



the SEC.116 All other entities must comply with the update beginning with finan-
cial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim re-

porting periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019.117

7. RESCISSION OF SEC GUIDANCE

In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-11,118 which rescinds certain SEC

guidance previously included in the Codification following an SEC staff an-

nouncement at a March 3, 2016, EITF meeting that the SEC staff was rescinding
the guidance effective for registrants upon their adoption of the new revenue rec-

ognition requirements in Topic 606.119 The paragraphs in the Codification that
contain the SEC guidance that the SEC staff is rescinding are the following:

• ASC 605-20-S99-2, SEC Observer Comment: Revenue and Expense Rec-

ognition for Freight Services in Process;

• ASC 605-45-S99-1, SEC Observer Comment: Accounting for Shipping

and Handling Fees and Costs;

• ASC 605-50-S99-1, SEC Observer Comment: Accounting for Consider-

ation Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including Reseller of the Ven-

dor’s Products); and

• ASC 932-10-S99-5, SEC Observer Comment: Accounting for Gas-Balancing

Arrangements.120

8. NARROW-SCOPE IMPROVEMENTS AND PRACTICAL EXPEDIENTS TO

REVENUE RECOGNITION REQUIREMENTS

In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12,121 which includes amendments
that clarify a few narrow aspects of the new revenue recognition requirements in

Topic 606 and adds some practical expedients to the revenue recognition guid-

ance.122 The FASB believes that the amendments will reduce the amount of
judgment necessary for an entity to comply with Topic 606 and thereby reduce

diversity and the cost and the complexity of the implementation of the revenue

recognition standard.123

116. Id.; see ASU 2015-14, supra note 72, at 1.
117. ASU 2016-10, supra note 99, at 5; ASU 2015-14, supra note 72, at 1.
118. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-11, Revenue Recogni-

tion (Topic 605) and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Rescission of SEC Guidance Because of Ac-
counting Standards Updates 2014-09 and 2014-16 Pursuant to Staff Announcements at the March 3,
2016 EITF Meeting (May 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-11].
119. Id. at 1.
120. Id. at 1–5.
121. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-12, Revenue from

Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients
(May 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-12].
122. Id. at 6.
123. Id.
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The update includes the following:

• Clarification that Step 1 of the new revenue recognition model, which re-

quires assessment as to whether collection of the consideration is probable,

is intended to require an entity to determine that the contract is legal and
represents a substantive transaction “on the basis of whether a customer

has the ability and intention to pay the promised consideration”;124

• Clarification when revenue may be recognized for a contract that fails

Step 1;125

• Clarification that an entity can make an accounting policy election to ex-
clude amounts collected from customers for all sales and other similar

taxes from the transaction price;126

• Clarification that the measurement date for noncash consideration is the

contract inception date;127

• Provision of a practical expedient with respect to the evaluation of con-
tract modifications that occurred before the beginning of the earliest pe-

riod presented in accordance with Topic 606 to permit an entity to reflect

the aggregate effect of all modifications of contracts that occur before the
beginning of the earliest period presented when identifying the satisfied

and unsatisfied performance obligations, determining the transaction

price, and allocating the transaction price to the satisfied and unsatisfied
performance obligations;128

• Clarification that a contract is considered to be completed for purposes of
the practical expedients related to completed contracts when all or substan-

tially all of the revenue under the contract was recognized prior to the date

of initial application of the new revenue recognition requirements;129

• Clarification that an entity may apply the modified retrospective transi-

tion method to either all contracts or only to contracts that are not com-

pleted contracts;130 and

• Clarification that an entity that retrospectively applies the revenue recog-

nition requirements is required to disclose the effect of the changes on
any prior periods retrospectively adjusted but is not required to disclose

current-period financial information in the period of adoption.131

124. Id. at 2.
125. Id. at 2–3.
126. Id. at 3.
127. Id. at 4.
128. Id.
129. Id. at 5.
130. Id.
131. Id.
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ASU 2016-10 is effective at the same time as ASU 2014-09, as amended by ASU
2015-14,132 that is, it is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those

fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017, for public business entities, cer-

tain NFPs, and employee benefit plans that file or furnish financial statements with
the SEC. All other entities must comply with the update beginning with financial

statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim report-

ing periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019.

9. CREDIT LOSSES

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13,133 which is intended “to provide
financial statement users with more decision-useful information about expected

credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit

held by a reporting entity at each reporting date.”134 ASU 2016-13 seeks to ac-
complish this by changing the methodology that financial institutions and other

organizations use to consider whether they should recognize credit losses on

loans and other financial instruments they hold.135 These other financial instru-
ments include loans, debt securities, trade receivables, net investments in leases,

off-balance-sheet credit exposures, reinsurance receivables, and any other finan-

cial assets that have the contractual right to receive cash, unless specifically ex-
cluded from the scope of the ASU.136 Critics of the current methodology, the in-

curred loss impairment methodology, claim that it resulted in the delayed

recognition of losses during the financial crisis,137 because an entity would
only recognize a loss that was probable based on past events and current condi-

tions.138 The new methodology requires the recognition of expected credit losses

based on the consideration of “a broader range of reasonable and supportable
information,”139 including forecasted information.140

ASU 2016-13 will apply to all entities, not just financial institutions. It does

not require a specific credit loss methodology, but will require entities to exercise
judgment as to the appropriate information about past events, such as historical

experience, current events, and reasonable and supportable forecasts, and the es-

timation methods to use to determine expected credit losses.141 In addition, the
new methodology will not require entities to develop forecasts for the entire con-

tractual life of long-term financial assets.142 Instead, an entity will be able to use

132. Id. at 6; ASU 2015-14, supra note 72, at 1.
133. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-13, Financial

Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments
(June 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-13].
134. Id. at 1.
135. Id.
136. Id. at 1–2.
137. Id. at 1.
138. Id. at 1, 3.
139. Id. at 1.
140. Id. at 3.
141. Id. at 2.
142. Id. at 3.
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historical loss information for that period ending at the contractual end of the
term of the financial asset for which the entity is not able to develop a reasonable

and supportable forecast.143

ASU 2016-13 also provides that the allowance for credit losses for financial
assets that are purchased and have “a more-than-insignificant amount of credit

deterioration since origination” will be determined in a manner similar to the

way other financial assets are evaluated.144 The initial allowance upon the pur-
chase, however, will be added to the purchase price of the financial assets.145

Thereafter, the credit loss will be reported as a change in the allowance for credit

losses, which will permit entities to reverse credit loss estimates through current
income when appropriate.146 Interest income will be reported on these assets at

the effective interest rate, without regard to the acquirer’s assessment of the

credit loss of the assets upon acquisition.147

With respect to available-for-sale debt securities, the measurement of a credit

loss will remain the same as under current GAAP, but the credit loss will be re-

corded as an allowance rather than as a write-down.148 In addition, the amount
of the allowance on an available-for-sale debt security will not exceed the

amount that the amortized cost exceeds the fair value.149

ASU 2016-13 also provides that the allowance for credit losses for purchased
available-for-sale securities with “a more-than-insignificant amount of credit de-

terioration since origination” will be determined in a manner similar to the way

other available-for-sale debt securities are evaluated.150 Similar to other financial
assets, the initial credit losses will be added to the purchase price and changes in

the initial allowance for credit losses will be reported as credit loss expense.151

Interest income on these purchased available-for-sale securities will be reported
at the effective interest rate, without regard to the acquirer’s assessment of the

credit loss of the securities upon acquisition.152

Finally, ASU 2016-13 revised the disclosure requirements related to financial
assets to facilitate users’ understanding of the credit risk inherent in the portfolio

and how management monitors the credit quality of the portfolio, management’s

estimate of expected credit losses, and changes in the estimate of credit losses
during a period.153 In addition to retaining the requirement that an entity pro-

vide information either by portfolio segments or by classes of financial assets,

ASU 2016-13 requires public business entities to provide information by vintage

143. Id. at 3–4.
144. Id. at 2.
145. Id.
146. Id.
147. Id.
148. Id. at 4.
149. Id. at 3.
150. Id.
151. Id.
152. Id.
153. Id. at 275.
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year of origination and to determine whether to provide disaggregated informa-
tion by risk characteristics.154

ASU 2016-13 is effective for public business entities that file with the SEC for

financial statements for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2019.155 It is effective for all public business

entities that do not file with the SEC for financial statements for fiscal years, and

for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15,
2020.156 It is effective for all other entities for financial statements for fiscal

years beginning after December 15, 2020, and for interim periods within fiscal

years beginning after December 15, 2021.157 The update must be applied
through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning

of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective, which is called a

modified-retrospective approach.158 For certain assets, including debt securities
for which an entity has recognized an other-than-temporary impairment, the en-

tity must use a prospective transition approach.159 Entities are permitted to early

adopt the standard for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2018.160

10. REPORTING BY NOT-FOR-PROFIT ENTITIES

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14,161 which makes several im-

provements to the current requirements for financial statements of NFPs in the

first phase of a two-part project.162 This action was taken in response to requests
by stakeholders that the FASB improve the usefulness of financial statements of

NFPs.

The improvements adopted in ASU 2016-14 include the following:

• A reduction in the complexity of the balance sheet and the statement of

activities by eliminating the need for assets to be presented separately de-

pending upon whether they are subject to permanent or temporary restric-
tions;163 instead, the balance sheet will present the amounts of, and the

statement of activities will present the changes in, net assets with donor re-

strictions, net assets without donor restrictions, and total net assets;164

154. Id. at 275–78.
155. Id. at 5.
156. Id.
157. Id.
158. Id.
159. Id.
160. Id.
161. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-14, Not-for-Profit

Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities (Aug. 2016)
[hereinafter ASU 2016-14].
162. Id. at 1.
163. Id. at 4.
164. Id. at 2.
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• The elimination of the requirement that any presentation of the statement
of cash flows using the direct method would have to be accompanied by

reconciliation to the indirect method;165

• The requirement of enhanced disclosures about the following:

� Board decisions that impose limits on the use of resources that are not

restricted by donors;

� The composition of net assets subject to donor restrictions and how

the restrictions affect the use of resources;

� The management of liquid resources and financial assets available to

meet cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the bal-

ance sheet date;

� Expenses by natural classification as well as functional classification;

� Methods used to allocate costs to programs and support functions; and

� Underwater endowment funds;166

• The requirement to report investment returns net of external and direct
internal investment expenses and the elimination of the requirement to

disclose the amount of netted expenses;167 and

• The requirement to report expirations of restrictions on gifts of cash or
other assets to be used to acquire or construct a long-lived asset,

which permits the reclassification of amounts from net assets with

donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions, using the
placed-in-service approach rather than the current approach of releasing

the donor-imposed restrictions over the estimated useful life of the ac-

quired asset.168

The FASB believes that ASU 2016-14 will provide benefits to users of financial

statements of NFPs, as well as NFPs themselves, by improving the usefulness of
the financial statements and reducing the complexity and costs of preparing such

financial statements.169

ASU 2016-14 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years begin-
ning after December 15, 2017, and for interim reporting periods within fiscal

years beginning after December 15, 2018.170 Early adoption is permitted pro-

vided that the initial adoption is either for an annual fiscal period or for the
first interim period within the fiscal year of adoption.171 The amendments

165. Id.
166. Id. at 2–3.
167. Id. at 3.
168. Id.
169. Id. at 3–4.
170. Id. at 5.
171. Id.
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must be applied on a retrospective basis in the year that the amendments are first
applied, except that certain disclosures about expenses and about liquidity and

the availability of resources do not need to be provided for periods prior to the

period of adoption.172

11. INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF INTRA-ENTITY TRANSFERS OF

ASSETS OTHER THAN INVENTORY

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16,173 which is intended to im-
prove and eliminate some diversity in the accounting for the tax consequences

of intra-entity transfers of assets other than inventory.174 The FASB issued this up-
date as a part of its Simplification Initiative.175 Stakeholders had advised the FASB

that the current accounting requirements to defer the recognition of current and

deferred income taxes for an intra-entity asset transfer until the asset has been
sold to an outside party had resulted in diversity in practice, was a source of com-

plexity, and was not economically consistent with the transaction, in part, because

of the deferral of income taxes payable or paid, among other deferrals.176

ASU 2016-16 provides that an entity should recognize the income tax conse-

quences of an intra-entity transfer of assets other than inventory at the time the

transfer occurs.177 The requirement applies to all transfers of assets other than in-
ventory, including intellectual property and property, plant, and equipment.178

Inventory is excluded from the accounting change because of comments about

the anticipated benefits and costs of extending the change to inventory.179

ASU 2016-16 is effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and interim

reporting periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017.180

All other entities must comply with ASU 2016-16 beginning with their fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within fiscal years begin-

ning after December 15, 2019.181 Early adoption is permitted as of an annual re-

porting period for which neither the annual or interim financial statements have
been issued.182 The amendments must be applied on a modified retrospective

basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of

the beginning of the period in which the amendments are adopted.183

172. Id.
173. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-16, Income Taxes

(Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other than Inventory (Oct. 2016) [hereinafter ASU
2016-16].
174. Id. at 1.
175. Id.
176. Id.
177. Id.
178. Id.
179. Id.
180. Id. at 2.
181. Id.
182. Id.
183. Id.
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12. CONSOLIDATION WHEN INTERESTS ARE HELD THROUGH RELATED

PARTIES THAT ARE UNDER COMMON CONTROL

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-17,184 which amends the cur-

rent guidance185 that a single decision maker of a variable interest entity
(“VIE”) must attribute entirely to itself the interests in the VIE held by related

parties under common control in determining whether it is the primary benefi-

ciary of the VIE and therefore required to consolidate the VIE.186 The FASB is-
sued this update to respond to various stakeholders who noted that the current

consolidation guidance has resulted in financial information that was not useful

to users of the information because it has required consolidation even when the
entity itself had little to no variable interests in the VIE.187 The FASB believes

that ASU 2016-17 improves GAAP because it will require a single decision

maker to focus on the economics to which it is exposed before potentially eval-
uating what party is most closely associated with the VIE.188

ASU 2016-17 affects any entity that must evaluate whether to consolidate a

VIE when interests in the VIE are also held by related parties that are under com-
mon control with the entity.189 ASU 2016-17 changes the way that an entity that

has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly affect the

VIE’s economic performance, a single decision maker under the first character-
istic of a primary beneficiary of a VIE under GAAP, evaluates the second char-

acteristic of a primary beneficiary, which is the obligation to absorb losses of

the VIE, or the right to receive benefits from the VIE, that could potentially be
significant to the VIE.190 ASU 2016-17 provides that a single decision maker

must include the VIE interests of related parties that are under common control

with the decision maker on a proportionate basis, which is the way it considers
interests held through other related parties.191 If the single decision maker con-

cludes that it does not meet the second characteristic of a primary beneficiary, it

must determine whether, as a group, it and one or more of its related parties that
are under common control have the characteristics of a primary beneficiary.192 If

such a group has the characteristics of a primary beneficiary, then the party

184. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-17, Consolidation
(Topic 810): Interests Held Through Related Parties that Are Under Common Control (Oct. 2016)
[hereinafter ASU 2016-17].
185. See Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-02, Consolida-

tion (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis (Feb. 2015) [hereinafter ASU 2015-02]
(providing that the ASU is effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and for interim periods
within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015, and for all other entities for fiscal years be-
ginning after December 15, 2016, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after Decem-
ber 15, 2017).
186. ASU 2016-17, supra note 184, at 1.
187. Id.
188. Id. at 2.
189. Id.
190. Id. at 2, 5.
191. Id. at 2.
192. Id.
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within the related party group that is most closely associated with the VIE is the
primary beneficiary.193

ASU 2016-17 is effective for public business entities for financial statements for

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods
within those fiscal years.194 All other entities must comply with ASU 2016-17 be-

ginning with their financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15,

2016, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2017.195 Earlier application is permitted.196 If an entity adopts the amendments

in an interim period, it must reflect any adjustments as of the beginning of the fiscal

year that includes that interim period.197 Entities that have already adopted ASU
2015-02 must apply the amendments retrospectively to all relevant prior periods

beginning with the fiscal year in which the amendments in ASU 2015-02 initially

were applied.198 In addition, there are special provisions for entities that are not
public business entities that have not yet adopted ASU 2015-02.199

13. TECHNICAL CORRECTIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS

In December 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-19,200 which amends various

sections of the Codification to clarify, correct errors, or make minor improve-

ments in those sections.201 This update was issued under the FASB’s perpetual
agenda project to make technical corrections and improvements to the Codifica-

tion as it and stakeholders identify items requiring such technical corrections

and improvements.202 The FASB believes that the amendments in ASU 2016-
19 improve the understandability, and simplify the implementation, of particular

standards by eliminating inconsistencies and providing clarifications.203 The

amendments include items that stakeholders report to the FASB through the
Codification’s feedback mechanism.204

The amendments described in ASU 2016-19, which cover a wide range of top-

ics in the Codification, are intended to achieve the following objectives:

• Resolve differences between the interpretation of an original pronounce-

ment and the language included in the Codification resulting from slight

wording changes or omitted language;

193. Id.
194. Id.
195. Id. at 2–3.
196. Id. at 3.
197. Id.
198. Id.
199. Id.
200. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-19, Technical Cor-

rections and Improvements (Dec. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-19].
201. Id. at 3.
202. Id. at 1.
203. Id. at 3.
204. Id. at 1.
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• Clarify language because of potential misapplication of the standard;

• Streamline or simplify language to improve the usefulness and under-

standability of the Codification; and

• Improve the guidance without having a significant effect on practice or

creating a significant administrative cost to most entities.205

The amendments include the following changes to the guidance on insurance
and troubled debt restructurings:

• Insurance-Related Amendments: ASU 2016-19 conforms certain termi-
nology. Rather than using the terms “participating contract,” “participat-

ing insurance contract,” and “participating insurance” interchangeably,

the amendments result in the consistent use of the term “participating in-
surance.”206 In addition, rather than using the terms “reinsurance receiv-

able” and “reinsurance recoverable” interchangeably, the amendments

result in the consistent use of the term “reinsurance recoverable.”207

• Troubled Debt Restructuring: ASU 2016-19 eliminates the term “debt”

from the Master Glossary because the definition is not applicable to topics

other than debt restructuring situations.208

Most of the amendments in ASU 2016-19 were effective upon issuance of the

ASU and do not require transition guidance.209 The amendments to the follow-
ing topics have specific transition guidance or effective dates210:

• Subtopic 350-40, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software,

which adds a reference to guidance to use when accounting for internal-use
software licensed from third parties and is effective at the same time as ASU

2015-05, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Sub-

topic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement, although early adoption is permitted;

• Subtopic 360-20, Property, Plant, and Equipment—Real Estate Sales,
which adds the EITF’s guidance that the full accrual method can be

used to recognize profit on loans insured under the Federal Housing Ad-

ministration and the Veterans Administration, even if they are not fully
insured by those programs and must be applied prospectively;

• Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, which clarifies the difference be-

tween a valuation approach and a valuation technique, requires certain

205. Id. at 2.
206. Id. at 2–3.
207. Id. at 3.
208. Id.
209. Id.
210. Id. at 3–4.
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disclosure about changes in either or both of those methodologies and
must be applied prospectively;

• Subtopic 405-40, Liabilities—Obligations Resulting from Joint and Sev-

eral Liability Arrangements, which clarifies that an obligation can only
be considered fixed at a reporting date if the amount of the obligation

in its entirety is fixed and must be applied prospectively;

• Subtopic 860-20, Transfers and Servicing—Sales of Financial Assets,

which aligns certain provisions by clarifying the considerations relevant

to the determination whether a transferor once again has effective control
over transferred financial assets and must be applied prospectively; and

• Subtopic 860-50, Transfers and Servicing—Servicing Assets and Liabili-

ties, which adds guidance from the original pronouncement relating to
the accounting for the sale of servicing rights when the transferor retains

the loans and must be applied prospectively.211

14. TECHNICAL CORRECTIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS RELATING TO

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

In December 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-20,212 which amends various

sections of the revenue recognition guidance.213 The amendments are consistent

with the amendments that the FASB addresses through its ongoing project to
make technical corrections and improvements to the Codification.214 The

FASB considered these amendments separately from the other technical correc-

tions and improvements it adopted in December 2016 in order to focus attention
on these amendments.215

The amendments address the following thirteen narrow aspects of the FASB’s

guidance in ASU 2014-09:

• Loan Guarantee Fees;

• Contract Costs—Impairment Testing;

• Contract Costs—Interaction of Impairment Testing with Guidance in

Other Topics;

• Provisions for Losses on Construction-Type and Production-Type

Contracts;

• Scope of Topic 606;

211. Id. at 4–5.
212. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-20, Technical Cor-

rections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Dec. 2016)
[hereinafter ASU 2016-20].
213. Id. at 1.
214. Id.
215. Id.
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• Disclosure of Remaining Performance Obligations;

• Disclosure of Prior-Period Performance Obligations;

• Contract Modifications Example;

• Contract Asset versus Receivable;

• Refund Liability;

• Advertising Costs;

• Fixed-Odds Wagering Contracts in the Casino Industry; and

• Cost Capitalization for Advisors to Private Funds and Public Funds.216

ASU 2016-20 is effective at the same time as ASU 2014-09, as amended by
ASU 2015-14.217

B. ASUS ORIGINATED BY THE EITF

The EITF addresses financial reporting issues within the existing framework of
the Codification in order to reduce diversity in the interpretation or implemen-

tation of existing GAAP. The five ASUs issued in response to EITF consensuses

address diversity resulting from the absence of clear applicable guidance.

1. RECOGNITION OF UNREDEEMED PREPAID STORED-VALUE PRODUCTS

In March 2016, in response to an EITF consensus, the FASB issued ASU 2016-
04,218 which provides “guidance for the derecognition of prepaid stored-value prod-

uct liabilities.”219 The guidance applies to entities that offer certain prepaid stored-

value products such as prepaid gift cards issued on a specific payment network and
redeemable at network-accepting merchant locations, prepaid telecommunication

cards, and traveler’s checks. The guidance is intended to eliminate the diversity in

practice related to the derecognition of the portion of the liability for a prepaid
stored-value product that a holder does not ultimately redeem either for cash or

for the purchase of goods and/or services, which is referred to as breakage.220

Prepaid stored-value products are products in physical and digital forms with
stored monetary values that enable the holder of the product to redeem the

product for goods or services and sometimes for cash.221 Some entities treat

the sale of a prepaid stored-value product that is redeemable at a third-party
merchant as a financial liability and some entities treat the liability as a nonfinan-

216. Id. at 2–6.
217. Id. at 7; see ASU 2015-14, supra note 72, at 1.
218. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-04, Liabilities—Ex-

tinguishments of Liabilities (Subtopic 405-20): Recognition of Breakage for Certain Prepaid Stored-
Value Products (Mar. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-04].
219. Id. at 2.
220. Id. at 1, 4.
221. Id. at 1.

Accounting Developments 2016 815



cial liability.222 In both cases, entities treat the liability as extinguished when the
product holder redeems the prepaid stored-value product.223 Entities, however,

differ in their treatment of the liability when the prepaid stored-value product is

not used, either completely or partially.224 The new revenue recognition guid-
ance in Topic 606 addresses only breakage for products treated as nonfinancial

liabilities.225

ASU 2016-04 is intended to eliminate the diversity in treatment of breakage by
providing that breakage should be accounted for in a manner consistent with the

breakage guidance in Topic 606,226 that is, an entity should derecognize the lia-

bility based upon the extent to which it expects that the product will not be re-
deemed.227 If an entity does not expect to be entitled to breakage, it must derecog-

nize the amount related to breakage when it is remote that the holder of the

product will redeem the product.228 In addition, ASU 2016-04 requires disclosure
of the entity’s methodology for recognizing breakage and the significant judgments

in applying the methodology.229 The guidance does not apply to a prepaid stored-

value product that is subject to unclaimed property laws or is attached to a segre-
gated bank account like a customer depository account.230

ASU 2016-04 is effective for financial statements of public business entities,

certain NFPs, and certain employee benefit plans for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years.231 All

other entities must comply with ASU 2016-04 beginning with their financial

statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim pe-
riods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019.232 Early adoption

is permitted.233 The amendments in the update may be applied either using a

modified retrospective transition method by means of a cumulative-effect adjust-
ment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which the guid-

ance is effective or prospectively to each period presented.234

2. DERIVATIVE CONTRACT NOVATIONS

In March 2016, in response to an EITF consensus, the FASB issued ASU

2016-05,235 which provides that a change in the counterparty to a derivative in-

222. Id.
223. Id.
224. Id.
225. Id. at 1–2.
226. Id. at 2.
227. Id. at 4.
228. Id. at 4–5.
229. Id. at 5.
230. Id. at 4.
231. Id. at 2.
232. Id.
233. Id.
234. Id.
235. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-05, Derivatives and

Hedging (Topic 815): Effect of Derivative Contract Novations on Existing Hedge Accounting Rela-
tionships (Mar. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-05].
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strument that has been designated as a hedging instrument under Topic 815
does not, in and of itself, require dedesignation of the derivative instrument as

a hedge and discontinuation of hedge accounting, provided that all other

hedge accounting criteria continue to be met.236 ASU 2016-05 addresses diver-
sity in practice resulting from questions as to whether a change in the counter-

party to a derivative instrument, i.e., a novation of the derivative instrument, is

considered to be a “termination” of the original derivative instrument and whether
the counterparty was a “critical term” of the hedging relationship, in the context of

the guidance in Topic 815.237

ASU 2016-05 is effective for public business entities for financial statements
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within

those fiscal years.238 It is effective for all other entities for financial statements for

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018.239 Early adoption is permitted.240

The amendments in the update may be applied either on a prospective or a mod-

ified retrospective basis using the guidance in the update.241

3. CONTINGENT PUT AND CALL OPTIONS IN DEBT INSTRUMENTS

In March 2016, in response to an EITF consensus, the FASB issued ASU
2016-06,242 which is intended to resolve diversity in the accounting for contin-

gent put and call options in debt instruments.243 This diversity arose because of

different interpretations of guidance that the Derivatives Implementation Group
(“DIG”)244 issued in response to questions as to when contingent call (put) op-

tions that can accelerate the payment of principal on debt instruments must be

accounted for separately as derivatives.245 The DIG guidance provides a four-
step decision sequence to determine whether the call (put) options were clearly

and closely related to the debt instrument and therefore would not be accounted

for separately as a derivative.246 Two approaches to the implementation of the
guidance had arisen, one that relied solely on the four-step decision sequence

and the other that required an entity to determine also whether the event that

triggers the exercisability of the option is indexed only to interest rates or credit

236. Id. at 1.
237. Id. at 2.
238. Id.
239. Id.
240. Id. at 3.
241. Id. at 2–3.
242. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-06, Derivatives and

Hedging (Topic 815): Contingent Put and Call Options in Debt Instruments (Mar. 2016) [hereinafter
ASU 2016-06].
243. Id. at 1.
244. The FASB created the DIG in 1998 to assist it with the identification and resolution of issues

relating to the implementation of the FASB’s Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities. See FAS 133 Derivatives Implementation, FIN. ACCT. STANDARDS BOARD,
http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Page/SectionPage&cid=1218220137106 (last visited Mar. 8, 2017).
245. ASU 2016-06, supra note 242, at 1.
246. Id.
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risk.247 The two approaches may result in different conclusions as to whether
the call (put) options should be accounted for separately as derivatives.248

ASU 2016-06 provides that only the four-step decision sequence should be

used to determine whether the call (put) options should be accounted for sepa-
rately as a derivative.249 This change eliminates diversity in practice.250

ASU 2016-06 is effective for public business entities for financial statements

for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within
those fiscal years.251 It is effective for all other entities for financial statements for

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods for fiscal

years beginning after December 15, 2018.252 Early adoption is permitted, in-
cluding in an interim period provided any adjustments are reflected as of the be-

ginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period in which the update is

adopted.253 The update must be applied on a modified retrospective basis to ex-
isting debt instruments as of the beginning of the fiscal year for which the

amendments are effective.254 ASU 2016-06 includes specific guidance for imple-

mentation of the update when application of the update requires a different
treatment of the call (put) option than that used by the entity prior to adoption

of the update.255

4. CLASSIFICATION OF CERTAIN CASH RECEIPTS AND CASH PAYMENTS IN

THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In August 2016, in response to an EITF consensus, the FASB issued ASU
2016-15,256 which is intended to reduce diversity in practice in how certain

cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement

of cash flows.257 Current GAAP is either unclear or does not address the classi-
fication and presentation issues addressed in ASU 2016-15.258

ASU 2016-15 provides guidance with respect to the treatment in the statement

of cash flows in the following eight areas:

• Debt Prepayment or Debt Extinguishment Costs: Classify as cash out-

flows for financing activities;259

247. Id.
248. Id.
249. Id. at 2.
250. Id.
251. Id.
252. Id.
253. Id. at 3.
254. Id. at 2.
255. Id. at 2–3.
256. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-15, Statement of

Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (Aug. 2016)
[hereinafter ASU 2016-15].
257. Id. at 1.
258. Id. at 5.
259. Id. at 1.
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• Settlement of Zero-Coupon Debt Instruments or other Debt Instruments
with Coupon Interest Rates that are not Insignificant in relation to the Ef-

fective Interest Rate of the Borrowing: Classify the portion of the cash pay-

ment attributable to the accreted interest related to the debt discount as
cash outflows for operating activities, and the portion of the cash payment

attributable to the principal as cash outflows for financing activities;260

• Contingent Consideration Payments made after a Business Combination:

� Payments made soon after the Acquisition Date: Classify as cash out-

flows for investing activities; and

� Payments not made soon after the Acquisition Date: Classify cash pay-

ments up to the amount of the contingent consideration liability recog-

nized at the acquisition date as cash outflows for financing activities,
and classify any excess cash payments as cash outflows for operating

activities;261

• Proceeds from the Settlement of Insurance Claims: Classify cash proceeds

from the settlement of insurance claims on the basis of the related insur-

ance coverage or the nature of each loss included in the settlement;262

• Proceeds from the Settlement of Corporate-Owned Life Insurance Policies,

including Bank-Owned Life Insurance Policies: Classify cash proceeds re-

ceived from the settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies as
cash inflows from investing activities; cash payments for premiums on

corporate-owned policies may be classified as cash outflows for investing,

operating, or a combination of investing and operating activities;263

• Distributions Received from Equity Method Investees: Classify the distri-

butions based on the election by the entity when it applies the equity
method as to one of two approaches described in the update;264

• Beneficial Interests in Securitization Transactions: Classify cash receipts

from payments on a transferor’s beneficial interests in securitized trade
receivables as cash inflows from investing activities;265 and

• Cash Receipts and Payments that have Aspects of more than One Class of
Cash Flows: Absent other specific guidance, determine each separately

identifiable source or use within the cash receipts and cash payments

on the basis of the nature of the underlying cash flows and then classify
each separately identifiable source or use on the basis of its nature in fi-

nancing, investing, or operating activities; to the extent that such separa-

260. Id.
261. Id. at 2.
262. Id.
263. Id.
264. Id. at 3–4.
265. Id. at 4.
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tion is not possible, classify the cash receipt or payment based on the ac-
tivity that is likely to be the predominant source or use of cash flows for

the item.266

ASU 2016-15 is effective for public business entities for financial statements
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within

those fiscal years.267 It is effective for all other entities for financial statements for

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2019.268 Early adoption is permitted, in-

cluding in an interim period provided any adjustments are reflected as of the be-

ginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period in which the update is
adopted.269 The update must be applied on a retrospective transition method to

each period presented, although prospective application as of the earliest date

practicable is permitted if retrospective application is impracticable for some
of the issues.270

5. RESTRICTED CASH IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In November 2016, in response to an EITF consensus, the FASB issued ASU

2016-18,271 which is intended to address diversity in the classification and pre-

sentation of changes in restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents on the
statement of cash flows.272 This diversity exists because current GAAP does

not include specific guidance on the classification and presentation in the state-

ment of cash flows when there are transfers between cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents; when there are direct cash receipts

into restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents; or when there are direct cash

payments made from restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents.273

ASU 2016-18 requires a statement of cash flows to explain the change during

the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described

as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents.274 This means that amounts gen-
erally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be in-

cluded with cash and cash equivalents in the reconciliation of the beginning-of-

period and end-of-period total amounts.275 That is, the reconciliation should
start with “[n]et increase [(decrease)] in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted

cash” for the period, which is added to (subtracted from) “[c]ash, cash equiva-

lents and restricted cash at beginning of year” to obtain “[c]ash, cash equivalents,

266. Id. at 4–5.
267. Id. at 5.
268. Id.
269. Id.
270. Id.
271. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-18, Statement of

Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash (Nov. 2016) [hereinafter ASU 2016-18].
272. Id. at 1.
273. Id. at 1–2.
274. Id. at 1.
275. Id.
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and restricted cash at end of year.”276 In addition, a reconciliation of cash, cash
equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the balance sheet to the total of

such amounts in the statement of cash flows must be presented.277

ASU 2016-18 is effective for public business entities for financial statements
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within

those fiscal years.278 It is effective for all other entities for financial statements for

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2019.279 Early adoption is permitted, in-

cluding in an interim period provided any adjustments are reflected as of the be-

ginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period in which the update is
adopted.280 The update must be applied on a retrospective transition method to

each period presented.281

C. ASU ORIGINATED BY THE PCC

In evaluating issues, the PCC focuses on user-relevance and cost-benefit con-

siderations for private companies given the framework for its deliberations artic-
ulated in the Private Company Decision-Making Framework: A Guide for Evaluating

Financial Accounting and Reporting for Private Companies.282 The Master Glossary

in the Codification defines a private company as an entity other than a public
business entity, an NFP, or an employee benefit plan within the scope of Topics

960 through 965 on plan accounting.283

PREFERABILITY, TRANSITION GUIDANCE, AND EFFECTIVE DATE

In March 2016, in response to a PCC consensus, the FASB issued ASU

2016-03,284 which eliminates the requirement for a preferability assessment upon

the initial election of certain accounting alternatives, extends transition guidance
in certain updates indefinitely, and makes the guidance in certain updates effective

immediately.285 The update addresses concerns raised by private company stake-

holders.286

276. Id. at 6.
277. Id. at 9.
278. Id. at 2.
279. Id.
280. Id.
281. Id.
282. FIN. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BD. & PRIVATE CO. COUNCIL, PRIVATE COMPANY DECISION-MAKING

FRAMEWORK: A GUIDE FOR EVALUATING FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING FOR PRIVATE COMPANIES 2,
4–5 (Dec. 23, 2013), http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Document_C/DocumentPage?cid=
1176163703583&acceptedDisclaimer=true.
283. Id. at 2–3; see Master Glossary, Accounting Standards Codification, FIN. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

BD., https://asc.fasb.org/glossary&letter=P (last visited Feb. 9, 2017) (password protected).
284. Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-03, Intangibles—

Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), Business Combinations (Topic 805), Consolidation (Topic 810),
Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Effective Date and Transition Guidance (Mar. 2016) [herein-
after ASU 2016-03].
285. Id. at 1.
286. Id.
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Specifically, ASU 2016-03 provides the following guidance to private companies:

• Preferability Assessment: No preferability assessment is required when a

private company initially elects the accounting alternatives relating to:

� Amortizing goodwill over a period of ten years, or less;287

� Simplified hedge accounting for interest rate swaps;288

� Not consolidating a lessor entity that is a VIE when the arrangement

between the private company lessee and the lessor entity meets certain

conditions;289 and

� Not recognizing on a basis separate from goodwill certain customer-

related intangible assets and noncompetition agreements.290

• Transition Guidance: Extends transition guidance indefinitely with re-

spect to the election to adopt the accounting alternatives identified

above, but does not change how the transition is applied for the account-
ing alternatives related to lessor entities that are VIEs and the inclusion of

certain customer intangible assets and noncompetition provisions in

goodwill.291

• Effective Dates: ASU 2016-03 removes the effective dates from each of ASU

2014-02, ASU 2014-03, ASU 2014-07, and ASU 2014-18 immediately.292

The amendments in ASU 2016-03 were effective immediately.

287. Id. at 1, 7; see Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-02,
Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Accounting for Goodwill (Mar. 2014) [hereinafter
ASU 2014-02].
288. ASU 2016-03, supra note 284, at 1, 12–13; see Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting

Standards Update No. 2014-03, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Accounting for Certain Re-
ceive-Variable, Pay-Fixed Interest Rate Swaps—Simplified Hedge Accounting Approach (Jan.
2014) [hereinafter ASU 2014-03].
289. ASU 2016-03, supra note 284, at 1, 11; see Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting Stan-

dards Update No. 2014-07, Consolidation (Topic 810): Applying Variable Interest Entities Guidance
to Common Control Leasing Arrangements (Mar. 2014) [hereinafter ASU 2014-07].
290. ASU 2016-03, supra note 284, at 1, 8–9; see Fin. Accounting Standards Bd., Accounting

Standards Update No. 2014-18, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Identifiable In-
tangible Assets in a Business Combination (Dec. 2014) [hereinafter ASU 2014-18].
291. ASU 2016-03, supra note 284, at 1–2.
292. Id. at 1.
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Caselaw Developments

OVERVIEW

Supreme Court. Rejecting the Second Circuit’s view that, to be liable as a tip-

per under Rule 10b-5 insider trading law, the tipper must receive a tangible ben-
efit, the Supreme Court held it suffices that the tipper benefited by making a gift

of the material nonpublic information to a trading relative or friend.1

SEC Rulemaking. The D.C. Circuit upheld Regulation A+ against a challenge
brought by state securities regulators and ruled, in a separate case, that the dis-

trict court—not the court of appeals—had jurisdiction to hear a challenge to the

credit retention rule issued by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) jointly with federal banking regulators.2

Challenges to SEC Administrative Law Judges. The Second, Fourth, and

Eleventh Circuits last year joined other courts of appeals in ruling that the fed-
eral courts do not have jurisdiction to hear actions that challenge the constitu-

tionality of enforcement proceedings before SEC Administrative Law Judges

(“ALJs”) when those actions are brought prior to completion of the administra-
tive proceedings.3 In two cases in which respondents raised such challenges in

petitions for court of appeals review after final SEC decisions, the D.C. Circuit

rejected the argument that the manner in which the ALJs are selected violates
the Appointments Clause of the U.S. Constitution, while the Tenth Circuit

held that ALJ appointments violate that clause.4

SOX Officer Certifications and Clawback. The Ninth Circuit held that the SEC
can sue a chief executive officer (“CEO”) or chief financial officer (“CFO”) for mak-

ing false statements in the certification that section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

requires and, in the same decision, held that the clawback in section 304 of that
statute can apply to a CEO or CFO who does not personally commit the miscon-

duct that leads to a restatement triggering compensation recovery.5

Criminal Cases. The Second Circuit rejected a claim that, for the government
to prove a “willful violation” of the Investment Advisers Act in order to obtain

a criminal conviction for transgressing that law, the government must prove

that the defendant intended to harm the victims.6 That same court affirmed a

1. See infra notes 24–49 and accompanying text.
2. See infra notes 52–81 (Regulation A+) and 82–93 (credit risk retention) and accompanying text.
3. See infra notes 100–22 and accompanying text.
4. See infra notes 123–53 and accompanying text.
5. See infra notes 154–70 and accompanying text.
6. See infra notes 173–85 and accompanying text.
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$19.7 billion forfeiture order against a challenge that it was an excessive fine pro-
hibited by the Eighth Amendment.7

Scienter and Scienter Pleading. The Fifth Circuit found that plaintiffs—who

alleged fraudulent failure to disclose that the issuer’s work practices were re-
sponsible for labor problems at manufacturing facilities in China—had not sat-

isfied the special requirement for pleading scienter in private Rule 10b-5 ac-

tions.8 The Tenth Circuit affirmed dismissal for the same reason in an action
in which the plaintiffs alleged misrepresentations and omissions relating to

cost overruns and delays affecting forward-loss charges.9 The First Circuit

found scienter pleading wanting where plaintiffs alleged that a drug manufac-
turer fraudulently misreported the results of clinical trials as showing an absolute

positive effect instead of a relative positive effect.10 But the Ninth Circuit held

that a complaint adequately pled scienter where the defendant drug maker
said that all animal studies had been concluded and carcinogenicity studies

showed a drug to be safe, when the company was conducting tests on rats

and data from those tests raised questions because cancer appeared in the rats.11

Reliance. The Eighth Circuit found that defendants had successfully rebutted

the fraud-on-the-market reliance presumption as to a conference call (including

actionable statements that earnings were on track to exceed expectations) that
occurred after a press release earlier in the day (including inactionable upwardly

revised earnings guidance).12 The Second Circuit held that a district court had

not clearly erred in concluding, after a bench trial, that the plaintiff would
have purchased the relevant security even if the plaintiff had known the undis-

closed facts.13

Loss Causation. In a case where the plaintiffs alleged failure to disclose loss of
business from a significant customer, the Eighth Circuit found no further action-

able loss by a stock drop following announcement of an officer resignation after

(i) the issuer had earlier (a) disclosed unexpectedly low revenue and (b) attrib-
uted the poor showing to reduction in work from the important customer and

(ii) the stock price had declined by 50 percent after that earlier disclosure.14

The Ninth Circuit ruled that announcement of a government investigation can
constitute a corrective disclosure where the price of the relevant security

drops after that announcement, market participants attribute the investigation

to the circumstances that lie behind the asserted fraud, and no additional
stock decline follows later disclosures providing the truth behind the fraud.15

The Sixth Circuit recognized materialization of the risk as an acceptable theory

7. See infra notes 186–94 and accompanying text.
8. See infra notes 201–25 and accompanying text.
9. See infra notes 226–64 and accompanying text.
10. See infra notes 265–91 and accompanying text.
11. See infra notes 292–327 and accompanying text.
12. See infra notes 338–57 and accompanying text.
13. See infra notes 358–70 and accompanying text.
14. See infra notes 379–92 and accompanying text.
15. See infra notes 393–407 and accompanying text.
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of loss causation,16 and the Second Circuit affirmed a verdict after the plaintiffs
proved loss from undisclosed risk, even though that risk never fully matured.17

Rule 10b-5 Liability for Opinions. The Second Circuit applied the analytical

framework from the Supreme Court’s Omnicare decision to a Rule 10b-5 case
based on allegedly fraudulent opinions about the prospects for FDA approval

of a drug.18

Primary Rule 10b-5 Liability After Janus. The Second Circuit found that
plaintiffs had raised a triable issue that one of the participants in a joint venture

exercised ultimate control over statements by other participants because, in part,

one of the defendant’s managers testified that the defendant participant had to
approve media responses by other participants.19 The Ninth Circuit held that

an attorney involved in a business deal could be sued under Rule 10b-5 for state-

ments that he made himself, and suggested, but did not hold, that an attorney
might be liable for such statements even if the attorney prefaced them with an

introduction that the attorney was simply relaying his client’s understanding.20

Addressing a case in which a plaintiff alleged that an issuer had hired promoters
to tout its stock, but had not itself disclosed that the promoters were paid for

their articles, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed dismissal because the complaint al-

leged no facts to show that the issuer had ultimate authority or control over
the promoters’ copy.21 While all of those cases concerned Rule 10b-5(b), the

Eighth Circuit held that plaintiffs had pled scheme liability under Rule 10b-5(a)

and (c) where the corporate defendant allegedly paid physicians to omit adverse
effects from reports on clinical trials.22

Rule 10b-5 Liability for Statements During a Merger. The Third Circuit af-

firmed dismissal of a Rule 10b-5 action based in part on alleged misstatements
and omissions in (i) a merger agreement, (ii) a proxy statement for a shareholder

vote related to the merger, and (iii) a 10-Q and two 8-Ks filed by the target

company.23

SUPREME COURT

In 1983, the Supreme Court held in SEC v. Dirks that, in order for a tipper to
violate a duty cognizable under Rule 10b-5 insider trading theory, the tipper had

to “receive[] a direct or indirect personal benefit from the disclosure, such as a

pecuniary gain or a reputational benefit that will translate into future earnings,”
adding that courts had to “focus on objective criteria” to determine whether such

a benefit was had.24 The Court further stated that “objective facts and circum-

16. See infra notes 408–17 and accompanying text.
17. See infra notes 418–45 and accompanying text.
18. See infra notes 446–77 and accompanying text.
19. See infra notes 485–506 and accompanying text.
20. See infra notes 507–30 and accompanying text.
21. See infra notes 531–42 and accompanying text.
22. See infra notes 543–58 and accompanying text.
23. See infra notes 559–614 and accompanying text.
24. Dirks v. SEC, 463 U.S. 646, 663 (1983).
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needed a favor’”—the investment banker offered his brother money but, at his
brother’s request, provided inside information instead.35

The Supreme Court affirmed the Ninth Circuit’s decision.36 The Court disap-

proved Newman to the extent that it “held that the tipper must also receive some-
thing of a ‘pecuniary or similarly valuable nature’ in exchange for a gift to family

or friends,” finding “this requirement [to be] inconsistent with Dirks.”37 The

Court reasoned that Dirks “ma[d]e[] clear that a tipper breaches a fiduciary
duty by making a gift of confidential information to [a] ‘trading relative,’” finding

“that rule . . . sufficient to resolve the case at hand.”38 Here, the investment

banker, “by disclosing confidential information as a gift to his brother with
the expectation that he would trade on it, . . . breached his duty of trust and

confidence to [the investment bank at which he worked] and its clients—a

duty [the defendant] acquired, and breached himself, by trading on the informa-
tion with full knowledge that it had been improperly disclosed.”39 Dirks was based

on the classical theory, while the Ninth Circuit characterized Salman as based on

the misappropriation theory and the government said that both theories applied
in Salman.40

Significance and analysis.While the Court explicitly disapproved Newman, it

did not completely resolve the issue that Newman raised. The Court pointed to
Dirks’s rationale “that when a tipper gives inside information to ‘a trading relative

or friend,’ the jury can infer that the tipper meant to provide the equivalent of a

cash gift . . . [and] the tipper benefits personally because giving a gift of trading
information is the same thing as trading by the tipper followed by a gift of the

proceeds.”41 And there was evidence that, at least one occasion, the investment

banker had, in fact, provided information as a substitute for money.42 The Court
acknowledged—in response to the defendant’s argument that the Dirks standard

was “unconstitutionally vague as applied to this case”—that “in some factual

circumstances assessing liability for gift-giving will be difficult,” but found “no
need . . . to address those difficult cases today, because this case involves ‘precisely

the gift of confidential information to a trading relative that Dirks envisioned.’”43

All of this suggests that there are instances in which a tipper, transferring infor-
mation to another without receiving money or other tangible consideration, is either

not making a “gift” within the meaning of Dirks or making a gift of a sort that does

not provide the tipper with the requisite benefit to constitute a breach of fiduciary
duty. Perhaps this occurs under circumstances where the government cannot show

that the inside information constitutes a substitute for money in the sense that Dirks

35. Id. at 424 (alteration in original).
36. Id. at 429.
37. Id. at 428 (quoting United States v. Newman, 773 F.3d 438, 452 (2d Cir. 2014)).
38. Id. at 427.
39. Id. at 428.
40. Id. at 425 n.2.
41. Id. at 428.
42. See supra text accompanying note 35.
43. Id. at 428–29 (quoting United States v. Salman, 792 F.3d 1087, 1092 (9th Cir. 2015) (quoting

Dirks v. SEC, 463 U.S. 646, 664 (1983)) (internal quotation marks omitted)).
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describes. This is more than an idle law school class question, because the govern-
ment might—and in one case last year did—argue that providing information to

golfing companions could provide the requisite benefit because doing so would im-

press his companions and make him “one of the guys.”44 It seems very unlikely that
the defendant there was balancing two alternatives—trading on the information and

distributing thousands or tens of thousands of dollars to his golfing buddies versus

providing them inside information for a psychological benefit.
Salman is also silent on the long-standing question of whether the personal ben-

efit element is needed in both principle Rule 10b-5 insider trading theories. Those

two theories are: (i) the “classical theory, which applies ‘when a corporate insider’
or his tippee ‘trades in the securities of [the insider’s] corporation on the basis of

material, nonpublic information,’ [and thereby] breaches a duty to, and takes ad-

vantage of, the shareholders of his corporation,” and (ii) “the misappropriation
theory,” which applies when anyone—insider or not—“‘misappropriates confi-

dential information for securities trading purposes, in breach of a duty owed to

the source of the information’ such as an employer or client [and thereby]
breaches a duty to, and defrauds, the source of the information.”45 The Court con-

cluded that it “need not resolve the question” of which theory governed in Salman

because “[t]he parties do not dispute that Dirks’s personal-benefit analysis applies
in both classical and misappropriation cases,” leaving the Court free to “proceed

on the assumption that it does.”46

It is not at all clear, however, that the government will not in some other case
dispute, or that courts will in all other cases hold, that personal benefit is nec-

essary in a misappropriation tipping case. The Dirks analysis on which the Court

in Salman depends begins with the notion that “a tippee’s liability for trading on
inside information hinges on whether the tipper breached a fiduciary duty by dis-

closing the information” and that “[a] tipper breaches such a fiduciary duty . . .

when the tipper discloses the inside information for a personal benefit.”47 But
the SEC adopted Rule 10b5-2 to define, nonexclusively, the relationships of con-

fidence or trust sufficient for the misappropriation theory in a way that does not

44. In United States v. McPhail, 831 F.3d 1, 3, 11 (1st Cir. 2016), the First Circuit affirmed the
conviction of McPhail, who tipped golfing friends by disclosing to them material nonpublic informa-
tion about American Superconductor Corporation (“AMSC”), which McPhail obtained from a friend
who was an executive at AMSC.
The First Circuit found no legal error in the district court’s instruction that the jury could find the

requisite personal benefit to McPhail as a tipper “if you find that he gave the information to others
with the intention of benefiting himself in some tangible or intangible way or as a gift with the
goal of maintaining or furthering a personal friendship.” Id. at 9–11 (quoting jury instruction).
The “cumulative weight of . . . evidence was surely sufficient to show that McPhail anticipated a per-
sonal benefit in return for the tips”—both by what the government called “concrete benefits” (“a free
dinner, wine, and a massage parlor visit from the beneficiaries” and a supposed $3,000 kickback
from a friend who had made almost $200,000 on a tip) and “more subtle” benefits (with “the gov-
ernment argu[ing] [that] McPhail stood to benefit from [his golfing] group’s general gratitude for his
largesse. Jurors were told: ‘It makes him one of the guys, they’re all kind of impressed.’”). Id. at 11.
45. Salman, 137 S. Ct. at 425 n.2 (quoting United States v. O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 651–52

(1997)).
46. Id.
47. Id. at 423 (emphasis added).
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require a fiduciary relationship.48 Nothing in the text of Rule 10b5-2 requires
that a personal benefit be sought or obtained by a tipper in order to run afoul

of insider trading proscriptions by breaching a duty imposed by any of the rela-

tionships of trust or confidence that the rule defines.49

COURTS OF APPEALS

SEC Rulemaking. The D.C. Circuit rejected a challenge by state securities

regulators to the new Regulation A+.50 That same court of appeals ruled that
it did not have jurisdiction to hear a challenge to the credit retention rule jointly

issued by the SEC and banking agencies, remanding that case to district court to
begin there.51

Regulation A+. Section 18(a)(1)(A) of the Securities Act provides that no state

law requiring registration or qualification shall apply to a transaction in “a cov-
ered security,” with subsection (b)(4)(D)(ii) including within “covered security”

a security sold to “a qualified purchaser” in a transaction that is exempt under

Securities Act section 3(b)(2) from the section 5 federal registration require-
ment.52 Congress added the section 3(b)(2) exemption through the JOBS Act,

which ordered the SEC to adopt an exemption for issues with an aggregate of-

fering amount not exceeding $50,000,000.53 Section 18(b)(3) provides that
the SEC may, by rule, define “qualified purchasers” and may define that term

“differently with respect to different categories of securities, consistent with

the public interest and the protection of investors.”54 In Lindeen v. SEC, the se-
curities regulators in Montana and Massachusetts challenged the resulting regu-

lation, which created what is known as Regulation A+.55

Regulation A+ provides a two-tiered exemption from section 5.56 Tier 1 covers
offerings “in which the sum of all cash and other consideration to be received for

the securities being offered (‘aggregate offering price’) plus the gross proceeds for

all securities sold pursuant to other offering statements within the 12 months be-
fore the start of and during the current offering of securities (‘aggregate sales’) does

48. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b5-2 (2016); see also Selective Disclosure and Insider Trading, 64 Fed. Reg.
72590, 72602–03 (Dec. 28, 1999) (proposing release for Rule 10b5-2, identifying the motivation for
the rule as, in part, to avoid having to prove a fiduciary or fiduciary-like relationship to successfully
use the misappropriation theory against one family member who tips another).
49. E.g., United States v. McGee, 763 F.3d 304, 312–16 (3d Cir. 2014) (holding Rule 10b5-2 valid

and rejecting the view that a fiduciary relationship is necessary for liability under the misappropri-
ation theory).
50. See infra notes 52–81 and accompanying text.
51. See infra notes 82–93 and accompanying text.
52. 15 U.S.C. § 77r(a)(1)(A), (b)(4)(D)(ii) (2012).
53. Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (JOBS Act), Pub. L. No. 112-106, § 401, 126 Stat. 306,

323–24 (2012) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 77c(b) (2012)).
54. 15 U.S.C. § 77r(b)(3) (2012).
55. 825 F.3d 646, 648 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (citing Amendments for Small and Additional Issues Ex-

emptions Under the Securities Act (Regulation A[-Plus]), 80 Fed. Reg. 21806 (Apr. 20, 2015) (to be
codified at 17 C.F.R. pts. 200, 230, 232, 239, 240, 249 & 260) [hereinafter Reg A+ Adopting
Release]).
56. 17 C.F.R. § 230.251(a) (2016).
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not exceed $20,000,000.”57 Tier 2 covers offerings “in which the sum of the ag-
gregate offering price and aggregate sales does not exceed $50,000,000.”58 The

regulation provides that a Tier 2 offering for an issuer not listed on a national se-

curities exchange can only be made to an accredited investor, as defined in Secu-
rities Act Rule 501, or to (i) an individual where the aggregate purchase price paid

“is no more than ten percent (10%) of the greater of such purchaser’s [a]nnual in-

come or net worth” or (ii) an entity where the aggregate purchase price is no more
than 10 percent of the greater of “[r]evenue or net assets for such purchaser’s most

recently completed fiscal year end.”59 The regulation provides that each person

who buys in a Tier 2 offering, or to whom a security is offered in a Tier 2 offering,
is a “‘qualified purchaser’” “[f]or purposes of Section 18(b)(3) of the Securities

Act.”60 Regulation A+ further requires that each issuer making a Tier 2 offering

file with the SEC annual and semiannual reports as well as current reports on
the occurrence of specified events.61

The result is that state securities laws requiring registration or qualification of

securities offerings do not apply to Tier 2 offerings under Regulation A+.62 The
Massachusetts and Montana state securities regulators alleged in Lindeen that this

preemption (i) was outside the permissible bounds of statutory construction

under Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc.63 and (ii) ar-
bitrary and capricious under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”).64 The

D.C. Circuit rejected both arguments and denied the consolidated petitions to

review the SEC action in adopting the regulation.65

The court’s reasoning addressed both parts of the Chevron analysis. First, it

held that Regulation A+ “does not conflict with the Congress’s unambiguous in-

tent.”66 Since “Congress explicitly authorized the Commission to define [quali-
fied purchaser],” Congress “intended the SEC to enjoy broad discretion to decide

who may purchase which securities without the encumbrance of state registra-

tion and qualification requirements.”67 While the state regulators contended
that Congress could not have intended that the SEC include all Tier 2 purchas-

ers, they could not point to any “statutory provision that bars the SEC” from

doing so.68 Although the state regulators argued that “any definition of qualified
purchaser must advance ‘the public interest and the protection of investors,’” the

57. Id. § 230.251(a)(1).
58. Id. § 230.251(a)(2).
59. Id. § 230.251(d)(2)(i)(C).
60. Id. § 230.256.
61. Id. § 230.257(b)(1), (3) & (4). Subsection (4) refers to Form 1-U, which identifies eight cat-

egories of events that trigger the filing of a current report, including material modification of secur-
ityholders’ rights (Item 3), a change in the issuer’s certifying accountant (Item 4), and a change in
control (Item 6). Form 1-U, General Instruction A(2).
62. Lindeen, 825 F.3d at 652.
63. 467 U.S. 837 (1984).
64. Lindeen, 825 F.3d at 653.
65. Id. at 653–58.
66. Id. at 655.
67. Id. at 653.
68. Id. at 653–54.
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“provid[ed] a reasoned analysis of how its qualified-purchaser definition strikes
the ‘appropriate balance between mitigating cost and time demands on issuers

and providing investor protections,’” and in doing so “considered the costs im-

posed on issuers by blue-sky review, relying on the . . . conclusion that state reg-
istration and qualification requirements stymied Regulation A’s use in recent

years.”78 To the protest, in the amicus brief filed by the North American Secu-

rities Administrators Association, that the SEC had “rel[ied] on ‘little to no evi-
dence’ regarding the costs of state-law compliance and risks of state-law preemp-

tion,” the court responded that the original Regulation A had been used so

infrequently “that the Commission did not have the data necessary to quantify
precisely the risks of preemption for investors and the costs of state-law compli-

ance for issuers.”79 The court declined to “require the Commission ‘to measure

the immeasurable’ . . . [or] require it to ‘conduct a rigorous, quantitative eco-
nomic analysis unless the statute explicitly directs it to do so.’”80 That the SEC

had discussed “‘unquantifiable benefits’” and “articulated ‘. . . a rational connec-

tion between the facts found and the choice[] made,’” was enough to survive the
APA challenge.81

Credit retention rule. The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer

Protection Act (“Dodd-Frank”) amended the Securities Exchange Act (“Exchange
Act”) to require the SEC, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the

Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, and the Federal Deposit In-

surance Corporation to “jointly prescribe regulations to require any securitizer to
retain an economic interest in a portion of the credit risk for any asset that the

securitizer, through the issuance of an asset-backed security, transfers, sells, or

conveys to a third party.”82 The agencies adopted an implementing rule.83

The Loan Syndications and Trading Association (“LSTA”) filed a petition in

the D.C. Circuit challenging the rule.84 The court of appeals ruled that it did

not have jurisdiction.85

The Exchange Act permits an “aggrieved party” to seek direct review of any

SEC “order.”86 But the petition challenged not an order but a “rule.”87 The Ex-

78. Id. (quoting Reg A+ Adopting Release, supra note 55, at 21888 (emphasis omitted)) (citing Reg
A+ Adopting Release, supra note 55, at 21868 (characterizing a GAO report as concluding that “com-
pliance with state securities laws is one of the factors that impacts the use of existing Regulation A”)).
79. Id. at 658.
80. Id. (quoting Nat’l Ass’n of Mfrs. v. SEC, 748 F.3d 359, 369 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (quotation marks

omitted), overruled on other grounds by Am. Meat Inst. v. USDA, 760 F.3d 18 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (en
banc)).
81. Id. (first quoting Inv. Co. Inst. v. CFTC, 720 F.3d 370, 379 (D.C. Cir. 2013); then quoting

Bus. Roundtable v. SEC, 647 F.3d 1144, 1148 (D.C. Cir. 2011)).
82. Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank), Pub. L. No.

111-203, sec. 941(b), § 15G, 124 Stat. 1376, 1891 (2010) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C.
§ 78o-11 (2012)).
83. Credit Risk Retention Rule, 79 Fed. Reg. 77602 (Dec. 24, 2014).
84. Loan Syndications & Trading Ass’n v. SEC, 818 F.3d 716, 719 (D.C. Cir. 2016).
85. Id. at 724.
86. 15 U.S.C. § 78y(a)(1) (2012).
87. Loan Syndications & Trading Ass’n, 818 F.3d at 720.
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change Act only permits direct court of appeals review of rules adopted pursuant
to specifically listed sections of that act.88 The section of the Exchange Act added

by Dodd-Frank and mandating the credit retention rule is not on that list.89

LSTA’s challenge therefore had to “begin in district court.”90

LSTA could not avoid that result by pointing out that some of the sections in

the “authority, purpose and scope” provisions of the credit retention rule “con-

tain direct-review” rights.91 None of those sections gave the agencies the author-
ity to issue the joint rule that LSTA challenged.92 Having no jurisdiction itself and

since “[d]ismissing the petitions . . . would serve no purpose other than prolong-

ing the litigation,” the D.C. Circuit transferred the case “in the interest of justice”
to the D.C. District Court.93

Challenges to SEC Administrative Law Judges. When bringing an enforce-

ment proceeding, the SEC can choose to file a lawsuit in federal court or an ad-
ministrative proceeding before the Commission’s own ALJs.94 In 2015, two

courts of appeals held that a respondent named in an administrative proceeding

could not, while that proceeding was pending, file a lawsuit in federal court to
halt the administrative proceeding on the ground that the proceeding violated

the U.S. Constitution.95 In 2016, five opinions addressed the constitutionality

of the SEC’s administrative proceedings.96 The Second, Fourth, and Eleventh
Circuits held that a respondent or potential respondent in such a proceeding

cannot stop such a proceeding by a federal lawsuit filed before the proceeding

has run its course within the SEC.97 In reviewing an order issued by the SEC
after the completion of a proceeding, the D.C. Circuit addressed one constitu-

tional challenge substantively, holding—in an opinion subsequently vacated

with an en banc hearing granted—that ALJs were not “Officers of the United
States” within the meaning of the Appointments Clause of the U.S. Constitution

and that therefore the manner of their appointment did not violate that clause.98

But the Tenth Circuit disagreed, holding that the ALJs were “inferior officers”

88. 15 U.S.C. § 78y(b)(1) (2012) (“A person adversely affected by a rule of the Commission pro-
mulgated pursuant to section 78f, 78i(h)(2), 78k, 78k-1, 78o(c)(5) or (6), 78o-3, 78q, 78q-1, or 78s
of this title may obtain review of this rule in the United States Court of Appeals.”). While this section
refers to “the Commission,” subpart (d)(1) of 15 U.S.C. § 78y defines “Commission” for purposes of
direct review to “include[] the agencies enumerated in section 78c(a)(34) of this title insofar as such
agencies are acting pursuant to this chapter,” and § 78c(a)(34) includes the Comptroller of the Cur-
rency, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, and the Federal Deposit Insurance Cor-
poration. Loan Syndications & Trading Ass’n, 818 F.3d at 720.
89. Loan Syndications & Trading Ass’n, 818 F.3d at 721 (“Congress did not add section 78o-11 to

the list of provisions entitled to direct review.”).
90. Id. at 720; id. at 724 (“[T]he district court has jurisdiction to review the entire regulation.”).
91. Id. at 721.
92. Id. at 723.
93. Id. at 724 (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 1631 (2012)).
94. 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u-2, 78u-3 (2012); 17 C.F.R. § 201.110 (2016).
95. Jarkesy v. SEC, 803 F.3d 9, 13, 30 (D.C. Cir. 2015); Bebo v. SEC, 799 F.3d 765, 775 (7th Cir.

2015), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 1500 (2016) (No. 15-997).
96. See infra notes 100–53 and accompanying text.
97. See infra notes 100–22 and accompanying text.
98. See infra notes 123–40 and accompanying text.
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within the meaning of the clause and, since they had not been appointed by the
President or the Head of a Department, had been placed in their positions in vi-

olation of the Constitution.99

Timing of challenge. Hill v. SEC consolidated two cases, in one of which a respon-
dent sued in district court to stop an administrative proceeding after an ALJ denied

motions for summary disposition, including one contending that the proceeding

violated the Constitution, and in the other of which a party asserted unconstitu-
tionality in a district court action seeking (i) an injunction to prevent the SEC

from beginning an administrative proceeding that the SEC had threatened but

not filed and (ii) a declaratory judgment.100 The district court, with the same
judge sitting in both cases, granted the plaintiffs a temporary restraining order

in the first case and a preliminary injunction in the second.101 Vacating both or-

ders and remanding with direction to dismiss each case, the Eleventh Circuit held
that the district court had no jurisdiction over the actions.102

The court of appeals applied the “two-part framework” derived from the Su-

preme Court’s Thunder Basin Coal Co. v. Reich decision.103 As to the first part—
investigating congressional intent—the Eleventh Circuit concluded that Con-

gress intended that the statutorily created review of SEC decisions by courts of

appeals per 15 U.S.C. § 78y (section 25 of the Exchange Act) be exclusive
and, concomitantly, that Congress intended to preclude district court review

of such decisions.104 Section 78y provides that “[a] person aggrieved by a

final order of the Commission entered pursuant to this chapter may obtain re-
view of the order in the United States Court of Appeals for the circuit in

which he resides or has his principal place of business, or for the District of Co-

lumbia Circuit by filing in such court, within sixty days after the entry of the
order, a written petition requesting that the order be modified or set aside in

whole or in part.”105 The statute further provides that “[o]n the filing of the pe-

99. See infra notes 141–53 and accompanying text.
100. 825 F.3d 1236, 1239–40 (11th Cir. 2016). In the first case, the plaintiff argued “that (1) the

administrative proceeding violate[d] the removal protections of Article II of the United States Consti-
tution because ALJs are protected by two layers of tenure, (2) administrative enforcement actions be-
fore an ALJ violate[d] the non-delegation doctrine under Article I of the Constitution, . . . (3) the
grant of discretion to the Commission to bring this action in an administrative forum violate[d]
his Seventh Amendment right to a jury trial,” and (4) the appointment of ALJs by the SEC instead
of the President, department head, or court violated the Appointments Clause. Id. at 1239. The plain-
tiff in the second lawsuit made a similar Appointments Clause argument. Id. at 1240.
101. Id. at 1240.
102. Id. at 1237–38.
103. Id. at 1241 (citing Thunder Basin Coal Co. v. Reich, 510 U.S. 200, 207, 212–15 (1994)) (also

citing as important in establishing the relevant tests: Free Enter. Fund v. Pub. Co. Accounting Over-
sight Bd., 561 U.S. 477, 490–91 (2010); Elgin v. Dep’t of Treasury, 132 S. Ct. 2126, 2131–33, 2136–
40 (2012)).
104. Id. at 1242 (describing the test for the first part of the Thunder Basin analysis as “whether it is

‘fairly discernible’ from the ‘text, structure, and purpose’ of § 78y that Congress intended this statute
to provide the exclusive means for judicial review of an SEC administrative action”); id. at 1245 (find-
ing that “Congress’s intent to preclude district court review of the administrative proceeding is ‘fairly
discernible in the statutory scheme’”).
105. 15 U.S.C. § 78y(a)(1) (2012).
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tition, the court has jurisdiction, which becomes exclusive on the filing of the
record, to affirm or modify and enforce or to set aside the order in whole or

in part.”106 It precludes raising arguments before the court of appeals not

made to the SEC, absent a “reasonable ground” for failing to raise it to the Com-
mission, and also provides that the filing of a petition for review does not stay an

SEC order.107 The Eleventh Circuit held that “the detail in § 78y indicates that

Congress intended to deny aggrieved parties another avenue for review,” even for
“a constitutional challenge to the administrative process itself.”108

The court divided the second part of its Thunder Basin analysis—addressing

“whether the specific claims the respondents raise ‘are of the type Congress in-
tended to be reviewed within this statutory structure’”—into three parts.109 Ad-

dressing the first, and most important of the three considerations,110 the court

held that the respondent and potential respondent would “receive meaningful
judicial review under § 78y.”111 While the judicial review would not occur

until the administrative proceeding had run its course, and the respondent in

it had suffered all the attendant costs, those litigation costs did “not amount
to an irreparable injury on [their] own.”112 As to the sanctions that the SEC

might impose, those were “speculative” since “the Commission might decide

that the respondents violated no securities laws” and thus impose no sanctions,
and, even if it did, “§ 78y grants the court of appeals the power to vacate a Com-

mission order in whole, relieving the respondents of any liability.”113 The re-

spondents did not suffer marginal costs to raise their constitutional issues
because they were already before the SEC (or about to be) due to the Commis-

sion’s conclusion that they had violated the securities laws.114 The procedural

rights in SEC administrative proceedings gave respondents the ability to “de-
velop a sufficient factual record for meaningful appellate review under § 78y

of their constitutional claims,” and, “to the extent the Commission fails to de-

velop a sufficient factual record, the reviewing court not only may take judicial
notice of facts relevant to the constitutional questions, . . . it may also remand to

the Commission for further factfinding.”115

The court of appeals gave brief attention to the second and third factors rel-
evant to the second part of the Thunder Basin analysis.116 The second factor

was whether the SEC’s special expertise could be applied to the respondents’ ar-

gument, which the court found was true in the sense that “the Commission
might decide that the [enforcement division’s] substantive claims are meritless

106. Id. § 78y(a)(3).
107. Id. § 78y(c)(1) & (2).
108. Hill, 825 F.3d at 1243.
109. Id. at 1245 (quoting Thunder Basin Coal Co. v. Reich, 510 U.S. 200, 212 (1994)).
110. Id.
111. Id.
112. Id.
113. Id. at 1247.
114. Id. at 1248.
115. Id. at 1249–50 (citation omitted).
116. Id. at 1250–52.

Caselaw Developments 835



and thus would have no need to reach the constitutional claims.”117 This possi-
bility rendered it “of no moment that respondents’ Article II claims themselves

are outside the agency’s expertise.”118 The court then dispatched the third

factor—whether the constitutional claims were “wholly collateral” to the admin-
istrative proceeding—by holding that it did not matter because, “whether we

characterize the respondents’ claims as wholly collateral, this factor does not

convince us that Congress intended to grant the respondents a license to bypass
§ 78y in the face of our conclusion that the statute guarantees meaningful judi-

cial review.”119 Considering all three of the considerations relevant to the second

part of the Thunder Basin framework, the court “conclude[d] that the respon-
dents’ claims are of the type Congress intended § 78y to govern.”120

The Second Circuit’s decision in Tilton v. SEC is much the same, affirming dis-

missal of a court case based on an Appointments Clause challenge to the presid-
ing ALJ, with the court action filed two days after the SEC brought an adminis-

trative proceeding.121 The Fourth Circuit followed suit in Bennett v. SEC,

affirming dismissal of an action brought by respondents within two months of
the SEC opening an administrative enforcement proceeding against them—

with the plaintiffs alleging that the proceeding was unconstitutional due to the

manner in which the ALJ had been appointed.122

Substance of the Appointments Clause challenge. While the three 2016 opinions

summarized above considered only the question of when a respondent in an

SEC administrative proceeding can litigate a constitutional challenge to the
SEC’s administrative enforcement structure, the D.C. Circuit actually decided

one such challenge on the merits in Raymond J. Lucia Cos. v. SEC, although the

D.C. Circuit has vacated the judgment and ordered rehearing en banc.123 The
SEC initiated an administrative proceeding against Mr. Lucia and his company

on September 5, 2012.124 An ALJ issued an Initial Decision on July 8, 2013,

that (i) found Mr. Lucia and his company to have violated a number of securities
laws by providing misleading presentations of the returns a proposed investment

strategy would have produced in past periods and (ii) imposed sanctions includ-

ing civil penalties and a permanent bar against Mr. Lucia, preventing him from

117. Id. at 1250.
118. Id. at 1251.
119. Id. at 1252.
120. Id.
121. 824 F.3d 276 (2d Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 2017 WL 237477 (U.S. May 30, 2017) (No. 16-906)

(mem). Tilton preceded Hill by less than a month, and Hill cites to Tilton. See Hill, 825 F.3d at 1241,
1244, 1245, 1247, 1250, 1251.
122. 844 F.3d 174, 176–77, 188 (4th Cir. 2016). Effectively pushing this analysis back one fur-

ther step, the Fourth Circuit also affirmed dismissal last year of a district court action brought by a
respondent in an ongoing disciplinary decision initiated by the Financial Industry Regulatory Author-
ity, Inc. (“FINRA”). Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. v. Fin. Industry Regulatory Auth., Inc., 844
F.3d 414, 417–19, 424 (4th Cir. 2016).
123. 832 F.3d 277 (D.C. Cir. 2016), judgment vacated & rehearing en banc granted.
124. Raymond J. Lucia Cos., Inc., Initial Decision Release No. 495, File No. 3-15006, 1–2 (ALJ

July 8, 2013), https://www.sec.gov/alj/aljdec/2013/id495ce.pdf.

836 The Business Lawyer; Vol. 72, Summer 2017



associating with investment advisers, brokers, or dealers.125 The Commission
granted the respondents’ petition for review and, after consideration, entered its

own order on September 3, 2015.126 Like the ALJ, the Commission (i) found

that the respondents had made fraudulent statements and omissions in presenting
so-called “backtest” information about the investment strategy and (ii) imposed

sanctions including civil penalties and a bar against Mr. Lucia.127 The Commission

considered and rejected the respondents’ argument “that the ALJ who presided
over this matter and issued the initial decision . . . was not appointed in a manner

consistent with the Appointments Clause of the Constitution . . . [and] that, in

light of this purported constitutional violation, the proceedings ‘are themselves in-
valid and any resulting orders should be vacated.’”128 Agreeing with the Commis-

sion, the D.C. Circuit denied respondents’ petition for review.129

The Appointments Clause “provides that the President: ‘shall nominate, and
by and with the Advice and Consent of the Senate, shall appoint . . . Officers

of the United States, whose Appointments are not herein otherwise provided

for, and which shall be established by Law: but the Congress may by Law vest
the Appointment of such inferior Officers, as they think proper, in the President

alone, in the Courts of Law, or in the Heads of Departments.”130 An “appointee

is an Officer, and not an employee who falls beyond the reach of the Clause, if
the appointee exercises ‘significant authority pursuant to the laws of the United

States.’”131 Whether appointees exercise “significant authority” in this sense de-

pends on “‘(1) the significance of the matters resolved by the officials, (2) the
discretion they exercise in reaching their decisions, and (3) the finality of

those decisions.’”132 In the circuit court argument, “the parties principally dis-

agree[d] about [the third of these factors—] whether . . . ALJs issue final deci-
sions of the Commission.”133 The D.C. Circuit therefore focused on that single

factor, saying that “[o]ur analysis begins, and ends, there.”134

Section 4A(a) of the Exchange Act provides that the SEC “shall have the author-
ity to delegate, by published order or rule, any of its functions to . . . an admin-

istrative law judge . . . , including functions with respect to hearing, determining,

[or] ordering . . . as to any work, business, or matter.”135 But section 4A(b) states
that “the Commission shall retain a discretionary right to review the action of

any . . . administrative law judge . . . upon its own initiative or upon petition

of a party to or intervenor in such action, within such time and in such manner

125. Id. at 18–31, 45.
126. Raymond J. Lucia Cos., Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 75837 (Sept. 3, 2015), https://www.

sec.gov/litigation/opinions/2015/34-75837.pdf (opinion of the Commission).
127. Id. at 17–19.
128. Id. at 28–33.
129. Lucia, 832 F.3d at 296.
130. Id. at 283 (quoting U.S. CONST. art. II, § 2, cl. 2).
131. Id. at 284 (quoting Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 126 (1976)).
132. Id. (quoting Tucker v. Comm’r, 676 F.3d 1129, 1133 (D.C. Cir. 2012)).
133. Id. at 285 (alteration added).
134. Id.
135. 15 U.S.C. § 78d-1(a) (2012).
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as the Commission by rule shall prescribe.”136 And section 4A(c) provides that “[i]f
the right to exercise such review is declined, or if no such review is sought within

the time stated in the rules promulgated by the Commission, then the action of

any . . . administrative law judge . . . shall, for all purposes, including appeal or
review thereof, be deemed the action of the Commission.”137 Thus, as the court

of appeals saw it, “[u]ntil the Commission determines not to order review, within

the time allowed by its rules, there is no final decision that can ‘be deemed the ac-
tion of the Commission.’”138 Since “the Commission must affirmatively act—by is-

suing the order—in every case,” its “final action is either in the form of a new de-

cision after de novo review or, by declining to grant or order review, its embrace of
the ALJ’s initial decision as its own.”139 The court noted that the “[p]etitioners offer

neither reason to understand the finality order to be merely a rubber stamp, nor ev-

idence that initial decisions of which the Commission does not order full review re-
ceive no substantive consideration as part of this process.”140

The Tenth Circuit—also in a case brought to review a completed SEC adminis-

trative proceeding—took a broader view in Bandimere v. SEC, expressly disagreeing
with the D.C. Circuit’s analysis that attributed decisive importance to whether Com-

mission ALJs issue final decisions.141 Relying on Freytag v. Commissioner of Internal

Revenue—where the Supreme Court held that special trial judges (“STJs”) appointed
by the Tax Court were inferior officers within the meaning of the Appointments

Clause and therefore subject to its strictures142—the Tenth Circuit quoted the

Court as dealing in Freytag with “the government’s argument that the STJs were em-
ployees because they ‘lack[ed] authority to enter a final decision’” by holding that

this “argument ‘ignore[d] the significance of the duties and discretion that special

trial judges possess.’”143 Instead, as the Tenth Circuit saw it, Freytag found the
STJs to be inferior officers (who are subject to the Appointments Clause) instead

of employees (who are not) based on three characteristics, all of which “exist

here: [(i)] the position of the SEC ALJ was ‘established by Law,’; [(ii)] ‘the duties,
salary, and means of appointment . . . are specified by statute’; and [(iii)] SEC

ALJs ‘exercise significant discretion’ in ‘carrying out . . . important functions.’”144

The SEC ALJ position was established by statute because the APA created the
position of ALJ, with the Exchange Act then permitting the SEC “to delegate ‘any

of its functions’ with the exception of rulemaking to ALJs,” and the Commission

136. Id. § 78d-1(b).
137. Id. § 78d-1(c).
138. Lucia, 832 F.3d at 286 (some citations omitted) (quoting section 4A(c)).
139. Id.
140. Id. at 287.
141. 844 F.3d 1168, 1182 (10th Cir. 2016) (stating that the Lucia decision relied on Landry v. Fed-

eral Deposit Insurance Corp., 204 F.3d 1125 (D.C. Cir. 2000), and that “Landry place[d] undue weight
on final decision-making authority”), petition for rehearing and rehearing en banc denied, 855 F.3d 1128
10th Cir. 2017; id. at 1183–84 (stating that “[f]inal decision-making power is relevant in determining
whether a public servant exercises significant authority [for purposes of Appointments Clause analysis,
b]ut that does not mean every inferior officer must possess final decision-making power”).
142. 501 U.S. 868, 882 (1991).
143. Bandimere, 844 F.3d at 1175 (alterations in original) (quoting Freytag, 501 U.S. at 881).
144. Id. at 1179 (citations omitted) (quoting Freytag, 501 U.S. at 881, 882).
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then adopting a rule “giv[ing] the agency’s ‘Office of Administrative Law Judges’
power to ‘conduct hearings’ and ‘proceedings.’”145 The APA also specified the

ALJs’ duties, salaries, and method of appointment.146 Finally, SEC ALJs “exercise

significant discretion in performing ‘important functions’ commensurate with the
STJs’ functions described in Freytag.”147 As examples, the ALJs “shape the admin-

istrative record by taking testimony, regulating document production and deposi-

tions, ruling on the admissibility of evidence, receiving evidence, ruling on dispo-
sitive and procedural motions, issuing subpoenas, and presiding over trial-like

hearings.”148 They also “make credibility findings to which the SEC affords ‘consid-

erable weight’ during agency review,” and “issue initial decisions that declare re-
spondents liable and impose sanctions,” with those decisions deemed to be

those of the Commission unless the Commission reviews them.149 The SEC ALJs

also “have power to enter default judgments and otherwise steer the outcome of
proceedings by holding and requiring attendance at settlement conferences.”150

With all three of the Freytag criteria satisfied, the Tenth Circuit held “the SEC

ALJs are inferior officers who must be appointed in conformity with the Appoint-
ments Clause.”151 Because the SEC conceded that its ALJs were not appointed in

accord with that clause,152 “[t]he SEC ALJ held his office unconstitutionally

when he presided over Mr. Bandimere’s hearing,” and the court of appeals therefore
“grant[ed] the petition for review and set aside the SEC’s opinion.”153

Significance and analysis. The 2015 and 2016 cases, taken together, should

sound the death knell for efforts to forestall, or stop, ongoing administrative pro-

145. Id. at 1179 & n.13 (citing and quoting from 5 U.S.C. § 556(b)(3), 15 U.S.C. § 78d-1(a), and
17 C.F.R. § 200.14).
146. Id. (citing multiple statutes: “5 U.S.C. §§ 556–57 (duties); id. § 5372(b) (salary); id. §§ 1302,

3105 (means of appointment)”).
147. Id.
148. Id. at 1179–80 (footnotes with citations omitted).
149. Id. at 1180.
150. Id. at 1180–81 (footnotes omitted). While the court of appeals acknowledged that the Com-

mission could review initial decisions de novo, it observed that “90 percent of [the] initial decisions
become final without plenary review,” and that, even when review is had, “the ALJ plays a significant
role . . . in conducting proceedings and developing the record leading to the decision, and the de-
cision publicly states whether respondents have violated securities laws and imposes penalties for vi-
olations.” Id. at 1180 n.25.
151. Id. at 1181.
152. Id. at 1171.
153. Id. at 1188. The court rejected the argument that it should defer to Congress’s “statutory

framework governing the hiring of ALJs and the powers ALJs have in relation to their agencies” be-
cause such a deliberate framework “should not excuse failure to comply with the Appointments
Clause.” Id. at 1185.
The case split the panel. A dissent argued that the structure for Commission review of initial de-

cisions left the SEC ALJs with “only a ‘purely recommendatory power,’ Landry [v. Federal Deposit In-
surance Corp.], 204 F.3d [1125,] 1132 [(D.C. Cir. 2000)], which separates them from constitutional
officers,” id. at 1197 (McKay, J., dissenting), and suggested that the majority’s decision would throw
the legitimacy of federal ALJs at all agencies open to challenge, id. at 1194, 1199–1200. A concurring
opinion responded on the latter point that “whether a particular federal employee or class of employ-
ees are Officers subject to the Appointments Clause requires a position-by-position analysis of the
authority Congress by law and a particular executive agency by rule and practice has delegated to
its personnel.” Id. at 1189 (Briscoe, J., concurring).
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ceedings by district court actions asserting constitutional challenges. Logic may have
suffered in the process. In particular, it seems strained to conclude that (i) no con-

stitutional argument that a respondent might assert as an affirmative defense (on

possible penalty of waiving it if the respondent fails to do so) can be “wholly collat-
eral” to the underlying proceeding under Thunder Basin and (ii) agency expertise—

for Thunder Basin purposes—is implicated in every such proceeding simply because

the agency might decide for the respondent on the substantive law the agency ad-
ministers and thereby render the constitutional challenge moot.

As to the merits of the constitutional challenges, the conflicting decisions of

the Tenth and D.C. Circuits over the application of the Appointments Clause
to SEC ALJs, and the D.C. Circuit’s decision to rehear en banc, suggest that

the legitimacy of those ALJs is bound for the Supreme Court.

SOX Officer Certifications and Clawback. Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 (“SOX”) ordered the SEC to adopt rules to require the CEO and CFO

of each public company to certify (among other things) that, “[b]ased on such of-

ficer’s knowledge,” (i) each Form 10-Q and Form 10-K “does not contain any un-
true statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such state-

ments were made, not misleading,” and (ii) “the financial statements, and other
financial information included in the report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition and results of operations of the issuer as of, and for, the

periods presented in the report.”154 The SEC issued regulations—including
Rule 13a-14 and Item 602(b)(31)(i)—prescribing the exact wording of the certi-

fications and requiring that the certifications be attached to the Forms 10-Q

and 10-K.155 The certifications cover more than the two items listed above, but
as to each of those and in accord with the statute, each executive’s statements

are qualified by being “[b]ased on my knowledge.”156

SOX section 304 created a clawback by which the CEO and the CFO owe to a
public company issuer—when it “is required to prepare an accounting restate-

ment due to the material noncompliance of the issuer, as a result of misconduct,

with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws”—(i) “any
bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation received by that

person from the issuer during the 12-month period following the first public is-

suance or filing with the Commission (whichever first occurs) of the financial
document” containing false numbers and (ii) “any profits realized from the

sale of securities of the issuer during that 12-month period.”157

In SEC v. Jensen, the SEC sued the CEO and CFO of Basin Water, Inc.
(“Basin”), “alleging that they had participated in a scheme to defraud Basin inves-

154. Pub. L. No. 107-204, § 302, 116 Stat. 745, 777 (2002) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C.
§ 7241(a)(2) & (3) (2012)).
155. 17 C.F.R. § 229.601(b)(31)(i) (2016) (setting out the exact words for the certifications, with

the certifications required by 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13a-14(a), 240.15d-14(a) (2016)).
156. 17 C.F.R. §§ 229.601(b)(31)(i) (certification at paras. 2, 3), 240.13a-14 (2016).
157. Pub. L. No. 107-204, § 304, 116 Stat. 745, 778 (2002) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C.

§ 7243 (2012)).
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tors by reporting millions of dollars in revenue that were never realized.”158 The
district court granted partial summary judgment to the defendants on the SEC’s

claim that they violated the certification requirement by filing false certifications

and found after a bench trial that the clawback only operated if the defendant
officers were directly involved in the “misconduct” leading to the restatement.159

Vacating the judgment and remanding, the Ninth Circuit rendered important

holdings on both the 302 certifications and the 304 clawback.160

As to the certifications, the court of appeals rejected the district court’s con-

clusion that any SEC claim for violation of the implementing regulation is limited

to instances in which the officers either do not sign or do not file certifica-
tions.161 Instead, the court held that the regulation “include[s] an implicit truth-

fulness requirement” in part because “[t]he dictionary definition of ‘certify’ is ‘1.

to testify by formal declaration, often in writing; to make known or establish (a
fact)’; or ‘3. to guarantee the quality or worth of; vouch for [something].’”162 The

court read this definition to mean that “one cannot certify a fact about which one

is ignorant or which one knows is false.”163 Accordingly, “Rule 13a–14 provides
a cause of action against CEOs and CFOs who file false certifications as well as

those who do not file certifications at all.”164

Turning to whether a section 304 clawback can only apply to a CEO or CFO
who was himself or herself involved in the triggering “misconduct” leading to a

restatement, the Ninth Circuit provided the first court of appeals decision on this

hotly debated issue.165 Parsing the language of SOX section 304, the court held
that “[t]he clause ‘as a result of misconduct’ modifies the phrase ‘the material

noncompliance of the issuer,’ suggesting that it is the issuer’s misconduct that

matters, and not the personal misconduct of the CEO or CFO.”166 Reinforcing
this view, the court read the legislative history as showing “Congress’s intent

to craft a broad remedy that focused on disgorging unearned profits rather

than punishing individual wrongdoing.”167

158. 835 F.3d 1100, 1104 (9th Cir. 2016).
159. Id.
160. Id. at 1111–16, 1117.
161. Id. at 1112.
162. Id. at 1113 (quoting WEBSTER’S NEW TWENTIETH CENTURY DICTIONARY OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE,

UNABRIDGED, 297 (Jean L. McKechnie ed., 2d ed. 1979)).
163. Id.
164. Id. at 1117.
165. Compare Rachael E. Schwartz, The Clawback Provision of Sarbanes-Oxley: An Underutilized In-

centive to Keep the Corporate House Clean, 64 BUS. LAW. 1 (2008) (arguing that no personal misconduct
by the CEO or CFO is necessary), with John P. Kelsh, Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002: The
Case for a Personal Culpability Requirement, 59 BUS. LAW. 1005 (2004) (arguing that such personal mis-
conduct is required). But note that district courts had decided against any need for personal involve-
ment. See SEC v. Jenkins, 718 F. Supp. 2d 1070, 1074–79 (D. Ariz. 2010); SEC v. Baker, No. A-12-
CA-285-SS, 2012 WL 5499497, at *5–6 (W.D. Tex. Nov. 13, 2012).
166. Jensen, 835 F.3d at 1114.
167. Id. at 1115 (quoting H.R. REP. NO. 107-418, at 31 (2002)) (noting that a House version of the

Senate bill that became SOX “would have provided for disgorgement of all salary, commissions, and
other earnings obtained by an officer or director ‘if such officer or director engaged in misconduct
resulting in, or made or caused to be made in, the filing of a financial statement’”).
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Significance and analysis. The notion that the section 304 clawback is not
punitive because it seeks to recover amounts that executives received but to

which they were not entitled is not well founded. The section 304 clawback is

not limited to unearned compensation. It takes the full amount of “any bonus
or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation”—not just the amount

that would not have been paid had the company reported true, rather than

false, financial numbers.168 And it takes the full amount of “any profits realized
from the sale of securities of the issuer” by the officer during the recovery period,

not just the portion of the profit attributable to stock price inflation caused by

the degree to which the financial numbers were wrong.169 In this regard, the sec-
tion 304 clawback differs from the more targeted one in Dodd-Frank, which (al-

though covering a longer period of time) is restricted to “incentive-based com-

pensation . . . in excess of what would have been paid to the executive officer
under the accounting restatement.”170

Criminal Cases. The Second Circuit revisited last year “willfulness” as used in

criminal provisions of federal securities law.171 The same court also considered
whether a $19.7 billion forfeiture order entered against defendants who partic-

ipated in the Madoff fraud was an excessive fine prohibited by the Eighth

Amendment.172

Definition of wilfull. The defendant in United States v. Tagliaferri was convicted

of violating section 206 of the Investment Advisers Act (“IAA”).173 IAA section

206 proscribes, among other things, both “engag[ing] in any transaction, prac-
tice, or course of business which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client

or prospective client” and “engag[ing] in any act, practice, or course of business

which is fraudulent, deceptive, or manipulative.”174 IAA section 217 criminalizes
“willful[] violat[ion]” of the IAA.175

Tagliaferri had (i) taken kickbacks in exchange for investing client money in

a company that owned and managed racehorses, (ii) generated commissions
for himself by using the money in some clients’ accounts to buy securities

held in other clients’ accounts, and (iii) sold fractional interests (“sub-notes”)

to client accounts of a nonexistent “note,” which was actually equity that he
had purchased with his own money.176 At trial, Tagliaferri testified that, while

the first two categories of actions involved conflicts of interest, he had a good

faith belief that each investment was in the best interests of the client in-

168. SOX § 304(a)(1), 15 U.S.C. § 7243(a)(1) (2012).
169. Id. § 304(a)(2), 15 U.S.C. § 7243(a)(2) (2012).
170. Pub. L. No. 111-203, sec. 954, § 10D(b)(2), 124 Stat. 1376, 1904 (2010) (codified at 15 U.S.C.

§ 78j-4(b)(2) (2012)).
171. See infra notes 173–85 and accompanying text.
172. See infra notes 186–94 and accompanying text.
173. 820 F.3d 568 (2d Cir. 2016). He was also convicted of securities fraud, wire fraud, and of

violating the Travel Act (18 U.S.C. § 1952). Id. at 569.
174. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(2) & (4) (2012).
175. Id. § 80b-17. Both the Securities Act and the Exchange Act contain similar sections providing

criminal penalties for willful violations of those statutes’ substantive provisions. Id. §§ 77x, 78ff(a).
176. Tagliaferri, 820 F.3d at 569–70.
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volved.177 As to the sub-notes, he argued that “he had always ‘believed that he
would be able to work things out so that his clients would not be harmed.’”178

The trial judge instructed the jury that the government had to prove “specific in-

tent to defraud,” and that “‘willfully’ means to act knowingly and purposely, with
an intent to do something the law forbids, that is to say, with bad purpose either

to disobey or to disregard the law,” but that Tagliaferri did not need to know that

he was “breaking any particular law,” rather he “need only have been aware of
the generally unlawful nature of his act.”179 While the court instructed that

“[g]ood faith” was a “complete defense,” it also specifically told the jury that

“a belief by the defendant, if such belief existed, that ultimately everything
would work out so that no investors would lose any money or that particular

investments would ultimately be financially advantageous for clients does not

necessarily constitute good faith.”180

The Second Circuit affirmed the conviction,181 rejecting the argument “that, in a

criminal prosecution under [IAA section 217], section 206 incorporates the com-

mon law requirement that intent to defraud includes both intent to deceive and
intent to harm.”182 The court held that since “the wrongfulness of section 206

violations derives from their deceptiveness, proof that the defendant intended to

deceive his clients suffices to establish the requisite mens rea for guilt,” and “the
willfulness mental state required by [section 217] ensures that criminal penalties

are limited to cases in which the Government is able to prove that, at minimum,

‘the defendant acted with knowledge that his conduct was unlawful.’”183

Significance and analysis. Tagliaferri echoes to some extent the Second Cir-

cuit’s holding in 2015 that the scienter required for a Rule 10b-5 violation does

not require an intent to harm.184 And Tagliaferri’s holding that willfulness re-
quires only realization by the defendant that his or her conduct was wrong—

but not necessarily an understanding of what law he or she is violating—reprises

long-standing law in Rule 10b-5 cases as well.185

177. Id. at 570.
178. Id. (quoting Appellant’s Brief).
179. Id. at 571 (quoting instruction).
180. Id. (quoting instruction).
181. Id. at 575.
182. Id. at 572.
183. Id. at 575 (quoting Bryan v. United States, 524 U.S. 184, 191 (1998)).
184. United States v. Litvak, 808 F.3d 160, 178–79 (2d Cir. 2015); id. at 179 (holding, in respect

to the Rule 10b-5 counts, that, “because ‘intent to harm’ is not a component of the scienter element of
securities fraud under Section 10(b), the District Court did not err in refusing to provide such an
instruction to the jury”).
185. Tagliaferri, 820 F.3d at 573 (“Our Court likewise has held in contexts similar to this one that

to prove willfulness, ‘the prosecution need only establish a realization on the defendant’s part that he
was doing a wrongful act.’ United States v. Dixon, 536 F.2d 1388, 1395 (2d Cir. 1976) (Friendly, J.)
(internal quotation marks omitted)” (with Dixon interpreting section 32(a) of the Exchange Act,
which criminalizes “willful violations” of provisions of that statute)); see also United States v. Tarallo,
380 F.3d 1174, 1188 (9th Cir. 2004) (“Under our jurisprudence . . . ‘willfully’ as it is used in [Ex-
change Act section 32] means intentionally undertaking an act that one knows to be wrongful”),
amended by 413 F.3d 928 (9th Cir. 2005).
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Forfeiture and the Eighth Amendment. The Second Circuit affirmed a $19.7 bil-
lion forfeiture order in a case against two defendants who, while working at Ber-

nard L. Madoff Investment Securities (“BLMIS”), “designed computer programs

that created books and records filled with randomly generated numbers in
order to deceive regulators and clients.”186 The amount of the forfeiture repre-

sented “the total client investment” in BLMIS’s investment advisory (“IA”) busi-

ness.187 Rejecting the argument by one of these defendants that the forfeiture
order violated the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against excessive fines,

the court considered four factors to apply the legal test—whether the forfeiture

was grossly disproportional to the gravity of the crime.188 First, as to “the essence
of defendant’s crime and its relation to other criminal activity,” the Second Cir-

cuit found no clear error in the district court’s conclusion that this defendant’s

“‘special programming’ work was ‘the essential backbone of the infrastructure
through which the IA fraud was perpetrated.’”189 Second, as to “whether [the]

defendant fits into the class of persons for whom the statute of conviction was

principally designed,” the court of appeals found that “the district court reason-
ably concluded that [the defendant] was no mere ‘technical worker,’ but a vital

member of the conspiracy” because the “only purpose of [his computer program-

ming] was to effect [BLMIS’s] misrepresentations efficiently.”190 Third, consider-
ing the forfeiture in light of the “maximum sentence and fine that could have

been imposed,” the Second Circuit reasoned that “[b]ecause O’Hara faced a max-

imum prison sentence of 100 years—effectively a life sentence—the challenged
forfeiture cannot be deemed disproportional notwithstanding the statutory max-

imum fine of $10 million.”191 Fourth, “the nature of [the] harm caused by the

defendant’s conduct”192 supported the forfeiture, as the district court committed
no clear error in characterizing the damage as “‘financial devastation of unprec-

edented magnitude’ resulting in confidence in securities institutions and regula-

tory agencies being eroded and thousands of ‘innocent lives [being] irreversibly
upended.’”193 Taken together, the four factors led the Second Circuit to “con-

clude that the ordered forfeiture, while monumental, was not ‘grossly dispropor-

tional’ to the gravity of the crimes of conviction.”194

Scienter and Scienter Pleading. The Exchange Act requires that, “in any pri-

vate action arising under this [statute] in which the plaintiff may recover money

damages only on proof that the defendant acted with a particular state of mind,
the complaint shall, with respect to each act or omission alleged to violate this

186. United States v. Bonventre, 646 F. App’x 73, 83, 90–92 (2d Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 137
S. Ct. 676 (2017) (No. 16-6800) (mem.).
187. Id. at 90.
188. Id. at 91.
189. Id.
190. Id.
191. Id.
192. Id.
193. Id. at 92 (quoting district court).
194. Id. at 91 (quoting United States v. George, 779 F.3d 113, 122 (2d Cir. 2015) (stating this as

the test for whether a forfeiture is proscribed by the Eighth Amendment)).
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chapter, state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the de-
fendant acted with the required state of mind.”195 The required state of mind for

a Rule 10b-5 claim is scienter, which encompasses both an “intent to deceive”

and some form of recklessness.196 The Supreme Court has interpreted the stat-
utory pleading requirement, in light of the state of mind necessary for Rule 10b-5

liability, to mean that a private plaintiff seeking to recover under the rule must

allege specific facts that raise an inference of scienter that is “cogent and at least
as compelling as any opposing inference of nonfraudulent intent.”197

In 2016, the Fifth Circuit ruled that scienter allegations did not meet this stan-

dard where plaintiffs alleged failure to disclose the reason for labor problems at
a semiconductor manufacturing facility in China.198 The Tenth Circuit found

scienter allegations wanting in a case in which plaintiffs alleged misstatements

about forward losses.199 In one case involving a pharmaceutical company report
on clinical tests, the First Circuit held that the complaint failed to adequately

plead scienter, while in another case involving reported test results, the Ninth

Circuit found that the complaint did.200

Alleged failure to disclose cause of labor problems. The CEO defendant in Local

731 I.B. v. Diodes, Inc. stated in a February 9, 2011 press release that Diodes’s

production during the first quarter would be hurt by labor shortages in
China, where the company manufactured semiconductors.201 He predicted a

5 percent revenue decline and a gross profit margin of 36.5 percent, plus or

minus a percentage point.202 Diodes’s May 10, 2011 press release reported
the actual gross margin for the first quarter as 35.5 percent.203 This release

also disclosed that output had been affected by a “larger than normal” number

of workers not returning from the Chinese New Year holiday.204 In a conference
call about the first quarter results, the CEO stated that the second quarter gross

margin would be comparable to that in the first quarter, and, at an industry con-

ference on the same day, the CFO defendant referred to worker failure to return
from the holiday when asked about the labor shortage in China.205 On June 9,

2011, Diodes revised its second quarter guidance due to “‘slower than expected’

recovery from the labor shortage,” and predicted a 32.5 percent gross margin
(plus/minus 1.5 percent).206 In August 2011, Diodes reported the actual gross

margin for its second quarter to have been 32.8 percent.207

195. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2)(A) (2012).
196. Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 & n.12 (1976); 8 LOUIS LOSS ET AL., SECURITIES

REGULATION 150 n.544 (4th ed. 2012 & Supp. 2016).
197. Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 314 (2007).
198. See infra notes 201–25 and accompanying text.
199. See infra notes 226–64 and accompanying text.
200. See infra notes 265–327 and accompanying text.
201. 810 F.3d 951, 955 (5th Cir. 2016).
202. Id.
203. Id.
204. Id.
205. Id.
206. Id.
207. Id.
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Investors who bought Diodes’s stock from February 9 to June 9, 2011 brought
a Rule 10b-5 action against the company, the CEO, and the CFO.208 Plaintiffs

did not allege any misstatement, but claimed that the defendants misled the pub-

lic by failing to disclose that the labor shortage was primarily due to the com-
pany’s labor practices—particularly doubling work hours and cancelling leave

before the Chinese New Year—which caused employees to quit.209 Affirming

the district court’s dismissal, the Fifth Circuit held that the complaint did not
plead facts raising a strong inference of scienter.210

The court rejected the plaintiff’s argument that “[b]ecause an experienced work-

force [was] essential to Diodes’s competitive advantage . . . [the CEO] and [the
CFO] must have been aware of how [the company’s] internal labor policies exac-

erbated the external influences on the company’s productivity.”211 Noting that the

plaintiff did not allege any specific facts “indicating that [the two top officers]
knew that the labor shortage was principally caused by Diodes’[s] workplace pol-

icies,” the court found that the plaintiff drew its scienter inference “simply from

the magnitude of disruption caused by the company’s labor policies, which,
from their top executive positions, [the CEO and CFO] must or should have

known about.”212 While acknowledging that “special circumstances” can support

such an inference, the Fifth Circuit found none of the four factors exhibited in
other cases in which such circumstances had been found.213 First, Diodes was

not a small company in which executives would know details of day-to-day oper-

ations, but an enterprise with more than 4,000 employees, and “[i]t is not at all
clear that Diodes’s top executives in Dallas would have been aware of labor poli-

cies at the Shanghai facility, much less the chatter on the factory floor and the vary-

ing reasons for employee attrition before and after the Chinese New Year.”214

Second, the plaintiff did not claim “that the extent and duration of the labor short-

age, whatever its cause, jeopardized the company’s existence,” and so would have

commanded top officer attention.215 Third, the effect of Diodes’s new labor poli-
cies would not have been “readily apparent” to the CEO and CFO because the im-

plementation of those policies close to the Chinese New Year made it “difficult to

isolate the effect of the workplace policies on the factory floor.”216 Fourth, the de-
fendants’ statements were not inconsistent; instead, the defendants correctly pre-

dicted the effect of the labor problems on company financial figures.217

The plaintiff’s argument that scienter could be inferred by “Diodes’s early
shipments of orders without prior customer authorization” fared no better.218

208. Id.
209. Id. at 956, 957.
210. Id. at 954, 961.
211. Id. at 957–58.
212. Id. at 958.
213. Id. at 959.
214. Id.
215. Id.
216. Id.
217. Id.
218. Id.
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The Fifth Circuit pointed out that early shipments were not inherently suspi-
cious, but “may be supported by ‘any number of legitimate reasons,’ and usually

‘do[] not support a strong inference of scienter.’”219 Moreover, the plaintiff al-

leged neither that the early shipments were “fabricated” sales nor that Diodes
had failed to properly account for them.220 Finally, the idea that the company

would have shipped product early to customers in order to conceal a labor short-

age did not make sense because such shipments would deplete inventory and
expose the production problems created by the want of skilled labor.221 Since

the early shipments would have been “counterproductive” in concealing the al-

legedly omitted facts, those shipments could not provide a “‘compelling’ []or ‘co-
gent’” inference that the defendants intended to fraudulently conceal company

labor practices contributing to the dearth of skilled workers that in turn reduced

production.222

Significance and analysis. The Fifth Circuit’s reasoning on the last point

harkens back, in a way, to the Court’s conclusion—albeit in the very different

context of reversing denial of summary judgment for defendants in an antitrust
case—that “[i]t follows from . . . settled principles that if the factual context ren-

ders respondents’ claim implausible—if the claim is one that simply makes no

economic sense—respondents must come forward with more persuasive evi-
dence to support their claim than would otherwise be necessary.”223 Since Tell-

abs instructs that courts, in evaluating scienter allegations, “must engage in a

comparative evaluation . . . consider[ing] . . . not only inferences urged by the
plaintiff . . . but also competing inferences rationally drawn from the facts al-

leged,”224 a plaintiff who alleges facts suggesting an explanation of events that,

as an economic matter, affirmatively cuts against scienter should, other things
being equal, have a harder time arguing a “strong inference” of fraud than a

plaintiff who does not do so.225

Alleged failure to disclose overruns and delays causing forward losses. The Tenth
Circuit applied scienter pleading principles last year in Anderson v. Spirit Aerosys-

tems Holdings, Inc., a case involving a forward-loss charge, which “is an account-

ing term meaning that past production costs plus estimated future production
costs will exceed the total revenues estimated on a given contract.”226 Investors

sued Spirit Aerosystems Holdings, Inc. (“Spirit”) and its CEO, CFO, senior vice

president for Oklahoma operations, and a vice president overseeing one of the

219. Id. at 959–60 (quoting Greebel v. FTP Software, Inc., 194 F.3d 185, 203 (1st Cir. 1999)).
220. Id. at 960 n.3.
221. Id. at 960.
222. Id. The Fifth Circuit also ruled that nonculpable explanations for executive stock sales were

“more cogent and compelling” than an inference that the executives sold to benefit from the asserted
fraud. Id. at 960–61.
223. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986).
224. Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 314 (2007).
225. Matsushita employed just such reasoning. 475 U.S. at 588 (“Respondents in this case, in other

words, must show that the inference of conspiracy is reasonable in light of the competing inferences
of independent action or collusive action that could not have harmed respondents.”).
226. 827 F.3d 1229, 1237 n.5 (10th Cir. 2016).
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relevant projects, alleging that the defendants violated Rule 10b-5 by misrepre-
sentations and omissions, during a class period from November 3, 2011, to Oc-

tober 24, 2012, about cost overruns and delays in three projects to supply Gulf-

stream Aerospace Corporation and The Boeing Company with parts for aircraft
that those companies were producing.227 Spirit announced on October 25,

2012, that it expected to suffer hundreds of millions of dollars in forward losses,

and its stock dropped 30 percent.228

Affirming the district court’s dismissal for the plaintiffs’ failure to plead “facts

creating a cogent and compelling inference of scienter,229 the court of appeals

addressed each of several types of facts in turn. First, it was unpersuaded by
the argument that the defendants had a motive to lie because they wanted “to

buy time in the hope that a difficult financial situation ‘would right itself.’”230

This “suggest[ed] a generalized corporate motive . . . that would not contribute
to an inference of scienter” because it could be inferred at any company with re-

spect to almost any problem.231

Second, the court found wanting allegations based on confidential witnesses.232

Reports by one such witness about an internal Spirit meeting in mid-2011 in

which the CEO and CFO supposedly admitted that one of the three projects

was “‘behind schedule and over budget’” concerned events “months before the
class period began,” and “plaintiffs [did] not identify any particularized account

showing that the two executives knew during the class period that their progress

reports were inaccurate.”233 While one confidential witness reported that (i) a
2011 cost study report concluded that Spirit could not achieve cost-reduction

goals and (ii) an internal business group “regularly reported losses on the Gulf-

stream projects,” this did not show guilty knowledge by the four named executives
because “four levels of management hierarchy separated [this witness] from the

chief executive officer and the witness’s allegations [did] not establish that the

four Spirit executives actually had seen the 2011 cost-study report or were
aware of the regularly reported losses on the Gulfstream projects.”234 While a sec-

ond confidential witness allegedly supplied procurement cost data to generate

quarterly cost reports on the projects, “the content of the resulting quarterly
cost reports is unknown because (1) they went through numerous layers of revi-

sion before reaching [the CEO] and [CFO], and (2) [the witness] did not purport

to know how the procurement costs affected the cost forecasts for the Boeing 787
project.”235 Moreover, the court reasoned that “even if [it could] assume that [the

CEO] and [CFO] were aware of overruns on procurement costs, [it] ha[d] no in-

formation from [the witness] on what the internal costs were or how the overruns

227. Id. at 1235–36.
228. Id. at 1236, 1249.
229. Id. at 1236, 1251.
230. Id. at 1238–39 (quoting plaintiffs).
231. Id. at 1239.
232. Id. at 1239–45.
233. Id. at 1239–40.
234. Id. at 1240.
235. Id. at 1241.
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on procurement costs would have affected the total project costs.”236 Although the
plaintiffs also pled “general reports of delay and mismanagement of the Gulfstream

projects” and contended that “these reports suggest that the Spirit executives must

have long known that Spirit would need to take a substantial forward loss on the
projects,” the court found that this conclusion “does not follow.”237 Overall,

“[t]hese [reports] were too far removed from the four Spirit executives and did

not provide sufficiently particularized accounts of what the Spirit executives
must have known.”238 While one witness reported a confrontation with the defen-

dant vice president, who was overseeing the Boeing project—during which that

executive allegedly ordered the witness to lower projected costs that the witness
had prepared, to a level that the witness believed could not be reached—and

while that executive made a presentation at an investor conference in March

2012 in which he said that Spirit’s production for Boeing was on track and that
Spirit would likely be able to lower its marginal costs on additional units for Boe-

ing, the Tenth Circuit found “two fundamental gaps” in the use of this account to

support scienter.239 First, it did “not suggest that [the vice president] believed his
cost-control efforts were unrealistic or that he wished to intentionally mislead in-

vestors,” and, second, the witness’s failure to identify the date of the conversation

made it impossible to do anything but “guess that the confrontation might have
preceded [the vice president’s] remarks at the investor conference.”240

Third, the plaintiffs argued that the top executives “must have known that the

projects would not meet long-run cost forecasts” because they “‘personally mon-
itored’ the progress of the three projects.”241 The court characterized this argu-

ment as one based on “The Executives’ Alleged Involvement in Spirit’s ‘Core Op-

erations.’”242 Even allowing, however, that “[t]he executives’ positions at Spirit
would help establish whether they should have known that particular cost projec-

tions were unrealistic,” “additional particularized facts are necessary for an infer-

ence of scienter.”243 As it was, the Tenth Circuit found that the allegations that
the projects formed part of Spirit’s “core” business raised an “infer[ence] only

that the four executives were overly optimistic about Spirit’s ability to achieve

236. Id. at 1243.
237. Id. The court found that the only witness who “worked closely with any of the four Spirit

executives . . . spoke only of general corporate mismanagement; the witness did not address whether
the executives could have known that Spirit would be unable to meet long-term cost forecasts,” and
that “[t]he other corroborating witnesses were further removed from the defendants . . . —four cor-
roborating witnesses who had no alleged reporting relationship to the defendants[, and] . . . two
corroborating witnesses who were separated from the chief executive officer by at least four levels
of management within Spirit’s hierarchy.” Id.
238. Id. at 1244.
239. Id. at 1244–45.
240. Id. at 1245. At another point, the court said that “[t]he factual allegations regarding [this ex-

ecutive] suggest that he had a culpable intent, but the plaintiffs do not tie [his] potentially culpable
state of mind to any public disclosures.” Id. at 1239.
241. Id. at 1245 (quoting plaintiffs).
242. Id. But the court noted the parties’ disagreement over whether the three projects were at the

company’s “core,” since the defendants said that the three accounted for less than 20 percent of Spir-
it’s revenue. Id. at 1245 n.14.
243. Id. at 1245 (emphasis added).
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the forecasted production schedules and cost reductions.”244 The investors pro-
vided no “reason to believe that the executives knew that the projects were un-

likely to meet forecasts.”245

Fourth, the court rejected the investors’ argument that the defendants had a
“duty to disclose production delays and cost overruns” and that scienter should

be inferred from their failure to fulfill that duty.246 The Tenth Circuit found in

this contention no explanation of why the existence of such a duty raised an “in-
ference that the defendants (1) knew that they needed to disclose more or (2)

were reckless in failing to disclose more.”247

Fifth and finally, the court of appeals addressed a pot pourri of remaining al-
legations. The plaintiffs alleged that Spirit had “adopted a ‘recovery plan’ in July

2012 to put the Boeing 787 project back on schedule” and that this showed that

the executives knew their statements between that time and the end of the class
period were false or misleading.248 Even assuming that those statements were, in

fact, false or misleading, the court found “little reason to question the executives’

explanation” that they held “an honest belief that Spirit’s recovery plan would
reduce costs and accelerate production.”249 While “[t]he eventual announcement

of a forward loss suggests that Spirit had placed too much confidence in the re-

covery plan,” “the same can always be said when a company delays announce-
ment of a forward loss based on remedial efforts to increase profitability or

production.”250 The investors’ citation to post-class period explanations of the

loss by Spirit’s CEO did not raise a scienter inference because the CEO’s state-
ments simply “acknowledged that Spirit had mistakenly projected Spirit’s ability

to improve efficiency and that Spirit ultimately learned that it could not meet

projections,” rather than “that Spirit executives had knowingly or recklessly
misevaluated earlier data.”251 While the plaintiffs pointed to Spirit’s public warn-

ings of risks inherent in the projects,252 the court saw the warnings as “simply

244. Id. at 1246.
245. Id. This appears to be the “actual knowledge” standard applied in private cases to determine

whether a defendant had a sufficient mental state to be liable on a forward-looking statement. 15 U.S.C.
§ 78u-5(c)(1)(B) (2012). But the majority opinion does not discuss whether the case hinges on cate-
gorization of defendants’ statements as forward-looking. Only the dissent considers that issue. See
infra note 255. At other points, the majority opinion refers not only to actual intent to deceive but
also to severe recklessness as sufficient for scienter. Spirit Aerosystems, 827 F.3d at 1236–37.
246. Spirit Aerosystems, 827 F.3d at 1246.
247. Id. at 1247.
248. Id. For example, the defendants said on September 12, 2012 that “Spirit is doing reasonably

well in meeting the Boeing 787 plan” and that “[t]he project plan for the Boeing 787 ‘looks okay.’” Id.
249. Id. at 1248.
250. Id.
251. Id. at 1249.
252. As two of the examples, the court offered these

November 2011

• Spirit’s 10-Q for the quarter ending September 29, 2011, stated that the three projects posed a
significant risk of forward-loss charges based on cost pressures throughout 2011. Spirit ex-
plained that the next twelve to eighteen months would be critical, with a significant risk of for-
ward-loss charges.
. . . .
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reflect[ing] an awareness of risks.”253 The court dismissed the investors’ allega-
tions that Spirit had violated generally accepted accounting principles on the

ground that, even if true, that would not by itself show “fraudulent intent[] or

recklessness.”254 Last, although the loss eventually announced was a large
one, “[t]he size of the loss does not suggest that the four executives knew or

recklessly disregarded the risks that Spirit was eventually going to lose money

on the three projects.”255

Significance and analysis. Spirit Aerosystems prompts three observations.

First, it may often happen that the confidential witnesses whose stories the plain-

tiffs recount in complaints are lower level employees, far down the organiza-
tional chart from any executives named as defendants. Defense counsel may

find useful the Tenth Circuit’s notion that accounts from such witnesses

added little to an inference of scienter because several “levels of management hi-
erarchy separated” the witnesses from the executives.256 Indeed, the Spirit Aero-

systems opinion includes an organization chart at one point to graphically show

the distance between a witness and an executive.257 Second, the holding that a
duty to disclose does not contribute to a scienter inference absent facts from

which a court may infer that defendants were aware of such a duty or at least

reckless in their ignorance of it258 echoes earlier authority to the same effect.259

Putting it another way, a duty to disclose is an essential element of a Rule 10b-5

action based on omissions,260 but scienter is also an essential element,261 and

establishing the duty element does not necessarily create an inference that a de-
fendant who failed to perform that duty did so with an intent to defraud or was

severely reckless as to whether failing to disclose would mislead.262 Third, the

August 2012

• Spirit’s 10-Q for the quarter ending on June 28, 2012, stated that the three projects “continue[d]
to pose a risk of additional charges [or] forward-loss.”

• Spirit’s chief executive officer stated that the Gulfstream projects were “risky.”

Id. at 1249–50.
253. Id. at 1250.
254. Id. at 1251.
255. Id. One of the three judges on the panel filed an opinion in which he concurred in part and

dissented in part. The dissent argued that defendants’ statements fell into two categories. While those
that were forward-looking statements could not support a Rule 10b-5 action because they “reflected
opinion rather than fact, and were not demonstrably false,” id. at 1252 (Lucero, J., concurring in part
and dissenting in part), this judge concluded that the plaintiffs had adequately pled scienter as to
some statements of current fact regarding the work for Boeing, id. at 1256.
256. See supra text accompanying note 234.
257. Spirit Aerosystems, 827 F.3d at 1242.
258. See supra text accompanying note 247.
259. See, e.g., First N.Y. Sec. LLC v. United Rentals Inc., 391 F. App’x 71, 73 (2d Cir. 2010)

(“URI’s failure to disclose certain information is not actionable unless it intended to defraud or mis-
lead by withholding information that it knew it had a clear duty to disclose.”).
260. Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 239 n.17 (1988) (“Silence, absent a duty to disclose, is

not misleading under Rule 10b-5.”).
261. Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 (1976).
262. See City of Philadelphia v. Fleming Cos., 264 F.3d 1245, 1260–61 (10th Cir. 2001) (“[T]o

establish scienter in a securities fraud case alleging non-disclosure of potentially material facts, the
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opinion shows the importance of winning the overall narrative battle. The court
said that “Spirit’s executives knew that Spirit had encountered problems in con-

taining costs and meeting production deadlines,” and “assume[d] (without de-

ciding) that Spirit did not adequately communicate these problems to the pub-
lic.”263 But the court saw the scienter pleading question as deciding between the

plaintiffs’ story “that the Spirit executives intentionally misrepresented or reck-

lessly ignored economic realities,” and the defense story, which the court found
“more probable,” “that the Spirit executives were overly optimistic and failed to

give adequate weight to financial red flags.”264

Misrepresentations and omissions concerning drug tests. Turn now to two deci-
sions in the life sciences industry. Vertex Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Vertex”) devel-

oped and obtained FDA approval for Kalydeco, a drug to treat cystic fibrosis.265

Vertex then tested a combination therapy by which patients first received an-
other drug—VX 809—before beginning Kalydeco treatment.266 After receiving

interim results on about half the patients in second-phase trials,267 the company

put out a May 7, 2012 press release stating that “[o]f those who received [the
combination therapy], approximately 46 percent (17/37) experienced an abso-

lute improvement from baseline to Day 56 [of the trial period] in lung function

of 5 percentage points or more, and approximately 30 percent (11/37) experi-
enced an absolute improvement from baseline to Day 56 of 10 percentage points

or more.”268 The Chief Scientific Officer called the results “really, really fantas-

tic,” adding that he had “never seen anything like this”; the CEO talked about
“accelerating the development” of the combination therapy; and the Chief Com-

mercial Officer said that more than 70,000 patients could benefit from the ther-

apy, which could produce billions of dollars in revenue.269 The Vertex stock
price jumped from $37.41 (the close on Friday, May 4) to $58.12 (the close

on Monday, May 7), then continued to rise to $64.85 by May 25.270

On May 29, 2012, however, Vertex issued a press release stating that the May 7
release had been wrong due to a “misinterpretation” of the data that caused the

company to report numbers for absolute improvement that were actually num-

bers for relative improvement.271 When corrected, the interim results revealed
that only 35 percent of those receiving the combination treatment showed an ab-

solute improvement of 5 percent or more, and only 19 percent showed an abso-

plaintiff must demonstrate: (1) the defendant knew of the potentially material fact, and (2) the de-
fendant knew that failure to reveal the potentially material fact would likely mislead investors.”).
263. Spirit Aerosystems, 827 F.3d at 1238.
264. Id.
265. Local No. 8 IBEW Ret. Plan & Tr. v. Vertex Pharm., Inc., 838 F.3d 76, 78 (1st Cir. 2016).
266. Id.
267. Id. To obtain FDA approval for a drug, a company must put it through three clinical inves-

tigational phases. Id.
268. Id. The release added: “None of the patients treated with placebo (0/11) achieved a 5-percentage

point or more improvement from baseline to Day 56 in lung function.” Id.
269. Id. at 79.
270. Id.
271. Id.
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lute improvement of 10 percent or more.272 Vertex’s stock price declined from
$64.85 to $57.80.273 Investors who purchased between May 7 and May 29

brought a Rule 10b-5 claim against Vertex and several officers and directors,

most of whom had sold company stock during the class period.274

Affirming dismissal on the ground that the investors failed to plead facts rais-

ing a strong inference of scienter,275 the First Circuit rejected seven specific in-

vestors’ arguments that their allegations sufficed, as well as their contention that,
when viewed holistically, their pleading passed muster.276 First, the investors

claimed that Vertex should have been suspicious of the results it published on

May 7 because those inside the company knew that VX-809 generally degraded
Kalydeco performance instead of enhancing it—to which the First Circuit re-

sponded that this could not show scienter because the company “must have

thought that positive results were possible” since it “made the investment neces-
sary to design and perform a study testing the two drugs in combination.”277

Second, the investors claimed the results were suspicious because they did not

show a reduction in sweat chloride levels—which the plaintiffs called “the
‘gold standard’ in cystic fibrosis research” and which should have accompanied

the increase in lung function that the interim results purported to show—to

which the court responded that since the corrected results “reflected the same
phenomenon (improved FEV [measuring lung function] and steady sweat chlo-

ride levels), there is no reason given here to presume that scientists in general

must view the possibility of such results as obviously wrong.”278

Plaintiffs’ third and fourth arguments invoked what might be called rules of

thumb used in scienter pleading analysis. The third rested on the notion that,

since the clinical trial of the combined therapy was “very important to Vertex,”
the top executives presumptively would be paying attention to the results.279

The court of appeals reasoned, however, that this notion would only help the in-

vestors if the test results the top executives would be studying under this hypoth-
esis were themselves suspicious, and the complaint failed to plead facts showing

“that the announced results, on their face, contained . . . an obvious incongru-

ity.”280 Plaintiffs’ fourth argument depended on a presumption that “key facts”
known to lower level employees “are very likely known to senior management.”281

272. Id. at 79.
273. Id.
274. Id. at 79–80. The plaintiffs also sought to recover under section 20A of the Exchange Act (15

U.S.C. § 78t-1) for insider trading by the individual defendants who had sold Vertex stock during the
alleged fraud. Id.
275. Id. at 80, 86. Once the First Circuit held that the complaint did not adequately plead Rule

10b-5 fraud, it affirmed dismissal of the insider trading claim, as well as the control person claim, on
the ground that these were “derivative of [the] section 10(b) and Rule 10b–5 claim.” Id. at 86.
276. Id. at 81–86.
277. Id. at 81. The court added that “many studies of new pharmaceutical products result in sur-

prises, both good and bad.” Id. at 82.
278. Id. at 82.
279. Id. at 82–83.
280. Id. at 83.
281. Id.
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Again, however, the court found that the investors failed to plead the necessary
predicate to use of this rule, as they alleged neither (i) “that anybody at Vertex re-

sponsible for receiving, reviewing, and reporting the results had actually spotted

the error in the interpretation of the results before the discovery that led to the
second announcement” nor (ii) that the confusion of the absolute and relative

numbers in the raw data should have been apparent to the Vertex pulmonologist

who received the data from the third-party statistical analysis provider nor (iii) that
the results “were themselves so obviously suspect . . . that the defendants [who

allegedly had ‘access to the raw data’] were reckless in failing to consult the raw

data themselves for verification.”282

The investors sought to raise a scienter inference by, fifth, contending that

publication of interim results during a clinical trial was suspicious—a view

that the First Circuit found unconvincing because “the complaint nowhere al-
leges that the publication of interim results was anomalous.”283 The investors

pointed, sixth, to the defendants’ stock sales during the class period, suggesting

that these supplied a motive for fraud.284 The court of appeals was unconvinced
because (i) the plaintiffs did not allege that the CEO had sold any stock; (ii) he

had no incentive to publish false results that would have to be quickly corrected,

thereby embarrassing the company and damaging its credibility; (iii) one director
who sold during the class period did so in amounts and on a schedule consistent

with his sales before and after the alleged fraud; (iv) sales by the Chief Commer-

cial Officer were not suspicious given that that defendant “was not a scientist,”
making it unlikely that that defendant “knew more than the nonsellers”; and

(v) the sales were generally not suspicious because they occurred during a

surge in the company’s stock price following a prolonged period of steady or fall-
ing price—exactly when insiders would be expected to sell.285

Seventh and finally, the investors pointed to the retirement of the Chief Com-

mercial Officer on June 8, 2012, one day after a Senator had urged the SEC to
investigate whether Vertex executives had taken advantage of the stock price rise

between the May 7 and May 29 press releases.286 The First Circuit did not agree

that this personnel change suggested wrongdoing. While the retirement and the
Senator’s letter might well have been connected, this could have occurred only

because the officer’s “very large sales” created “a major embarrassment” for the

company, even “without any hint of fraud.”287

282. Id. (italics substituted for underlining by the court); see id. at 79 (referring to the conference
call in which Vertex explained that “[t]he error . . . stemmed from a ‘misinterpretation’ . . . [of] the
results Vertex had received from the third-party statistical analysis vendor”).
283. Id. at 83–84.
284. Id. at 84.
285. Id. at 84–85.
286. Id. at 85.
287. Id. The court also reasoned that, if this executive (who was a nonscientist) had been forced out

because her sales suggested wrongdoing to the company, the other sellers (some of whom were scien-
tists and who therefore had a better chance of interpreting the reported results as suspicious on the
investors’ various theories) would also have been pushed out, which did not happen. Id. at 85–86.
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Having rejected each of the plaintiffs’ disaggregated arguments individually,
the First Circuit then rejected their scienter pleading holistically, picking out

facts to weave a plausible alternative to fraud—namely that the company may

have been negligent in viewing very good results as being even better than
they in fact were.288

Significance and analysis. Vertex differs from many other life sciences cases

in which plaintiffs have been unsuccessful because courts concluded that the
plaintiffs complained only about the defendants’ judgment in selecting or apply-

ing a statistical technique to evaluate clinical results.289 In Vertex, the company’s

statements included a flat-out mistake. The company may have been saved
largely by the circumstance that the statistical analysis was performed by a

third-party vendor, and Vertex misinterpreted the third-party report.290 The

company did not create misleading numbers itself. It may have helped, as
well, that the company found the error and publicly corrected the results in

about three weeks, that the CEO did not sell stock during that brief window,

and that—even after correction—the clinical results showed that the drug
worked.291

In a second case from the life sciences industry, Schueneman v. Arena Pharma-

ceuticals, Inc., the defendants did not fare so well.292 Arena Pharmaceuticals
(“Arena”) developed a weight-loss drug called lorcaserin.293 Arena conducted

Phase III clinical trials on the drug from September 2006 to July 2009.294 During

this same period, Arena tested rats to determine whether lorcaserin caused can-
cer (the “Rat Study”).295 By February 2007, initial results suggested that the drug

did cause cancer in rats—though Arena believed this resulted from a hormone

called prolactin that would not respond to lorcaserin to cause cancer in
humans—and Arena reported these results to the FDA in May of that year.296

The FDA did not halt the ongoing Phase III clinical trials testing lorcaserin on

humans, but asked Arena to conduct further rat studies and asked for a report
on the prolactin levels in the test rats every other month—a combination of de-

cisions that the Arena CEO later characterized as “highly unusual.”297 In April

2008, Arena’s Chief Scientific Officer, Chief Medical Officer, and VP of Clinical
Development met with the FDA.298 The agency again decided to let the Phase III

tests continue, but required Arena to provide a draft of the final report on the Rat

288. Id. at 86.
289. See, e.g., In re Rigel Pharm., Inc. Sec. Litig., 697 F.3d 869, 878 (9th Cir. 2012) (“Plaintiff’s

allegations . . . concern two different judgments about the appropriate statistical methodology to
be used by Defendants. The allegations are not about false statements.”); id. at 886 (affirming dismis-
sal of Rule 10b-5 claim based on alleged fraudulent report of clinical test results).
290. Vertex, 838 F.3d at 79.
291. See supra text accompanying notes 271, 272 & 285.
292. 840 F.3d 698 (9th Cir. 2016).
293. Id. at 701.
294. Id.
295. Id.
296. Id.
297. Id. at 701 & n.2.
298. Id. at 702, 700 n.1 (providing the positions of the executives).
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Study.299 In February 2009, Arena assembled the final report, which concluded
that there was a connection between lorcaserin and cancer in the rats, but that

this was related to the prolactin hormone.300

At this point—from March through November 2009—the defendants made
the statements at the heart of the plaintiff’s case. On March 12, the Arena

CEO advised investors that he was confident of FDA approval in part based

on “all the animal studies that have been completed.”301 He signed an SEC filing
in May “represent[ing] that ‘the long-term safety and efficacy’ of lorcaserin had

been ‘demonstrated,’ in part, through ‘long-term preclinical toxicity and carcino-

genicity studies.’”302 On September 18, the Vice President of Clinical Develop-
ment stated on a call with shareholders “that Arena ‘ha[d] favorable results on

everything that we’ve compiled so far.’”303 The CEO told investors on November

10 that Arena had “all of the data in hand that [would] be included” in Arena’s
application to the FDA for lorcaserin, with the Chief Scientific Officer adding

“that ‘[a]s you can see from the data, we believe that lorcaserin is a game

changer’” and the Chief Medical Officer, William Shanahan, saying that “‘we’re
not expecting any surprises associated with the [FDA Committee].’”304

Arena submitted its lorcaserin application to the FDA in December 2009.305

But it also retained a famed toxicologist who specialized in carcinogenicity to an-
swer questions that an FDA Advisory Committee might have.306 To this point,

Arena had said nothing to the public about the Rat Study.307

The existence of that study became public on September 14, 2010, when the
FDA posted Advisory Panel briefing documents on its website.308 Analysts reacted

with alarm, and Arena’s stock price dropped by 40 percent in one day.309 While

Arena argued to the panel that the rats had received doses of lorcaserin 82 times
greater than dosages to humans and that the prolactin hormone provided the

mechanism for the cancer in the rats but would not do so in humans, the Advisory

Panel initially recommended against FDA approval for the drug.310

The FDA then denied approval but asked Arena for an independent review of

the Rat Study.311 The independent panel conducting that review “uniformly con-

cluded that Arena had overreported the incidents of tumors to the FDA.”312

Arena submitted a new application for lorcaserin.313 The Advisory Committee

299. Id. at 702.
300. Id.
301. Id. (emphasis omitted).
302. Id. (emphasis omitted).
303. Id. (emphasis omitted).
304. Id.
305. Id.
306. Id. at 703.
307. Id.
308. Id.
309. Id.
310. Id.
311. Id.
312. Id.
313. Id.
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“found that there was a high-enough safety margin for the drug and that the Pro-
lactin Hypothesis was a ‘plausible’ explanation for the rat cancer.”314 The FDA

approved the drug in June 2012.315

The Ninth Circuit reversed a district court dismissal of a Rule 10b-5 case
against Arena and its CEO, Chief Scientific Officer, Chief Medical Officer, and

VP of Clinical Development—a dismissal based on the lower court’s conclusion

“that Arena and the FDA were engaged in a good-faith scientific dispute regard-
ing the cause of the rat cancer and that, therefore, scienter was not adequately

pleaded.”316 The court of appeals held that, while Arena was free to make no

comment about animal studies, it was at least reckless in a Rule 10b-5 sense
in “representing that animal studies supported lorcaserin’s safety and therefore

its likelihood of being approved” without “inform[ing] the market about the

risk of non-approval or delayed approval based on the FDA’s ‘concerns’ about
the Rat Study.”317 As to scienter, the court cited to an FDA document stating

that “‘[Arena] was made aware of [the FDA’s] concerns’” at the time the agency

and the company discussed continuation of the Phase III clinical trial in spite of
the initial results from the Rat Study.318 Moreover, Arena was aware of the FDA’s

continuing concern because the company complied with FDA requests for more

data on the Rat Study, requests made at the April 2008 meeting between Arena
officers and the FDA.319 Further, the Arena CEO found it “highly unusual” that

the FDA determined to continue with the human trials after learning that the ini-

tial results from the Rat Study showed a connection between lorcaserin and can-
cer.320 And all of this happened before the period from March 12, 2009 through

November 10, 2009—during which Arena and its officers made the statements

that misled without disclosing the Rat Study and the concerns that the FDA had
developed as a result of that study.321 While “Arena had an explanation for its

view of the data,” that did “not mean investors would not want to know that

Arena and the FDA were at odds,” and Arena “could not represent that there
was no controversy here because all the data was favorable” since that was not

true.322

314. Id.
315. Id.
316. Id. at 701.
317. Id. at 707–08; id. at 708 (quoting the “deliberate recklessness” standard from Zucco Partners,

LLC v. Digimarc Corp., 552 F.3d 981, 991 (9th Cir. 2009)).
318. Id. at 708. While the court does not provide the date of the FDA document, the full passage—

“FDA documents note that ‘[Arena] was made aware of [the FDA’s] concerns’ and was asked to ‘defend
continuation’ of the clinical testing in light of the ‘nonclinical tumor/cancer data,’” id.—links this docu-
ment to the May 2007 to April 2008 period during which Arena advised the FDA of the Rat Study re-
sults, and the FDA decided to let the Phase III human trials proceed nevertheless. See supra text accom-
panying notes 296–99.
319. Arena Pharm., 840 F.3d at 708; see supra text accompanying notes 299–300.
320. Arena Pharm., 840 F.3d at 709; see supra text accompanying note 297.
321. See supra text accompanying notes 301–04, 307. The court added that Arena “obviously felt

the need to hire a pre-eminent expert to make the case that the Prolactin Hypothesis was supported”
and this “response to the issue contributes to an inference of scienter here.” Arena Pharm., 840 F.3d at
708.
322. Arena Pharm., 840 F.3d at 709.
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Significance and analysis. Arena is significant in part because the drug was
ultimately approved.323 The Rule 10b-5 violation lay in failing to disclose a con-

troversy with the FDA that was ultimately resolved in the drug manufacturer’s

favor. The court nevertheless accepted the plaintiff’s theory, which was “‘not
that Defendants intentionally misled the market about the objective safety of lor-

caserin [but] that Defendants intentionally withheld information material to the

market’s assessment of whether and when the FDA would likely approve lorca-
serin.’”324 The market reaction—dropping Arena’s stock price by 40 percent

when the Rat Study was disclosed by the FDA Advisory Committee briefing

documents—gives this theory some weight. Put another way and as in the Vivendi
case,325 facts that change the probability of a future event are important even

though later facts may change that probability again and move it in the opposite

direction—even to the point that the future event does not occur at all.
There are other decisions that suggest that a drug company need not report

every disagreement with the FDA during what is often a long and somewhat con-

tentious road to drug approval.326 While it may be hard sometimes to find the
line between which disagreements should be disclosed to investors and which

should not, counsel should closely monitor proposed statements by executives

that specifically discuss a matter on which the FDA is raising questions to
check whether those statements might mislead by omission.327

Reliance. In order to recover under Rule 10b-5, private plaintiffs must prove

that they relied on the defendant’s deceptive action.328 If they bought after a
public misrepresentation but before the truth came out and if they bought a se-

curity that traded in an efficient market, plaintiffs may use the rebuttable fraud-

on-the-market (“FOTM”) presumption, which assumes that they relied indirectly
on the misrepresentation because the price at which they bought impounded the

false information that the misrepresentation spread.329 Such presumed reliance

is critical to certification of a class under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3),
which requires that questions common to the class predominate over questions

individual to class members.330 If reliance on a misrepresentation must be proved

for each class member individually, that required predominance does not exist,
and the class cannot be certified.331

In 2014, the Supreme Court held that a plaintiff seeking to use the FOTM pre-

sumption to support class certification can satisfy the predicate that the security

323. Id. at 701.
324. Id. at 709 (quoting the plaintiff).
325. See infra text accompanying and following note 445.
326. See, e.g., the summary of Tongue v. Sanofi, infra notes 451–77 and accompanying text, par-

ticularly notes 460–64 and accompanying text; Kuyat v. BioMimetic Therapeutics, Inc., 747 F.3d
435, 443 (6th Cir. 2014).
327. For one other life sciences case in which the court affirmed dismissal of a Rule 10b-5 case

based on allegations that the defendants misrepresented facts relating to the approval of a drug,
see In re Ariad Pharm., Inc. Sec. Litig., 842 F.3d 744 (1st Cir. 2016).
328. Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, 552 U.S. 148, 159 (2008).
329. Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc., 134 S. Ct. 2398, 2408 (2014) [Halliburton 2014].
330. Erica P. John Fund, Inc. v. Halliburton Co., 563 U.S. 804, 809–11 (2011).
331. Halliburton 2014, supra note 329, at 2407–08, 2416.
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“traded in an efficient market”332 by showing that the market for that security
was “generally efficient”333 through event studies demonstrating “that the market

price of the . . . [security] tends to respond to pertinent publicly reported

events.”334 But the defendants, in opposing certification, can seek to rebut
that presumption, with their own event study, by showing that neither the al-

leged misrepresentation nor the correction of that misrepresentation impacted

the security’s price.335 In 2016, the Eighth Circuit ruled on defense rebuttal ef-
forts during a fight over class certification, with the rebuttal focused on one of

two statements made within hours of each other.336 The Second Circuit ruled

on rebuttal efforts in a trial on the merits, finding that the defendant proved
that the plaintiff would have bought the security even if the plaintiff had

known the truth.337

Rebutting reliance on the second of two statements made within hours of each other.
The Eighth Circuit addressed rebuttal of the FOTM presumption in IBEW Local

98 Pension Fund v. Best Buy Co.338 At 8:00 AM on September 14, 2010—before

trading began—a Best Buy press release announced that the company was in-
creasing its guidance range for full-fiscal year earnings per share (“eps”) to

$3.55–$3.70.339 The stock, which had closed at $34.65 on the day before,

opened at $37.25.340 During a conference call with analysts that began at
10:00 AM on that same day, Best Buy’s CFO said (i) “we are pleased that our

earnings are essentially in line with our original expectations for the year” and

(ii) “we are pleased that we are on track to deliver and exceed our annual EPS
guidance.”341 Best Buy stock closed on September 14 at $36.73.342 At 8:00 AM

on December 14, a Best Buy press release announced a decline in the third-quarter

fiscal year sales and a reduction in the company’s guidance range for the full fiscal
year to $3.20–$3.40 eps.343 The company’s stock price declined from its Decem-

ber 13 close at $41.70 to $35.52 on December 14.344

Investors brought a Rule 10b-5 action alleging that statements in the Septem-
ber 14, 2010 press release and statements in the conference call on that day were

fraudulent.345 The district court dismissed the claim insofar as it was based on

the press release on the grounds that the statements in that release were forward-
looking and inactionable because they were accompanied by meaningful cau-

332. Id. at 2413.
333. Id. at 2414.
334. Id. at 2415.
335. Id. at 2414–16.
336. See infra notes 338–57 and accompanying text.
337. See infra notes 358–70 and accompanying text.
338. 818 F.3d 775 (8th Cir. 2016).
339. Id. at 777.
340. Id.
341. Id. (emphasis by the court) (quoting CFO).
342. Id.
343. Id.
344. Id. at 778.
345. Id. at 776–77, 778.
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tionary language.346 This left—after the motion to dismiss—only the two state-
ments quoted above from the conference call.347 The district court certified a

Rule 23(b)(3) class as to those statements.348

The Eighth Circuit reversed the certification order,349 holding that the defen-
dants had rebutted the FOTM presumption.350 The defense expert presented an

event study that “found that the price increase on September 14 occurred after

the press release but before the call . . . [and a]s the price before the call was al-
most identical to the September 14 closing price, . . . the ‘on track’ and ‘in line’

conference call statements ‘had no discernible impact on Best Buy’s stock

price.’”351 The plaintiffs’ expert—who had initially offered an event study con-
cluding that the price of Best Buy stock had increased in reaction to both the

September 14, 2010 press release and the comments in the conference but

did not differentiate between the impact of the release and the call352—then pro-
vided a revised opinion.353 In that revised opinion, the plaintiffs’ expert con-

cluded “that the ‘economic substance’ of the non-fraudulent press release state-

ments and the alleged misrepresentations in the immediately following
conference call was ‘virtually the same,’ and that the two ‘would have been ex-

pected to be interpreted similarly by investors.’”354 His “event study showed

that the forward-looking EPS guidance in the press release had an immediate im-
pact on the [Best Buy] market price, whereas the confirming statements in the

conference call two hours later had no additional price impact.”355 The court

of appeals took this as “direct evidence that investors did not rely on the exec-
utives’ confirming statements two hours later.”356 Accordingly, the defendants—

using both the opinion of their expert and the opinion of the plaintiffs’ expert—

had “rebutted the [FOTM] presumption” that plaintiffs had employed “to satisfy
the predominance requirement of Rule 23(b)(3), and the district court accord-

ingly abused its discretion by certifying the class.”357

Rebutting reliance by showing the plaintiff would have bought even knowing the truth.
In GAMCO v. Vivendi Universal, S.A., the Second Circuit also considered how to

rebut the FOTM presumption, but in this case during a trial on the merits.358

The plaintiffs (collectively, “GAMCO”) were “so-called ‘value investors’ who

346. Id. at 778; see 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5(c)(1)(A)(i) (2012).
347. Best Buy Co., 818 F.3d at 778.
348. Id. at 777, 778–79.
349. Id. at 783.
350. Id. at 782–83.
351. Id. at 779.
352. Id.
353. Id.
354. Id. at 782.
355. Id.
356. Id.
357. Id. at 783. Best Buy was a two-to-one decision. The dissenting judge argued that the majority

had not addressed the plaintiffs’ theory that the confirming statements in the conference call “main-
tained Best Buy’s stock price at its inflated level.” Id. at 784 (Murphy, J., dissenting).
358. 838 F.3d 214 (2d Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 1104 (2017) (No. 16-818) (mem.).

860 The Business Lawyer; Vol. 72, Summer 2017



make their own estimation of the value of a publicly-traded company’s securities
and attempt to buy such securities when the market price is lower than [GAMCO’s]

own valuation, betting that the market price will rise over time.”359 GAMCO

brought a Rule 10b-5 claim against Vivendi for the latter’s failure to disclose its li-
quidity problems, which—when the market learned of them—drove Vivendi’s se-

curities prices down.360 Vivendi won a bench trial against GAMCO by proving to

the district court’s satisfaction “that GAMCO would have purchased Vivendi secu-
rities even had it known of Vivendi’s alleged fraud.”361 Finding that the evidence

was sufficient to support the district court’s findings and therefore that the district

court had not clearly erred, the Second Circuit affirmed that judgment.362

GAMCO’s investment strategy consisted of finding stocks: (i) with a Private

Market Value (“PMV” or the amount “that an informed industrialist would be

willing to pay for [the company], if each of its segments were valued indepen-
dently in a private market sale,” also called by GAMCO the “‘intrinsic’” value

of the company) above the current market price and (ii) issued by companies

likely to experience a “catalyst” event that would “cause the market to recognize
th[e] discrepancy [between the intrinsic value of the company’s stock and the

market price] in the next two to five years.”363 In this case, the GAMCO analyst

calculating Vivendi’s PMV “testified that, once he learned of the liquidity crisis at
Vivendi (as the fraud came to light), the knowledge of the liquidity problems had

no ‘impact [on his] PMV calculation,’ as he believed those problems constituted

‘a short-term issue . . . [s]omething that could be solved within a year or so.’”364

This supported the trial judge’s “conclusion that, if GAMCO had known of the

liquidity problems and their concealment, GAMCO would still have believed Vi-

vendi’s PMV to be “materially higher” than the public market price.”365 Similarly,
the liquidity problems would not have changed GAMCO’s belief that a catalyst

event would occur at Vivendi, as those problems would have increased “the po-

tential for a change in management.”366

GAMCO nevertheless argued that, had it known of the liquidity issues at the

time of its initial purchases, it would not have bought at that time, but waited

until the liquidity facts surfaced and drove the price down—thereby providing

359. Id. at 216.
360. Id.
361. Id. at 216, 218. In 2014, the Supreme Court had foreclosed the argument that value investors

could not rely on the FOTM presumption because they base their investment strategy on the assump-
tion that the market price does not effectively impound available information. Halliburton 2014, supra
note 329, at 2410–11. While the GAMCO district court “indeed found that GAMCO [did] not nec-
essarily consider the market price to be an efficient reflection of the objective value of a security at any
given time,” that court “explicitly disclaimed any reading of its opinion as suggesting that this fact was
sufficient, on its own, to rebut the [FOTM] presumption.” GAMCO, 838 F.3d at 218.
362. GAMCO, 838 F.3d at 223.
363. Id. at 220; id. at 218 (explaining PMV).
364. Id. at 220.
365. Id.
366. Id. at 221. In reaching this conclusion, the district court relied in part on evidence that

GAMCO continued buying Vivendi stock even after the liquidity problems came out. Id. at 220.

Caselaw Developments 861



GAMCO with the opportunity to purchase at a price giving it an even greater
profit when the market price eventually aligned with the PMV.367 The Second

Circuit held that the district court had not clearly erred in rejecting this conten-

tion on the grounds that (i) “GAMCO, [if it had been] privy to this information
prior to its relevant purchases, would have believed it possible that the crisis

would pass without incident or public revelation, or at minimum be[en] uncer-

tain as to just how the market would value the crisis were it to come to light” and
(ii) GAMCO might have feared that revelation of the problems would prompt the

catalyst event, such as a change in management, that would bring the stock price

close to the intrinsic value and therefore prevent purchasing at a discount to in-
trinsic value at all.368

Significance and analysis. The Supreme Court’s 2014 opinion declined an

invitation to jettison the FOTM presumption altogether on the ground that con-
siderable economic analysis has called it into question.369 But the Court’s invi-

tation to rebut the presumption370 has emboldened defense counsel to do just

that. We can expect many more decisions in coming years that pursue such re-
buttals with invention and vigor.

Loss causation. To recover damages in a Rule 10b-5 case, a plaintiff must

plead and prove that the defendant’s fraud caused the plaintiff’s loss.371 A plain-
tiff may prove loss causation by showing a decline in the price of the relevant

security when the truth becomes public (in a misrepresentation case) or when

the omitted material facts become public (in an omissions case).372 In the patois
of loss causation, the revelation of the truth or the omitted fact is accomplished

by a “corrective disclosure.”373 Alternatively, a plaintiff may prove loss causation

367. Id. at 221.
368. Id. at 222.
369. Halliburton 2014, supra note 329, at 2408–13 (addressing Halliburton’s various arguments for

abandoning the FOTM presumption, including the contention that economic thought no longer sup-
ports it).
370. Though all in the context of class certification, the following surely suggests that a defendant

can challenge the FOTM presumption in a trial on the merits:

Price impact is thus an essential precondition for any Rule 10b-5 class action. While Basic
[which recognized the FOTM presumption] allows plaintiffs to establish that precondition indi-
rectly, it does not require courts to ignore a defendant’s direct, more salient evidence showing
that the alleged misrepresentation did not actually affect the stock’s market price and, conse-
quently, that the Basic presumption does not apply.

Id. at 2416.
371. Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341 (2005); 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(4) (2012).
372. Dura, 544 U.S. at 344 (“[T]he Restatement of Torts, in setting forth the judicial consensus,

says that a person who ‘misrepresents the financial condition of a corporation in order to sell its stock’
becomes liable to a relying purchaser ‘for the loss’ the purchaser sustains ‘when the facts . . . become
generally known’ and ‘as a result’ share value ‘depreciate[s].’ § 548A, Comment b, at 107.” (alteration
in original)).
373. Lloyd v. CVB Fin. Corp., 811 F.3d 1200, 1209 (9th Cir. 2016) (“The burden of pleading loss

causation is typically satisfied by allegations that the defendant revealed the truth through ‘corrective
disclosures’ which ‘caused the company’s stock price to drop and investors to lose money.’” (quoting
Halliburton 2014, supra note 329, at 2406)).
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by some event that drops the price of the stock, does not reveal the facts of the
fraud, but occurs because the risks that the fraud concealed materialized.374

In 2016, the Eighth Circuit affirmed use of loss causation analysis to narrow a

class period.375 The Ninth Circuit held that disclosure of a government investi-
gation can constitute a corrective disclosure—if it is followed by a stock price

decline and understood by the market to relate to the alleged fraud and if the

issuer then makes a subsequent disclosure that relates to the alleged fraud and
that subsequent disclosure is not followed by a stock price drop—because

such a sequence suggests that the market discounted the stock for the fraud

after the announcement of the investigation.376 The Sixth Circuit formally recog-
nized materialization of risk as an acceptable theory of loss causation.377 And the

Second Circuit affirmed a plaintiffs’ verdict in a case in which the risk never fully

materialized but the defendants’ actions concealed the degree of risk.378

Class period not extended by statement that does not cause further loss. In Rand-

Heart of New York, Inc. v. Dolan, the Eighth Circuit affirmed dismissal of a

Rule 10b-5 claim in part and in a way that narrowed the class period.379 The
plaintiff alleged that a company misled investors during the period August 1,

2013 through January 2, 2014,380 “by concealing information about the lack

of new Bank of America work[, the largest customer of the issuer’s subsidiary
called DiscoverReady,381] and the need to restructure.”382 But, on August 1,

2013, the company had stated in a Form 10-Q for its second quarter that it

“must increase revenue and eliminate costs to achieve and maintain positive op-
erating margins,” that it was “probable that the Company will be unable to com-

ply with certain of its financial covenants in its senior secured credit facility as

measured on the last day of the third quarter of 2013,” that it was “currently
in discussions with its lenders regarding resetting the financial covenants appli-

cable to the third quarter and future periods,” that a failure to comply with the

covenants “may result in an event of default,” and that if it was “unable to repay
[its] indebtedness, the banks could foreclose on [company] assets.”383 And, on

374. See Nuveen Mun. High Income Opportunity Fund v. City of Alameda, Cal., 730 F.3d 1111,
1120 (9th Cir. 2013), where the court stated:

Disclosure of the fraud is not a sine qua non of loss causation, which may be shown even where
the alleged fraud is not necessarily revealed prior to the economic loss. The “materialization of
the risk” approach, adopted by some circuits, recognizes loss causation where a plaintiff shows
that “misstatements and omissions concealed the price-volatility risk (or some other risk) that
materialized and played some part in diminishing the market value” of a security. Lentell v. Mer-
rill Lynch & Co., Inc., 396 F.3d 161, 176–77 (2d Cir. 2005); see also Ray [v. Citigroup Global
Mkts., Inc.], 482 F.3d [991,] 995 [(7th Cir. 2007)].

Id.
375. See infra notes 379–92 and accompanying text.
376. See infra notes 393–407 and accompanying text.
377. See infra notes 408–17 and accompanying text.
378. See infra notes 418–45 and accompanying text.
379. 812 F.3d 1172, 1174, 1179–80 (8th Cir. 2016).
380. Id. at 1176.
381. Id. at 1174.
382. Id. at 1179.
383. Id. at 1175.
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November 12, 2013, the company issued a press release and filed a Form 10-Q
with its third-quarter financial results, with the 10-Q stating “that the decline in

revenue ‘exceeded our expectations,’ largely due to ‘a reduction in new work

from [DiscoverReady’s] largest customer, a reduction that we identified towards
the end of the quarter.’”384 The company further stated that “the reduction ‘re-

sulted from the customer’s evaluation of [our] financial condition’”385 and “re-

ported an amended credit agreement, requiring $50 million more in cash
‘through one or more liquidity transactions separate from its operating activities,

such as a sale of assets or issuance of equity or subordinated debt, by March 31,

2014. . . .’”386 The company’s stock price dropped from a November 11 close at
$2.08 to $1.05 on November 12 and to $0.90 on November 13, 2013.387

While the stock price lost $0.14 after a January 2, 2014 press release—

in which the company announced appointment of a Chief Restructuring
Officer388—the court held that the plaintiff failed to show that the alleged

fraud caused that further decline.389 The Eighth Circuit observed that “[n]othing

in the January 2 press release corrects previous misrepresentations.”390 Instead,
the press release “elaborate[d] on [a] previously disclosed plan to restructure.”391

Accordingly, the court of appeals held that, although the district court had mis-

takenly dismissed the case as a whole, it had not erred “in finding no loss cau-
sation for the period between November 12 and January 2.”392

Disclosure of government investigation as a corrective statement. In Lloyd v. CVB

Financial Corp., the Ninth Circuit faced the recurring problem of whether the an-
nouncement of a government investigation, followed by an immediate stock

price drop, can constitute a corrective disclosure.393 The plaintiff alleged that

the defendant financial institution (“CVB”) violated Rule 10b-5 by making a va-
riety of representations—including “that there was no basis for ‘serious doubt’

about [its largest borrower’s] ability to repay its borrowings”—that were false be-

cause that borrower had told CVB that the borrower would have to file for bank-
ruptcy unless its loans were modified and never thereafter came current on its

debt.394

384. Id. (alteration in original).
385. Id.
386. Id. at 1179.
387. Id. at 1175–76.
388. Id. at 1176.
389. Id. at 1180.
390. Id.
391. Id. The company had disclosed the plan on August 1, 2013, in a Form 10-Q that announced

a net loss of $4.62/share for the second quarter and included the language quoted in the text accom-
panying supra note 383.
392. Id. at 1180.
393. Lloyd v. CVB Fin. Corp., 811 F.3d 1200, 1209–11 (9th Cir. 2016).
394. Id. at 1202, 1203–04. The trial court dismissed on the grounds that the complaint did not

adequately allege (i) any “knowingly or recklessly false” statements by CVB or the two individual de-
fendants and (ii) loss causation. Id. at 1202. The text discusses loss causation.
As to scienter and falsity, the Ninth Circuit reversed as to some statements and affirmed as to the

rest. The complaint alleged that the critical meeting—at which the debtor advised the defendants that
the debtor would file for bankruptcy unless its debts were modified—occurred in the first part of
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The plaintiff averred that CVB’s second quarter Form 10-Q filing on August 9,
2010 disclosed that the SEC had served a subpoena on CVB “request[ing] infor-

mation regarding [its] loan underwriting guidelines, [its] allowance for credit

losses and [its] allowance for loan loss calculation methodology, [its] methodol-
ogy for grading loans and the process for making provisions for loan losses, and

[its] provision for credit losses.”395 CVB’s stock price dropped 22 percent the fol-

lowing day,396 but the trial court ruled—in dismissing the case—“that the an-
nouncement of the subpoena could not constitute a corrective disclosure.”397 Re-

versing in part,398 the Ninth Circuit acknowledged that it had held in 2014 “that

‘the announcement of an investigation, “standing alone and without any subse-
quent disclosure of actual wrongdoing, does not reveal to the market the perti-

nent truth of anything, and therefore does not qualify as a corrective disclo-

sure.”’”399 The court of appeals relied on the different context here and the

January 2010. Id. at 1203. Thereafter, CVB filed a Form 10-K on March 4, in which it listed non-
performing and past-due loans (without including the debtor on the list) and stated “that CVB
was ‘not aware of any other loans as of December 31, 2009 for which known credit problems of
the borrower would cause serious doubts as to the ability of such borrowers to comply with their
loan repayment terms.’” Id. at 1204. CVB made substantially the same statement—following a list
of bad loans on which the debtor did not appear—in its first quarter Form 10-Q, filed on May
10, 2010, with this statement as of March 10, 2010. Id. at 1204, 1208. The Ninth Circuit held
that the debtor’s statement in January 2010 put “CVB . . . on notice of facts that would reasonably
give rise to ‘serious doubts’ about [the debtor’s] ability to repay.” Id. at 1208. Allegations of the debt-
or’s statement at that early 2010 meeting therefore adequately pled both falsity and scienter as to the
10-Q, which by its terms covered a time period after the meeting. Id. at 1208–09. As to the 10-K,
which spoke only as of the end of 2009, the Ninth Circuit allowed that the 10-K statement “[t]ech-
nically . . . may have been true,” but by the time CVB filed the 10-K on March 4, 2010, it “had known
for two months that there was a basis for serious doubts about the ability of [its] largest borrower . . .
to repay [and t]he omission of that fact, combined with the reassurance that everything was fine as of
December 31, 2009, meets the pleading standard for a material omission.” Id. at 1209.
The Ninth Circuit, however, agreed with the district court that the complaint did not allege fraud

with respect to the same no “serious doubts” language in a Form 10-Q that the financial institution
filed in November 2009 because, at that time, the debtor “had been current on its loans for about a
year.” Id. at 1207. Moreover, CVB had extended additional loan money to the debtor in both March
and September 2009, which suggested that CVB did not have “serious doubts” about its ability to
collect on the loans then. Id. at 1208. And, of course, CVB filed the November 2009 10-Q before
the January 2010 meeting.
The court of appeals also affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the complaint to the extent that it

relied on inactionable “puffery”—“that ‘[t]he overall credit quality of the loan portfolio is sound’;
‘CVB’s credit metrics are superior’ to those of its peers; ‘strong credit culture and underwriting integ-
rity remain paramount at CVB’; and CVB’s culture has ‘limited its exposure to problem credits.’” Id. at
1206–07. The court further found no misrepresentation in the CVB’s characterization of “the South-
ern California real estate market in several SEC filings simply as a ‘risk factor’ that ‘could’ affect the
ability of loan customers to repay ‘in the future.’” Id. at 1207. Although the plaintiffs contended “that
[the] risk had already come to fruition,” the institution’s statement did not mislead in context, be-
cause it was “accompanied by information about CVB’s credit losses and charge-offs and a warning
that ‘[w]e may be required to make additional provisions for loan losses and charge off additional
loans in the future.’” Id.
395. Id. at 1204.
396. Id.
397. Id. at 1209.
398. Id. at 1211. As set out in supra note 394, the Ninth Circuit held that the plaintiff alleged fal-

sity and scienter as to two statements.
399. Id. at 1209–10 (quoting Loos v. Immersion Corp., 762 F.3d 880, 890 n.3 (9th Cir. 2014)

(quoting Meyer v. Greene, 710 F.3d 1189, 1201 n.13 (11th Cir. 2013))).

Caselaw Developments 865



sequence of events to qualify that rule.400 Following the August 9 announce-
ment, CVB’s stock not only declined but “various analysts perceived the sub-

poena to be related to CVB’s alleged misstatements about [the large borrower’s]

ability to repay.”401 CVB then on September 9 announced that (i) the large bor-
rower could not pay its loans, (ii) CVB was charging off $34 million of the loans

and classifying the residual $48 million as nonperforming, and (iii) discounting

to zero the value of its security interest in fifteen properties securing the large
borrower’s debt.402 The circumstance that the market did not move CVB’s

stock price on that disclosure403 “indicate[d] that the earlier 22% drop reflected,

at least in part, the market’s concerns about the [large borrower’s] loans.”404

Taken together, this pled “‘a causal connection between the material misrepre-

sentation and the [22%] loss.’”405

Significance and analysis. The 2014 Ninth Circuit opinion “left open
whether the announcement of an investigation can ‘form the basis for a viable

loss causation theory’ if the complaint also alleges a subsequent corrective disclo-

sure by the defendant.”406 In CVB, the court relied on the circumstance that the
subsequent disclosure did not move the price of the defendant’s stock, while the

earlier disclosure of the investigation did, to conclude that the announcement of

the investigation was itself a corrective disclosure. It is worth noting that the SEC
investigation produced “no formal agency proceedings . . . against CVB.”407

Materialization of risk as loss causation. As an alternative to pleading loss cau-

sation by a decline in market price upon disclosure of the truth behind a misrep-
resentation or the facts behind an omission, “a plaintiff may allege ‘proximate

cause on the ground that negative investor inferences,’ drawn from a particular

event or disclosure, ‘caused the loss and were a foreseeable materialization of the
risk concealed by the fraudulent statement.’”408 The Sixth Circuit recognized this

alternative method last year in Ohio Public Employees Retirement System v. Federal

Home Loan Mortgage Corp.409

The plaintiff alleged that the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Fred-

die Mac”) and individual officers there “concealed [Freddie Mac’s] overextension

in the nontraditional mortgage market—generally composed of instruments

400. Id. at 1210.
401. Id. at 1210–11. In particular, Dow Jones wrote that “[d]iscussion of CVB Financial centers on

its largest exposure” and identified the large borrower by name. Id. at 1204. Credit Suisse said “that
the investigation appeared to pertain to the adequacy of CVB’s reserves, including those for its largest
borrower . . . and the adequacy of CVB’s disclosures.” Id.
402. Id. at 1205.
403. The stock price declined the next day from $7.05 to a $6.99 close. Id.
404. Id. at 1211.
405. Id. (quoting Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 342 (2005)).
406. Id. at 1210 (quoting Loos v. Immersion Corp., 762 F.3d 880, 890 n.3 (9th Cir. 2014)).
407. Id. at 1205.
408. Ohio Pub. Emps. Ret. Sys. v. Fed. Home Loan Mortg. Corp., 830 F.3d 376, 384–85 (6th Cir.

2016) (quoting In re Omnicom Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 597 F.3d 501, 511 (2d Cir. 2010)).
409. Id. at 385 (citing cases from the D.C. Circuit and the Third, Fourth, Fifth, Seventh, Eighth,

Ninth, and Tenth Circuits) (“[W]e join our fellow circuits in recognizing the viability of alternative
theories of loss causation and apply materialization of the risk in this case.”).
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known as subprime mortgages or low credit and high risk instruments—and its
materially deficient underwriting, risk management, and fraud detection practices

through misstatements and omissions to investors” during a class period from Au-

gust 1, 2006 and November 20, 2007.410 The quality of the mortgages that Fred-
die Mac purchased, guaranteed, and bundled into securities declined, the plaintiff

alleged, because (i) “[a]s Freddie Mac’s purchase pace outgrew its own underwrit-

ing capabilities, it increasingly relied on the underwriting systems of third parties,
which routinely assigned artificially high quality designations to loans that would

have been considered subprime if internally underwritten”; (ii) the exceptions

Freddie Mac granted to its own underwriting standards “became so common
that a Director of Credit Risk Policy inquired, ‘Why do we even have a credit

risk policy if we allow more exceptions than we have compliance?’”; and (iii) its

“antiquated evaluative software and fraud detection measures . . . could not
keep up with the changes to Freddie Mac’s portfolio.”411

Freddie Mac allegedly concealed the degradation in its portfolio by, for exam-

ple, saying in its 2007 second quarter report that “approximately $2 billion, or
0.1 percent . . . of loans underlying our single-family mortgage portfolio, at

June 30, 2007 . . . were classified as subprime mortgage loans”—a statement

based on what the plaintiff called “a ‘deceptive[ly]’ narrow definition of sub-
prime” and one that contrasted with Freddie Mac’s internal classification of

about $182 billion of its single-family credit guarantee portfolio as “Caution

Loans” (loans with such high risk markers that they had to be approved by man-
ual, as opposed to automated, underwriting) and “Expanded Approval” loans

(either low-quality loans from Fannie Mae or loans made by “banks known

for poor loan quality”).412 As another example, Freddie Mac stated in June
2007 that only 10 percent of its portfolio consisted of reduced documentation

Alt-A loans when, according to the plaintiff, such loans comprised 29 percent

of the single-family loans held by Freddie Mac.413

To allege loss causation, the plaintiff pointed to the 29 percent decline in Fred-

die Mac’s stock price following the company’s November 20, 2007 report of third

quarter results, which showed a $2 billion loss on mortgage investments—and
also revealed substantial exposure to nontraditional, low-quality mortgages and

high risk of substantial loss to about $200 billion of the company’s $700 billion

loan portfolio.414 The court rejected the defense arguments that (i) Freddie Mac
had disclosed the risk earlier and (ii) the plaintiff needed to plead facts to show

410. Id. at 379.
411. Id. at 380–81.
412. Id. at 381; id. at 380 (explaining Caution Loans and Expanded Approval Loans). Individual

defendant Richard Syron, the Freddie Mac CEO, also said in about May 2007 that, at the end of 2006,
Freddie Mac “‘had basically no subprime exposure in our guarantee business.’” Id. at 387 (emphasis by
the court) (quoting complaint). Individual defendant Patricia Cook, the Freddie Mac Chief Business
Officer and Executive Vice President for Investments and Capital Markets, repeated this representa-
tion shortly thereafter at the Lehman Brothers Tenth Annual Financial Services Conference. Id.
413. Id. at 381.
414. Id. at 382, 388.
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that the stock decline was not caused by the credit crisis overall.415 The Sixth Cir-
cuit found sufficient, for pleading loss causation, the plaintiff’s “conclu[sion] that

the 29% loss in stock price that occurred on November 20, 2007, when Freddie

Mac disclosed a loss of $2 billion, is ‘directly attributable to the market’s reaction to
revelations of the nature, extent, and impact of the fraud at Freddie Mac.’”416 Ac-

cordingly, the court of appeals reversed the district court dismissal of the com-

plaint, which was based on failure to adequately plead loss causation.417

Loss caused by failure to disclose risk that does not fully materialize. After a jury

verdict for the investors who purchased Vivendi, S.A. (“Vivendi”) ADRs from Oc-

tober 30, 2002 to August 14, 2002—with the jury specifically finding that Vi-
vendi had violated Rule 10b-5 in making fifty-seven misrepresentations and

the trial court granting the defense motion for judgment as a matter of law on

one of them—the Second Circuit affirmed the district court’s denial of judgment
as a matter of law on the remaining fifty-six in an opinion that made significant

holdings on both “price impact” for purpose of applying the FOTM presumption

and loss causation.418 The case centered on Vivendi’s statements as the company
transformed itself from a water supplier to an entertainment, telecommunica-

tions, and media giant.419 During that time, Vivendi made positive assertions

about its financial condition—particularly its cash and EBITDA—while, in
fact, its massive borrowing in order to acquire companies in new industries gen-

erated severe liquidity problems.420 Some of the misrepresentations referred to

415. Id. at 385, 388. As to the first argument, the court found that the language to which the de-
fendants pointed to show that they had disclosed risk—such as that “we have increased our partic-
ipation in nontraditional mortgage market products,” the “product mix affects the credit risk profile
of our Total mortgage portfolio,” and Freddie Mac “expect[ed] [certain] . . . products to default more
often than traditional products”—was insufficient to reveal the internal problems at Freddie Mac,
such as that the company gave excessive exceptions to underwriting criteria in order to buy nonqua-
lifying loans and used outdated evaluation and fraud detection software. Id. at 385–86. As to the sec-
ond argument:

[The plaintiff] need only allege sufficient facts to support a plausible claim—not the most likely—
at this stage. See [Bell Atl. Corp. v.] Twombly, 550 U.S. [544,] 570 [(2007)]. Having considered “the
relationship between the risks allegedly concealed and the risks that subsequently materialized,” as
well as the close correlation between the alleged revelation or materialization of the risk and the
immediate fall in stock price, we conclude that it has done so.

Id. at 388 (alternate citation for Twombly omitted and citation at conclusion of quotation omitted).
416. Id. at 388 (quoting plaintiff). Put another way, the disclosure of (i) the actual loss and po-

tential further losses and (ii) Freddie Mac’s exposure to nontraditional, low-quality mortgages re-
sulted from realization of the risks created by Freddie Mac’s defective underwriting process, and
the market’s reaction to the loss, potential further loss, and exposure to high-risk loans was therefore
caused by the failure to disclose the defective underwriting process at an earlier time.
417. Id. at 379, 388.
418. In re Vivendi, S.A. Sec. Litig., 838 F.3d 223 (2d Cir. 2016); id. at 232 (Rule 10b-5 claim); id.

at 238 (brought against Vivendi and two officers); id. at 239 (verdict against Vivendi only and on fifty-
seven statements, with judgment as a matter of law for defendants on one); id. at 238 (class period); In
re Vivendi Universal, S.A. Sec. Litig., 765 F. Supp. 2d 512, 533–34 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (class consisted
of ADR purchasers).
419. Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 232.
420. Id. at 234–35. The Second Circuit rejected the company’s argument on appeal that the plain-

tiffs had tried the case on an impermissibly general notion that Vivendi had failed to disclose its li-
quidity condition. Id. at 239–42. The court sent the case to the jury with a verdict form asking that

868 The Business Lawyer; Vol. 72, Summer 2017



the company’s “high EBITDA growth,” which was “misleading for omission to
disclose Vivendi’s liquidity risk” because Vivendi’s use of purchase accounting

(a required technique) distorted EBITDA through “one-time paper adjustments

that cannot readily translate into free cash flow.”421

The plaintiffs presented an expert who testified on loss causation and dam-

ages.422 The jury determined, for each day of the class period, the dollar amount

by which the security prices were inflated.423 On appeal, Vivendi challenged
both the admission of the expert’s testimony and sufficiency of the evidence

to prove loss causation.424 The expert used event study analysis to find days

on which Vivendi’s stock experienced returns that differed, in a statistically sig-
nificant way, from those predicted by a model (“residual returns”), determined

on which of those dates information about Vivendi’s liquidity appeared, and

found ten such dates—on nine of which the stock experienced a negative resid-
ual return and on one of which the stock experienced a positive residual re-

turn.425 The net total negative residual return constituted “the maximum loss

that investors suffered due to the market’s lack of knowledge about Vivendi’s
true liquidity risk, which is to say the maximum artificial inflation that entered

Vivendi’s stock price and subsequently dissipated as the market found out about

the truth.”426 Since the liquidity problem grew over time, as Vivendi acquired
ever more media and communications companies and paid for the acquisitions

with ever more debt, the “liquidity-related inflation” in the stock price also grew

so that “[a]scribing the full value amount of loss to the very first alleged misstate-
ment would . . . tend to overstate the degree to which Vivendi’s stock was in-

flated due to the market’s lack of knowledge about Vivendi’s true liquidity

risk, at least toward the beginning of the Class Period.”427 To adjust for this com-
plexity, and in light of the circumstance that there was no stock market number

that would untangle it, the expert used—as a proxy for the amount of the infla-

the jury determine whether the plaintiffs had proven a Rule 10b-5 claim on each of fifty-seven state-
ments, and the jury found against the company specifically on all fifty-seven statements, with the trial
court then ruling that Vivendi was not liable as to one. Id. at 238–39, 241–42. To the defense argu-
ment that the fifty-seven statements did not map completely to the complaint, the court responded
that the special pleading rules applicable to private Rule 10b-5 complaints, including 15 U.S.C.
§ 78u-4(b)(1), “nowhere binds such plaintiffs to the precise set of alleged misstatements identified
in their complaint throughout the entire course of litigation.” Id. at 242 n.11 (record citations omit-
ted). The court added that all fifty-seven statements sent to the jury were either identified in the first
amended consolidated complaint, plaintiffs’ interrogatory responses, or their expert reports. Id. And,
overall, the court “conclude[d] that there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find the fifty-six rel-
evant statements materially false or misleading in regards to Vivendi’s true liquidity risk.” Id. at 250.
421. Id. at 251. Further, the CFO on September 15, 2000, recognized in an email “that ‘the an-

alysts will not have it easy to track the purchase accounting benefits’ in EBITDA figures.” Id. at 248.
422. Id. at 253.
423. In re Vivendi Universal, S.A., Sec. Litig., Verdict Form 58–68 (Jan. 11, 2010), http://www.

vivendiclassaction.com/020210VerdictForm.pdf.
424. Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 253, 260.
425. Id. at 253–54. The opinion refers to the difference between the return predicted by the ex-

pert’s model and the actual return as the “residual return.” Id. at 254. But it is also called the “abnor-
mal” return. See Ludlow v. BP, P.L.C., 800 F.3d 674, 683 n.37 (5th Cir. 2015).
426. Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 254.
427. Id. at 255.
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tion over time—“the increasing degree to which purchase accounting benefits
contributed to Vivendi’s EBITDA figures.”428

Vivendi challenged this technique because it failed to relate residual price

changes to the specific statements on which the plaintiffs sued; indeed, on the
great majority of the days when the challenged statements were made, the ex-

pert’s event study did not show any residual return.429 Vivendi contended

that, without proof that the challenged statements had a “price impact,” the ex-
pert could not show loss causation or damages and must have relied on a legally

untenable theory that the statements maintained price inflation instead of caus-

ing it.430 The Second Circuit responded that the “far more coherent” way to view
the expert’s theory was that the statements prevented the dissipation of the ever-

growing stock price inflation.431 And the amount to be dissipated—i.e., “the

amount of inflation due to investors not knowing the truth”—was measured
by the expert’s work.432 As to how this fit into the loss causation analysis, the

Second Circuit saw its opinion as “join[ing] in the Seventh and Eleventh Circuits’

conclusion that ‘theories of “inflation maintenance” and “inflation introduction”
are not separate legal categories.’”433 And, as to the expert, the Second Circuit

found his testimony “relevant as to loss causation because the total amount of

actual inflation that [he] identified is the maximum amount of loss potentially
caused by Vivendi’s alleged misstatements” and “relevant as to damages because

[his] model of inflation over the course of the Class Period provides a means for

calculating each Plaintiff’s damages.”434

Vivendi had one more loss causation argument—that there was insufficient ev-

idence to establish loss causation because “no specific corrective disclosure ever

exposed the precise extent of Vivendi’s alleged fraud.”435 In the language of loss
causation, there was no materialization of the risk because the “risk . . . allegedly

concealed (i.e., the risk of a liquidity crisis) . . . ‘never materialized’ into ‘an objec-

tive event such as bankruptcy, default, or insolvency.’”436 The Second Circuit re-
jected this argument because the misrepresentations misled by concealing Viven-

di’s liquidity risk, which existed and when revealed drove the stock price down,

even though the risk never fully matured.437

428. Id.
429. Id. at 256.
430. Id.
431. Id. at 258.
432. Id. at 259.
433. Id. (quoting Glickenhaus & Co. v. Household Int’l, Inc., 787 F.3d 408, 418 (7th Cir. 2015))

(citing FindWhat Inv’r Grp. v. FindWhat.com, 658 F.3d 1282, 1316 (11th Cir. 2011)).
434. Id. at 260. Technically, the court of appeals held that the district court had not abused its

discretion in admitting the expert’s testimony on loss causation and damages over Vivendi’s objection
that doing so would violate Rule of Evidence 702. Id. at 233, 253, 260.
435. Id. at 262.
436. Id. at 261.
437. Id. at 262. Although the court did not connect this theory up with the facts, the facts fit the

theory pretty well. Three of the nine events that the plaintiffs’ expert identified as revealing the truth
about Vivendi were (i) “May 3, 2002 news that Moody’s downgraded Vivendi’s long-term senior debt
to a notch above junk status; [(ii)] . . . July 2, 2002 news that Moody’s downgraded Vivendi’s long-
term senior debt to junk status, followed by S&P’s downgrade of Vivendi’s short-term senior debt;
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Significance and analysis. The Vivendi opinion deserves three comments. First,
it is somewhat disturbing that the company could be found to have misled by re-

porting or even emphasizing EBITDA numbers on the basis that those numbers

did not reflect cash flow because the company derived EBITDA from numbers
generated by purchase accounting that the company was required to employ.438

Perhaps this emphasizes that companies can comply with accounting principles

and still violate Rule 10b-5.439 Or perhaps it emphasizes that a company deriving
and publicizing a non-GAAP number like EBITDA must be especially cautious,

even when computing the non-GAAP number from GAAP-compliant figures.440

Or maybe it shows that the problem arose only because the Vivendi executives un-
derstood that the effect of purchase accounting on the EBITDA numbers would be

hard to unearth, even for analysts.441 In any event, Vivendi suggests the possibility

that a company must consider how investors might interpret a non-GAAP mea-
sure, expressly caution against unwarranted interpretations of that measure, and

take care to avoid any language that might, in hindsight, be considered as encour-

aging such interpretations.442

Second, while the Vivendi plaintiffs tried their case on misrepresentations,

those misrepresentations misled because of omissions—because “the evidence

introduced at trial [was] sufficient to support the jury’s conclusion that a reason-
able investor could find Vivendi’s statements about high EBITDA growth mis-

[and (iii)] July 10, 2002 news that rating agencies cautioned that further downgrades were possible,”
with news on this day also including a French raid on Vivendi offices as part of a securities fraud
investigation. Id. at 262–63. In trading on July 2 after the July 2 downgrade, the price of Vivendi
stock fell by 26 percent. Id. at 237. A credit rating reflects the risk of default, and a credit rating
can decline when that risk increases, even though no default has taken place and even in instances
in which no default ever occurs.
438. See supra notes 420–21 and accompanying text.
439. See United States v. Simon, 425 F.2d 796, 805–06 (2d Cir. 1969); United States v. Rigas, 490

F.3d 208, 220 (2d Cir. 2007).
440. See, e.g., Non-GAAP Financial Measures, Section 103, U.S. SEC. & EXCH. COMMISSION, https://

www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/guidance/nongaapinterp.htm (last updated May 17, 2016).
441. See supra note 421.
442. The Second Circuit included this odd passage in its opinion:

In Vivendi’s October 30, 2000 Form F-4 registration statement filing with the SEC, Vivendi stated
that it “considers operating income to be the key indicator of the operational strength and perfor-
mance of its business.” Vivendi continued to state, however, that while “[a]djusted EBITDA should
not be considered an alternative to operating or net income as an indicator of Vivendi’s perfor-
mance,” or “an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity,” ad-
justed EBITDA was nevertheless a “pertinent comparative measure” to “operating income.” Id. (em-
phasis added). Given the arguable endorsement of the EBITDA measure inherent in this language,
sufficient evidence supported the jury’s conclusion that such language did not meaningfully cau-
tion against reliance on EBITDA figures as a measure of Vivendi’s performance.

Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 247 (record citation omitted). While the court wrote these words in the context
of evaluating the sufficiency of evidence to support a jury conclusion that Vivendi had not accompa-
nied forward-looking statements about EBITDA with sufficient cautionary language to invoke the
PSLRA safe harbor for forward-looking statements, the reference to the “arguable endorsement of
the EBITDA measure inherent in [the] language” Vivendi used is worrisome. Almost any reference
to a non-GAAP number, unless actively attacking the importance or utility of the number, might “ar-
guabl[y] endorse[]” it in some “inherent” way.
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leading for omission to disclose Vivendi’s liquidity risk.”443 The “price mainte-
nance” theory of loss causation endorsed by the Second Circuit seems most im-

portant in cases of this kind, or cases in which a duty to disclose an omitted fact

is created in some other way.444 In those cases, it may well be, as in Vivendi, that
failure to disclose is relevant to loss causation even when the failure occurs with-

out any statement or other event that increases the price of the relevant security.

Third, Vivendi’s conclusion that a concealed risk may produce loss when re-
vealed even if the risk is never fully realized echoes the probability/magnitude

analysis that the Court long ago held courts should employ to decide the mate-

riality of facts bearing on a possible merger or acquisition.445 Investors look for-
ward, trying to predict future returns. As the magnitude of a risk or reward

changes, or as the probability of that risk or return changes, investors’ real

time estimate of the return will change. Hence, if a previously unanticipated
risk that could hurt an issuer is disclosed at date X, the price of that issuer’s

stock will decline at date X—even if the risk never matures.

Rule 10b-5 Liability for Opinions. The Supreme Court’s Omnicare, Inc. v. La-
borers District Council Construction Industry Pension Fund446 decision in 2015 held

that an opinion can be false or misleading in any of three ways. It is false if the

speaker does not believe the opinion because an opinion “‘explicitly affirms one
fact: that the speaker actually holds the stated belief,’” and would therefore “sub-

ject the [speaker] to liability (assuming the misrepresentation [is] material)” if it

“falsely describe[d the speaker’s] state of mind.”447 Second, it is false if it “con-
tain[s] embedded statements of fact,” and the embedded statements of fact are

false.448 Third, an opinion is misleading if, in stating it, the speaker does not dis-

close “particular (and material) facts going to the basis for the issuer’s opinion—
facts about the inquiry the issuer did or did not conduct or the knowledge it did

or did not have—whose omission makes the opinion . . . misleading to a reason-

able person reading the statement fairly and in context.”449 The context encom-
passes “surrounding text, including hedges, disclaimers, and apparently conflict-

ing information,” and “customs and practices of the relevant industry.”450

The last of these three promised to be the most difficult to apply. Last year, the
Second Circuit did so in Tongue v. Sanofi.451 The decision affirmed dismissal of

two actions brought by purchasers of contingent value rights (“CVRs”) that paid

cash upon the achievement of milestones in the development and sale of Lem-

443. Id. at 251.
444. See United States v. Schiff, 602 F.3d 152, 162 (3d Cir. 2010) (a duty to disclose “may arise in

three circumstances: ‘when there is [1] insider trading, [2] a statute requiring disclosure, or [3] an
inaccurate, incomplete or misleading prior disclosure’” (quoting Oran v. Stafford, 226 F.3d 275,
285–86 (3d Cir. 2010))).
445. Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 238–39 (1988).
446. 135 S. Ct. 1318 (2015).
447. Id. at 1326.
448. Id. at 1327.
449. Id. at 1332.
450. Id. at 1330.
451. 816 F.3d 199 (2d Cir. 2016).
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trada, a drug for multiple sclerosis (“MS”).452 Plaintiffs in both cases asserted
Rule 10b-5 claims, and the plaintiffs in one of the cases also brought claims

under sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.453 The Second Circuit re-

peatedly characterized the plaintiffs as “sophisticated.”454

“The first milestone, called the ‘Approval Milestone,’ entitled CVR holders to

$1 per CVR if the FDA approved Lemtrada for treatment of MS by March 31,

2014.”455 The FDA denied approval in December 2013, but granted approval
in November 2014, thereby missing the payout deadline.456 The plaintiffs built

their cases largely around concerns that the FDA expressed to the defendants, be-

ginning in 2002 and continuing over many years, that clinical tests of Lemtrada
employed a single-blind protocol (in which only those rating the patients’ progress

are unaware which drug was provided), as opposed to a double-blind protocol (in

which both the patients and those rating the patients’ progress are unaware).457

Lemtrada’s competitive advantage derived in part from the circumstance that it re-

quired only two annual treatment courses, whereas other MS drugs required daily

or weekly dosing.458 This vast difference in dosage schedule “precluded the use of
double-blind studies, as patients would realize they were being required to un-

dergo treatment far less frequently than under their normal drug.”459

The plaintiffs attacked three sets of statements by the defendants, allegedly
misleading for failure to disclose the FDA concern over the single-blind proto-

452. Id. at 203 (lower court dismissed); id. at 214 (affirmed); id. at 202, 204 (CVRs defined and
explained); id. at 207 (appeal included two consolidated cases).
453. Id. at 207–08.
454. Id. at 211, 212, 214.
455. Id. at 204.
456. Id. at 207.
457. Id. at 203 (explaining single- and double-blind testing); id. at 208 (“Both complaints allege,

among other things, that by failing to disclose the feedback from the FDA regarding the use of single-
blind studies, Defendants misled investors as to the likelihood of meeting the Approval Milestone,
upon which the CVRs’ value partially depended, thereby artificially inflating the value of the
CVRs.”). The FDA provided this “feedback” to two of the three companies that, as time passed,
owned the rights to the drug—ILEX, id. at 203, Genzyme, id., and Sanofi, id. at 204. In 2002, the
FDA told ILEX “that the use of single-blind studies in Lemtrada’s early clinical trials would ‘not pro-
vide substantial support for a BLA [Biologic License Application].’” Id. at 203. In 2004, the agency
told ILEX again that the “‘open-label’” protocol, together with a small sample size, rendered a clinical
trial “‘unlikely to provide substantial support’” for such an application. Id. In 2007, the FDA sent a
letter to Genzyme “‘strongly recommend[ing]’ Genzyme ‘use a double-dummy placebo control in [its]
pivotal trials,’ adding that ‘[t]he acceptability of [its] rater-blinded study will be a matter of review.’”
Id. at 203–04. In March 2010, the FDA stated in a meeting with Genzyme “that it ‘was concerned by
the potential bias introduced by the absence of blinding of patients,’ and that ‘the bias introduced by
unblinding physicians and patients remains a significant problem which will cause serious difficulties
in interpreting the results of the trial.’” Id. at 204 (quoting agency minutes of the meeting). In 2011,
the FDA told Genzyme in a meeting “that ‘the lack of doubleblinding has consistently concerned us.
The lack of blinding remains a major concern.’” Id.
The materials that the FDA released shortly before its advisory committee met to consider Lem-

trada showed that two of the doctors reviewing the drug harbored concerns based on the trials’ failure
to double blind. Id. at 206. But the FDA released this information on November 8, 2013, id. at 206,
after the class period ended on November 7, id. at 207.
458. Id. at 203.
459. Id.
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col.460 First, Sanofi estimated in the CVR offering material a 90 percent proba-
bility that the FDA would approve Lemtrada by the Approval Milestone and, in-

deed, projected FDA approval in late 2012.461 Rejecting the argument that these

statements misled “by failing to disclose the FDA’s repeated statements of con-
cern about the use of single-blind studies,”462 the Second Circuit concluded

that the FDA comments could not—by “any reasonable interpretation”—be in-

terpreted as “conflict[ing] with” the predictions because (i) the agency had said,
in a 2007 letter, that the “‘acceptability’” of the single-blinded studies “‘will be a

matter of review’” and that “‘[i]f your study results reveal an extremely large ef-

fect, then [the] FDA may potentially accept this rater-blinded design for the piv-
otal trials,’” and (ii) “the parties do not dispute . . . that Lemtrada’s treatment effect

was, in fact, large.”463 Turning to “context,” the Second Circuit found important

that (i) the “sophisticated investors” buying the CVRs (a) were “no doubt aware
that projections provided by issuers are synthesized from a wide variety of infor-

mation, and that some of the underlying facts may be in tension with the ultimate

projection set forth by the issuer,” and (b) understood “that ‘[c]ontinuous dia-
logue between the FDA and the proponent of a new drug is the essence of the

product license application process,’” and “that inherent in the nature of a dia-

logue are differing views”; (ii) the offering materials included “numerous caveats
to the reliability of the projections”; and (iii) “nowhere in the complaints do Plain-

tiffs allege that the risks arising out of the FDA feedback were out of the ordinary,

or presented a special challenge not of the kind normally confronted by pharma-
ceutical companies seeking FDA approval.”464

In the second set of challenged statements, the defendants—in the course of dis-

cussing the time at which Lemtrada would launch—professed themselves “‘very
satisfied with where the progress is going,’” said “they ‘expect[ed] a decision on

Lemtrada by the end of the [2013] year,’” and declared that they “were ‘feeling

pretty, pretty relaxed.’”465 Declining to find misleading the “subjective optimism”
inhering in feeling “relaxed” or “satisfied” about progress toward a product launch,

the court of appeals reasoned that “no reasonable investor would have inferred

that mere statements of confidence suggested that the FDA had not engaged in
industry-standard dialogue with Defendants about potential deficiencies in either

the testing methodology or the drug itself.”466 As to the prediction that FDA would

make a decision by the end of the year, the court read this as projecting an agency
decision by the end of 2013, then observed that the FDA had decided by that time,

albeit a decision at that time to reject the drug.467

460. Id. at 210–11.
461. Id. at 204–05 (noting that the statements originated in Genzyme SEC filings that the Form

F-4 Registration Statement and the 424B3 Prospectus incorporated by reference).
462. Id. at 211.
463. Id. at 203–04, 211.
464. Id. at 211–12 (quoting In re Medimmune, Inc. Sec. Litig., 873 F. Supp. 953, 966 (D. Md.

1995)).
465. Id. at 211.
466. Id. at 213.
467. Id.
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Third and finally, the plaintiffs challenged as misleading defendants’ charac-
terizations of clinical test results as “demonstrat[ing] a ‘strong and robust treat-

ment effect,’” with the “‘data [being] nothing short of stunning.’”468 The Second

Circuit here observed that “statements lauding the effectiveness of Lemtrada” had
to be considered “in the context of a global rollout plan” that had, by early 2014,

featured approval of the drug for use in thirty countries other than the United

States “based on Lemtrada’s exceptional clinical results.”469 There was, accord-
ingly, no “rational connection between Defendants’ statements about the general

effectiveness of Lemtrada and the FDA’s methodological feedback.”470 Even nar-

rowing the focus to the United States, “Plaintiffs’ allegations regarding Defen-
dants’ stated opinion about the Lemtrada trial results are little more than a dis-

pute about the proper interpretation of data” and “Defendants’ statements were

not misleading simply because the FDA disagreed with Defendants’ interpreta-
tion of the data.”471

Significance and analysis. Sanofi is important for three reasons. First, while

Omnicare dealt only with claims under section 11472—which does not require
scienter473—Sanofi applies the same analysis in all the claims before it, including

Rule 10b-5 claims that do require scienter.474 Second, Sanofi applies Omnicare’s

analysis of opinions to predictions. This extension is justified, since a prediction
is simply one kind of opinion. Third, Sanofi centers on the third manner in

which Omnicare held an opinion may be false or misleading—by omitting

some material fact—such as one suggesting that the opinion might not be
sound because of some undisclosed fact that is known to the speaker and that

a “reasonable investor” would conclude the speaker would disclose in order

that the opinion not mislead. When it identified this third basis on which an
opinion might be false or misleading, the Supreme Court observed that the

rule would not render an opinion “necessarily misleading when an issuer

knows, but fails to disclose, some fact cutting the other way.”475 Instead, “con-
text” would be important,476 and “reasonable investors understand that opinions

sometimes rest on a weighing of competing facts; indeed, the presence of such

facts is one reason why an issuer may frame a statement as an opinion, thus con-
veying uncertainty.”477 Sanofi applies this idea to the reality of FDA approval, in

which differing views of clinical results are not uncommon. But the same could

be true of other projections—including financial projections, which can emerge

468. Id.
469. Id.
470. Id. at 214.
471. Id.
472. Omnicare, Inc. v. Laborers Dist. Council Constr. Indus. Pension Fund, 135 S. Ct. 1318,

1323–24 (2015).
473. Sanofi, 816 F.3d at 209.
474. Id.
475. Omnicare, 135 S. Ct. at 1329.
476. Id. at 1330.
477. Id. at 1329.
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from top executive judgments after considering different numbers from different
departments or different individuals in the company.

Primary Rule 10b-5 Liability After Janus. Rule 10b-5 prohibits three catego-

ries of wrongdoing in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, one of
which—in the rule’s subpart (b)—is “mak[ing] any untrue statement of a mate-

rial fact or . . . omit[ting] to state a material fact necessary in order to make the

statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading.”478 In Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, the Su-

preme Court held that “[f]or purposes of Rule 10b-5[(b)], the maker of a state-

ment is the person or entity with ultimate authority over the statement, including
its content and whether and how to communicate it.”479 The Court also wrote

that “in the ordinary case,” express attribution of a statement to a party provides

“strong evidence that a statement was made by—and only by—the party to
whom it is attributed.”480

The Second Circuit applied these principles last year to statements made by

participants in a joint venture.481 The Ninth Circuit applied them to statements
made by a lawyer working on a deal.482 The Eleventh Circuit did so for state-

ments made by stock promoters hired by a company to raise its profile in the

investment community,483 and the Eighth Circuit ruled that even though a
drug company could not be liable under subpart (b) of Rule 10b-5 for statements

made by physicians who reported on drug test results, the drug manufacturer

might be liable under subparts (a) and (c) for paying those physicians to omit
information about adverse side effects.484

Statements by joint venture participants. G.D. Searle (“Searle”) developed a drug

called Celebrex.485 In early 1998, Searle and Pfizer, Inc. (“Pfizer”) entered into
agreements by which they would both market Celebrex.486 A merger in early

2000 transferred ownership of Celebrex to Pharmacia Corporation (“Pharmacia”)

and also transferred, to Pharmacia, Searle’s rights under the agreements with
Pfizer.487 Pharmacia developed a drug similar to Celebrex, called Bextra.488 Phar-

macia and Pfizer entered into co-promotion agreements as to that drug as well (all

such agreements collectively the “Co-Promotion Agreement”).489 Pfizer acquired

478. The other two prohibitions are against (a) “employ[ing] any device, scheme, or artifice to de-
fraud,” and (c) “engag[ing] in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate
as a fraud or deceit upon any person.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2016).
479. 564 U.S. 135, 142 (2011).
480. Id. at 142–43.
481. See infra notes 485–506 and accompanying text.
482. See infra notes 507–30 and accompanying text.
483. See infra notes 531–42 and accompanying text.
484. See infra notes 543–58 and accompanying text.
485. In re Pfizer Inc. Sec. Litig., 819 F.3d 642, 645–46, 655–58 (2d Cir. 2016).
486. Id. at 646.
487. Id.
488. Id. at 646 n.3.
489. Id.
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exclusive rights to Celebrex and Bextra—including promotional rights—in April
2003 when Pfizer bought Pharmacia.490

Investors who purchased Pfizer stock between October 31, 2000 and Octo-

ber 19, 2005 brought a Rule 10b-5 claim alleging that statements made during
that class period by Searle, Pharmacia, and Pfizer “concealed the safety risks of

Celebrex and Bextra.”491 The plaintiffs contended that Pfizer was liable for ten

statements made by Searle or Pharmacia.492 In deciding a motion for summary
judgement, the district court ruled that Pfizer might be liable for one of those

statements—a press release—because the Co-Promotion Agreement raised a tri-

able issue as to whether Pfizer had “ultimate control” over press releases, and Pfi-
zer did not contest that ruling on appeal.493 But the district court granted Pfizer’s

motion for summary judgment as to the other nine statements.494 Rejecting the

plaintiffs’ argument that they had raised a triable issue as to Pfizer’s control over
one of those nine statements—made in a Pharmacia Form 8-K—the Second Cir-

cuit found nothing in the record to suggest that Pfizer controlled that “regulatory

disclosure,” and noted that the Co-Promotion Agreement specifically provided
“that Searle (later Pharmacia) would have ‘sole responsibility for communicating

with . . . regulatory authorities’ about Celebrex.”495

The court of appeals held, however, that the plaintiffs had raised a triable issue as
to Pfizer’s control over the remaining eight statements, which were statements by

Searle or Pharmacia employees to the media or in journal articles.496 A fax from

a public relations firm to Searle and Pfizer employees transmitting a “‘Q & A docu-
ment’ containing questions the press might pose regarding cardiovascular risks as-

sociated with Celebrex, along with scripted answers,” said that the questions and

answers “would be ‘reviewed and finalized during a . . . conference call’ between
Pfizer and Searle, before being ‘distributed . . . to the appropriate parties at Searle

and Pfizer for final sign-off.’”497 A Pfizer manager testified in deposition “that ‘senior

management’ at Pfizer ‘would . . . need to . . . approve[]’ of ‘media responses [related
to the category of drugs into which Celebrex and Bextra fell], both to reporters and

to publications in the forms of letters to the editors’ in order to ‘get [them] out the

door.’”498 Although “not abundant,” the Second Circuit was “unable to conclude
that no reasonable jury could find from this evidence that Pfizer had ‘ultimate au-

thority’ over the eight statements to the press.”499 The Second Circuit therefore va-

cated the summary judgment in favor of defendants on those statements.500

490. Id. at 647.
491. Id.
492. Id. at 652.
493. Id. at 652, 656.
494. Id. at 656.
495. Id.
496. Id. at 656–57.
497. Id. at 657 (emphasis by the court).
498. Id.
499. Id.
500. Id. at 658, 667. The opinion is ambiguous, referring here to “statements to the press” but on

656 referring to “newspaper and journal articles.”
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Significance and analysis. In Janus, the Supreme Court held that the asset
manager of mutual funds did not have “ultimate control” over, and therefore did

not “make” within the meaning of Rule 10b-5(b), the statements in the funds’ pro-

spectuses.501 The Court emphasized formalities—that the business trust in which
the funds were organized was a separate legal entity from the asset manager and

that the law imposed on the business trust, rather than the asset manager, the ob-

ligation to file the prospectuses with the SEC.502 In Pfizer, however, the Second Cir-
cuit held that the one legal formality—the Co-Promotion Agreement—was not dis-

positive; even “[a]ssuming . . . that the Co-Promotion Agreement unambiguously

fails to provide Pfizer the power to approve or disapprove of Searle’s and, later,
Pharmacia’s statements to the press, other evidence still creates a question of fact

as to whether, notwithstanding any procedures articulated in the contract, Pfizer

in fact had ‘ultimate authority’ over these statements.”503 The court added that
“[t]he meaning of the Co-Promotion Agreement is thus but one factor in the factual

determination whether Pfizer indeed had ‘ultimate authority’ over the eight state-

ments to the media.”504 This suggests that, except for filings with the SEC, the
question of who had sufficient authority over a statement to be liable under

Janus for a Rule 10b-5(b) violation cannot be foreclosed by a document stating

that only one person or party had such authority. Similarly, while the language
of Janus indicated that it would be difficult to impose liability on a party or person

to whom a statement was not “attributed,”505 the Second Circuit found a triable

issue of fact as to Pfizer’s ultimate control “[n]otwithstanding that the eight state-
ments to the press were attributed to Searle and Pharmacia employees” rather

than to Pfizer.506 Accordingly, a potential defendant may not be protected from pri-

mary liability on a statement simply because it is not attributed to him or her or it.
Statements by attorneys. In a 2008 decision, the Ninth Circuit reversed dismis-

sal where the plaintiff alleged that she agreed to accept stock in a settlement after

attorneys for the issuer falsely told her that the issuer’s CEO was not targeted in a
criminal investigation.507 The court of appeals held that “[a]n attorney who un-

dertakes to make representations to prospective purchasers of securities is under

an obligation, imposed by [s]ection 10(b), to tell the truth about those securi-
ties.”508 In 2016, the same court of appeals reached the same conclusion in an-

other case involving alleged misstatements by an attorney about a client who

claimed to have securities to sell.

501. Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 137–38, 146–48 (2011).
502. Id. at 138 (business trust was “a separate legal entity” from the asset manager); id. at 147

(“Only [the business trust] bears the statutory obligation to file the prospectuses with the SEC.”);
id. (the business trust was “a legally independent entity with its own board of trustees”).
503. Pfizer, 819 F.3d at 657.
504. Id.
505. See supra note 480 and accompanying text.
506. Pfizer, 819 F.3d at 657.
507. Thompson v. Paul, 547 F.3d 1055, 1057–58, 1065 (9th Cir. 2008).
508. Id. at 1063.
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The plaintiff in ESG Capital Partners, LP v. Stratos was organized to buy shares
of Facebook, Inc. (“Facebook”) before Facebook went public.509 ESG negotiated

for purchase of those shares with a man known to ESG as “Ken Dennis,” the CEO

of Soumaya Securities, LLC (“Soumaya”).510 ESG transferred money on three
occasions—in aggregate $11.25 million—to purchase the Facebook stock.511 In

fact, Mr. “Dennis” was actually Troy Stratos, and Soumaya had no Facebook shares

to sell.512

Venable LLP (“Venable”), acting principally through a partner named David

Meyer, had represented Stratos.513 ESG sued Venable and Meyer, claiming under

Rule 10b-5 and various state law theories.514 In reversing dismissal of the case, ex-
cept as to one state law claim barred by a California statute of limitations relating to

claims against lawyers,515 the Ninth Circuit analyzed again the liability of an attor-

ney under Rule 10b-5(b).516

Venable argued that the complaint failed to plead that Meyer “made” misrep-

resentations to ESG, and the district court had ruled that Meyer had “‘simply

communicated Soumaya[’s] . . . understanding of the deal, not his own.’”517 Al-
though the court of appeals acknowledged that “Meyer prefaced many of his

emails with: ‘It is Soumaya’s understanding . . . ,’” it added that “we are not con-

vinced that such a short, easy preface could shield a messenger from liability in
all circumstances.”518 The Ninth Circuit, however, found that it did not need to

decide this issue because the plaintiff pled statements that Meyer had unques-

tionably made as his own.519

In particular, the complaint alleged that, on April 18, 2011, Meyer spoke by

telephone with ESG’s managing agent and (i) “informed [the] managing agent . . .

that ‘Dennis’ was in contact with Facebook executives and had access to millions
of Facebook shares”; (ii) “told [the] managing agent . . . that ‘Dennis’ ‘is who he

says he is’”; (iii) “assured [the] managing agent . . . that ‘Dennis’ and Soumaya . . .

were . . . affiliates” of Mexican billionaire Carlos Slim; (iv) said “that the sale [of
Facebook shares] was legitimate”; and (v) advised that Venable represented

“Dennis” and Soumaya in the deal and that Meyer would provide the deal doc-

umentation.520 The next day, ESG wired $2.8 million into Venable’s trust ac-
count for the Facebook shares, and ESG alleged that it would not have done

509. 828 F.3d 1023, 1029 (9th Cir. 2016).
510. Id. at 1029–30.
511. Id. at 1030–31.
512. Id. at 1029, 1034 (“there was no Facebook deal”).
513. Id. at 1029.
514. Id. at 1031.
515. Id. at 1036–37, 1040; see CAL. CIV. PROC. CODE § 340.6(a) (West 2016).
516. ESG, 828 F.3d at 1032–36.
517. Id. at 1033 (quoting district court).
518. Id.
519. Id. at 1033–34 (“Even assuming that this disclaimer was sufficient to indicate that Soumaya

Securities or Stratos was the ‘maker’ of the statements in attorney Meyer’s emails, attorney Meyer
made other false statements directly to ESG Capital.”).
520. Id. at 1030, 1033–34.
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so without these assurances.521 Notably, after Meyer confirmed receipt of the
money to ESG, the entire $2.8 million was placed in Stratos’s personal client ac-

count at Venable rather than in any account for Soumaya.522

The Ninth Circuit held that ESG pled that such statements—made by Meyer
himself—were false because, for example, Dennis was not who he said he was

but was really Troy Stratos and neither “Dennis” nor Soumaya was affiliated

with billionaire Slim.523 Moreover, Meyer “made material omissions when he
failed to reveal that there was no Facebook deal; that Stratos, not Soumaya . . . ,

was Venable[’s] . . . client; and that ESG[’s] . . . $2.8 million deposit would be

immediately dispersed to Stratos.”524

The court of appeals held that the complaint pled Meyer’s scienter because he

had been copied on emails between “Dennis” and ESG that showed “Dennis”

using an email address at which Meyer emailed Stratos.525 And a strong infer-
ence that Meyer knew Stratos’s scheme arose from allegations that (i) Meyer

and Stratos had more than 100 telephone calls and 25 meetings between Febru-

ary and November 2011; (ii) Meyer “held an all-day conference with Stratos after
ESG . . . wired its $2.8 million”; and (iii) “Venable LLP opened bank accounts for

Stratos, since he was ‘black listed’ and unable to open bank accounts in his own

name.”526 While “no single factual allegation substantiates an inference of attor-
ney Meyer’s scienter,” the Ninth Circuit held that “ESG . . . has provided a narra-

tive that strongly points to the existence of scienter.”527 As to reliance, ESG pled

expressly that it would not have wired the $2.8 million to Venable on April 19
without Meyer’s assurances to the ESG managing agent the day before, and,

more generally, that it transferred all $11.25 million “in direct reliance on . . .

Meyer’s assurances and involvement.”528

Significance and analysis. ESG is not surprising insofar as its holding goes—

in particular as to the lawyer’s confirmation to a deal counterparty that the law-

yer’s client was who he said he was when the lawyer knew that the client was
misrepresenting his identity to the counterparty. But the opinion may cause

heartburn with its comment that a lawyer might not be able to “shield” himself

or herself from Rule 10b-5 liability, when retransmitting information from the
lawyer’s client to a deal counterparty, simply by attributing the information to

the client.529 This suggestion seems at odds with Janus, where the court said

that, “[i]n the ordinary case, attribution within a statement or implicit from sur-
rounding circumstances is strong evidence that a statement was made by—and

521. Id. at 1030.
522. Id.
523. Id. at 1029–30.
524. Id. at 1034. The court did not identify the basis for Meyer’s duty to disclose, but presumably

it was that the statements he made to ESG misled without the disclosure of these other material facts.
17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(b) (2016).
525. ESG, 828 F.3d at 1035.
526. Id.
527. Id.
528. Id. at 1036.
529. See supra text accompanying note 518.
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only by—the party to whom it is attributed.”530 And the problem for an attorney
sued by a counterparty for passing on client information that turns out to be false

is that the counterparty might survive a motion to dismiss simply by showing

that the attorney was working diligently on the relevant deal and therefore
knew or was reckless in not knowing that the information was untrue.

Statements by paid stock promoters. The In re Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. Securities

Litigation corporate defendant—a pharmaceutical company that was developing
drugs not yet approved by the FDA—“allegedly retained [four] promoters to ‘rec-

ommend or “tout”’ Galectin’s stock and raise the stock price.”531 The promoters

published articles about Galectin and its drug development.532 During this time,
Galectin sold stock to the public, pricing the stock “at the market.”533 The com-

pany (i) stated in two offerings “that it had not taken any action that caused or

resulted in the ‘manipulation’ of its stock price”534 and (ii) did not disclose either
in the offerings or in its other SEC filings that it had paid the promoters.535 The

plaintiff alleged that the reports published by the paid promoters inflated the

price of Galectin stock, causing those who bought it to pay too much in “at-
the-market” purchases,536 and that the price of the stock dropped precipitously

after the relationship between the company and the promoters came to light.537

The plaintiff sued the company and five officers and directors, making a
Rule 10b-5 claim.538 In affirming dismissal,539 the Eleventh Circuit reasoned

that, “[i]n part, [the plaintiff] claims that the defendants committed securities

laws violations not by virtue of their own statements, but rather based upon
the statements of the third-party stock promoters in their articles.”540 The

530. Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 142–43 (2011).
531. 843 F.3d 1257, 1262, 1263 (11th Cir. 2016). The court proceeded on “the premise that

nothing in the securities laws prohibits Galectin as a company (issuing a regulated security) from hir-
ing analysts to promote Galectin, circulating positive articles about its drug development, or recom-
mending the purchase of Galectin’s stock.” Id. at 1272. The opinion added: “Under § 17(b) of the
Securities Act, the duty to disclose promotional payments lies with the parties that receive the pay-
ments for promotional activities. 15 U.S.C. § 77q(b). There is no statutory duty to disclose imposed
on the issuer—here defendant Galectin—which paid for the promotional articles or activities.”
Galectin, 843 F.3d at 1272–73.
532. Id. at 1263–65. The promoters, and the number of the articles each wrote, were: The Dream

Team (seven), Patrick Cox (twenty-three), TDM (six), and Acorn (two). Id. at 1264.
533. Id. at 1263. The opinion states that the company “announced two issuances of common

stock,” that it sold more than 2.7 million shares in the first offering, and that the complaint did
not allege the “sales figures” from the second offering. Id. “[S]ecurities may be offered ‘at the market,’
which means that the proceeds will be based on a fluctuating market price.” 2 THOMAS LEE HAZEN,
TREATISE ON THE LAW OF SECURITIES REGULATION § 6:19 (2016).
534. Galectin, 843 F.3d at 1266.
535. Id. at 1264, 1266–67. While two of the promoters disclosed payments from Galectin, the

other two did not. Id. at 1264–65.
536. Id. at 1265.
537. Id. at 1265–66.
538. Id. at 1268.
539. Id. at 1261, 1276.
540. Id. at 1270. For example, about two weeks after Galectin filed a Form 8-K discussing its com-

petition with another drug maker, Intercept, “TDM published an article which stated that, ‘if conclu-
sions are to be drawn so early in the game, it’s arguable that Intercept’s peer Galectin Therapeutics may
actually have a better NASH/fibrosis drug in GR-MD-02.’” Id. at 1265 (italics substituted for underlining
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court rejected this theory because, although the plaintiff alleged “that the defen-
dants worked in conjunction with stock promoters to promote Galectin’s stock,

particularly with respect to the timing of articles by the stock promoters and

company press releases, [he] has not included sufficient allegations to support
a finding that Galectin had ‘ultimate authority’ or ‘control’ over the stock promot-

ers’ statements.”541 The court then specifically held that the company’s payment

“for the promotional articles does not mean that Galectin is the maker of the
statements in the articles” and that therefore the payment was “not sufficient

to support a claim under Rule 10b-5(b).”542

Statements by physicians receiving money from companies producing drugs that the
physicians discuss. Even in a case relying essentially on alleged misstatements, a

plaintiff might name a defendant and argue that the defendant took actions suf-

ficiently independent of the statements, yet sufficiently proximate to them, to incur
liability not under subpart (b) of Rule 10b-5 (which prohibits “mak[ing]” untrue or

misleading statements) but under subpart (a) (which prohibits “employ[ing] any

device, scheme, or artifice to defraud”) and under subpart (c) (which prohibits
“engag[ing] in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would op-

erate as a fraud or deceit upon any person”).543 West Virginia Pipe Trades Health &

Welfare Fund v. Medtronic, Inc. reversed summary judgment for defendants in an
action in which the plaintiffs alleged just such a claim.544

Medtronic manufactured INFUSE, a protein inducing the human body to

grow new bone tissue.545 The FDA approved INFUSE for specific and limited
uses in 2002, but some 85 percent of its use was for other purposes.546 The

in opinion). As another example, TDM published, within a week of Galectin making its second of-
fering, another article “which described Galectin as ‘only a clinical data set away from a potential
leap forward with GR-MD-02.’” Id. (bold face substituted for underlining in opinion).
541. Id. at 1272.
542. Id. The court further held that Galectin had made no misrepresentation itself when it stated

that it had not manipulated its stock because (i) its “engagement of third parties to promote aware-
ness of its stock and to encourage investment in its business was legal and did not constitute stock-
price manipulation,” with the defendants having no duty to disclose the payments to the promoters
since 15 U.S.C. § 77q(b) places that disclosure obligation on the promoters rather than the issuer, id.
at 1267, 1272–73, and (ii) “manipulation” as used in Rule 10b-5 cases refers to purchases and sales
that create an artificial appearance of market activity, with the plaintiff alleging no such “simulated
market activity” by any defendant, id. at 1273–74. The court also rejected the argument “that Galec-
tin’s 10-K and 10-Q reports of the results of its October 25, 2013 [at-the-market] offering were mis-
leading because Galectin omitted that it had paid third parties to write articles promoting its stock.”
Id. at 1274–75. Relying on the principle that an issuer does not violate Rule 10b-5 by omission unless
it has a duty to disclose the omitted fact, the court found no such duty here:

It cannot be said that the reasonable securities investor would conclude, based on Galectin’s re-
porting of the number of shares sold, price per share, and net proceeds of its October 25, 2013
[at-the-market] offering, without more, that Galectin was in some way certifying or representing
that it had not paid promoters to tout its stock to potential investors. It follows that Galectin’s
silence on this separate payment issue in its 10-K and 10-Q reports did not render the true facts
in those reports misleading within the meaning of Rule 10b-5(b).

Id. at 1275–76 (footnote omitted).
543. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2016).
544. 845 F.3d 384, 391–94 (8th Cir. 2016).
545. Id. at 387.
546. Id.
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FDA publicly warned in 2008 that such off-label use of the drug was associated
with life-threatening side effects.547

In 2010, newspaper articles and a commentary on a clinical study reported in

a medical journal suggested that physicians who had authored Medtronic-
sponsored reports of earlier clinical tests had undisclosed financial ties with

the company and might have omitted adverse side effects from their reports as

a result.548 This led to a congressional hearing in 2012 and a Senate committee
report saying “that Medtronic ‘was heavily involved in drafting, editing, and

shaping the content of medical journal articles authored by its physician consul-

tants who received significant amounts of money through royalties and consult-
ing fees from Medtronic.’”549 The committee further reported “that Medtronic

employees added language designed to exaggerate the disadvantages of standard

spinal fusion techniques and recommended against publishing a complete list of
adverse events associated with INFUSE.”550

In defending in the court of appeals the summary judgment it had won below,

Medtronic argued that the case rested on the statements and omissions of the
authors of the reports that supposedly omitted side effects and favorably com-

pared INFUSE with spinal fusion and that therefore, under Janus, Medtronic

could not be sued in a private lawsuit based on statements in those reports,
which Medtronic did not “make” under Rule 10b-5(b).551 In considering whether

the plaintiffs could sidestep this argument by relying on Rule 10b-5(a) and (c), the

Eighth Circuit recognized that “[t]he broader scope of scheme liability under
Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) potentially offers plaintiffs a means to circumvent Janus,”

but noted that such efforts to avoid the effect of the Supreme Court’s decision

were restricted under circuit authority.552 A plaintiff “cannot support a scheme li-
ability claim by simply repackaging a fraudulent misrepresentation as a scheme to

defraud,” but a plaintiff can survive a Janus defense by “alleg[ing] some deceptive

act other than the fraudulent misrepresentation.”553

The Eighth Circuit held that the plaintiffs had threaded this needle by a “scheme

liability claim . . . that Medtronic shaped the content of medical journals by

‘pa[ying] physicians . . . to induce their complicity in concealing adverse events
and side effects associated with the use of INFUSE and overstating the disadvan-

tages of alternative bone graft procedures.’”554 While “the scheme liability claim

also includes allegations that Medtronic edited language in the clinical studies
that the physicians ultimately published, the act of paying physicians to induce

their complicity is the allegation at the heart of the scheme liability claim,” and

547. Id.
548. Id. at 387–88.
549. Id. at 388.
550. Id.
551. Id. (characterizing Medtronic’s argument as contending that plaintiffs were trying “to hold

Medtronic secondarily liable for the fraudulent statements of others”).
552. Id. at 392.
553. Id. (emphasis added).
554. Id. at 393.
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“[p]aying someone else to make a misrepresentation is not itself a misrepresenta-
tion.”555

This, however, left the plaintiffs with a further problem, created by the Su-

preme Court’s decision in Stoneridge Investment Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta,
Inc., where the Court held that two suppliers that had entered into round-trip

transactions with a public company could not be sued by the purchasers of

the public company’s stock because the deceptive acts that the suppliers had
committed (e.g., misdating contracts to prevent the auditor of the public com-

pany from discovering that the transactions were economically meaningless)

did not bear a sufficient causal relationship to the resulting false financial state-
ments that the public company published and on which the plaintiffs could

claim reliance.556 As the Eighth Circuit read Stoneridge, “a scheme liability

claim must demonstrate that the causal connection between the defendants’ al-
leged deceptive act and the information on which the market relied is not too

remote to support a finding of reliance.”557 The court found here that “the causal

connection between Medtronic’s alleged deceptive conduct and the information
on which the market relied [i.e., the articles in medical journals written by the

physicians Medtronic paid] is not too remote to support a finding of reliance”

because “paying the physician-authors to conceal adverse effects and to overstate
the disadvantages of alternative procedures . . . directly caused the production of

the information on which the market relied.”558

Significance and analysis. The facts in Galectin and Medtronic are quite close.
One difference seems to be that, in addition to alleging that the defendant paid a

third party for reports or articles that were complimentary, the defendant inMed-

tronic exercised some control over the third party’s content and thereby caused
the third party to omit facts harmful to the defendant’s business. But it would

be odd if a plaintiff who could not plead the “ultimate” control necessary to

make out a case under subsection (b), could make out an (a) or (c) case by
pleading actions—like undisclosed payments and edits—that gave the defen-

dants some lesser degree of control.

Rule 10b-5 Liability for Statements During a Merger. During a merger, the
target company, if public, typically will file a Form 8-K (“8-K”) announcing the

555. Id.
556. 552 U.S. 148, 154–55 (2008) (describing round-trip transactions and backdating contracts

to create the impression of chronological separation); id. at 155 (observing that the suppliers “had no
role in preparing or disseminating [the public company’s] financial statements”); id. at 160–61 (rec-
ognizing that a private plaintiff suing under Rule 10b-5 must rely on the deceptive actions of the de-
fendant and that the deceptive actions here, such as backdating the contracts, “were not disclosed to
the investing public”); id. at 161 (finding that those deceptive acts were “too remote” from the public
company’s financial statements, on which the plaintiffs could have relied at least indirectly through
the market’s incorporation into security prices of the false numbers those statements contained—in
part because “nothing [the suppliers] did made it necessary or inevitable for [the public company] to
record the transactions as it did”).
557. Medtronic, 845 F.3d at 394.
558. Id. (emphasis added).
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merger agreement, with the agreement attached.559 That agreement will contain
representations and warranties that the target company has made to the acquir-

ing company.560 Where sufficient time elapses between the signing of the merger

agreement and closing, the target company will file one or more Form 10-Qs (“10-
Q”) or a 10-K (“10-K”).561 The target company will also file a proxy statement by

which it will seek approval of its shareholders for the merger.562 In OFI Asset Man-

agement v. Cooper Tire & Rubber Co., the Third Circuit addressed a Rule 10b-5
case, based on all such documents, in an action filed after a merger broke down.563

On June, 12, 2013, Cooper Tire & Rubber Company (“Cooper”) and Apollo

Tyres Ltd. (“Apollo”) announced a merger by which Apollo would acquire Coo-
per at a 40 percent premium over Cooper’s recent trading price.564 Cooper filed

an 8-K and attached the merger agreement.565 In chronological order thereafter,

Cooper filed a 10-Q on August 9 for the quarter ending June 30,566 an August 30
proxy statement,567 a September 19 8-K,568 and a September 30 8-K.569

Two labor issues arose while the merger agreement was in force. First, during

the period from June 21 to August 17, workers at Cooper Chengshan Tire Com-
pany, Ltd. (“CCT”) in China—owned 65 percent by Cooper and 35 percent by

the Chengshan Group (“Chengshan”), headed by Chairman Che Hongzhi

(“Che”)—went on strike, returned to work, went out on strike again, and finally
returned for work through the rest of the events.570 CCT accounted for about

25 percent of Cooper’s revenue and profits.571 Second, on August 1, the United

Steelworkers Union (“USW”) filed a grievance on the ground that the merger vi-
olated its collective bargaining agreement, which led to an arbitration and a find-

ing in favor of the USW which “barred Cooper from selling two of its plants to

Apollo, ‘unless and until the [USW] ha[s] entered into agreements with’ Apollo,”

559. Form 8-K, Item 1.01(a) (Form 8-K must be filed when a company “has entered into a ma-
terial definitive agreement not made in the ordinary course of business.”). Subsection (a)(2) of Item
1.01 requires the 8-K to include “a brief description of the terms and conditions of the agreement . . .
that are material.” It is typical to attach the entire merger agreement to the 8-K. See, e.g., The Chubb
Corp., Current Report (Form 8-K), Exh. 2.1 (July 7, 2015), https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/
20171/000119312515246790/d40501d8k.htm.
560. ABA Bus. Law Section Mergers & Acquisitions Comm., Model Merger Agreement for the Ac-

quisition of a Public Company 27 (2011).
561. Public companies with securities registered under the Exchange Act and companies that

have filed a registration statement under the Securities Act that has become effective must file
Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. 17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-1 (2016); id. § 249.310(a); id. § 240.13a-13;
15 U.S.C. § 78o(d)(1) (2012), 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.15d-1, 15d-13 (2016); Form 10-K, General In-
struction A(2); Form 10-Q, General Instruction A(1).
562. See, e.g., DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 8, § 251(c) (2015).
563. 834 F.3d 481 (3d Cir. 2016).
564. Id. at 486.
565. Id. at 487.
566. Id. at 497.
567. Id. at 500.
568. Id. at 504.
569. Id.
570. Id. at 486 (identifying companies and Che); id. at 487 (strike began on June 21; workers re-

turned on June 28; strike resumed on July 13; workers returned on August 17).
571. Id. at 486.
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which in turn led Apollo to ask on September 25 for a price reduction,572 which—
when Cooper denied that request—led Apollo to decline to close.573 In a Delaware

Chancery Court action that Cooper then brought against Apollo, the state court

denied specific performance, but concluded “that ‘Apollo lacked the contractual
right to demand renegotiation of the merger agreement based on the necessity

to renegotiate USW contracts,’” and instructed Apollo to continue negotiating

with the USW to try to reach an agreement.574 On December 30, 2013, Cooper
terminated the merger agreement.575

While the merger agreement was between Cooper and Apollo, another possible

suitor—“Party C,” allegedly “a consortium including Chengshan”—had contacted
Cooper on April 10.576 While Party C never made a definitive proposal to Cooper,

it did communicate many times with Cooper—with Party C saying that it intended

to make a proposal—before Cooper signed the agreement with Apollo.577

The complaint in a class action on behalf of those who bought Cooper stock

between June 12, 2013 and November 8, 2013 made a Rule 10b-5 claim against

Cooper, its CEO, and its CFO.578 After the district court dismissed on the basis
that the complaint failed to identify any misrepresentation as to which it ade-

quately pled falsity and scienter, the Third Circuit affirmed.579 The opinion ad-

dressed alleged misstatements in each of Cooper’s SEC filings.580

The merger agreement attached as an exhibit to the June 12 8-K included

three challenged representations.581 Per the agreement, each one had to be

true on the date of the agreement, June 12, and the date of the closing, which
never occurred—so that only the June 12 date was germane.582 First, Cooper

represented that Cooper or a subsidiary “‘ha[d] exclusive possession of each

Owned Real Property and Leased Real Property,’ including the CCT facilities.”583

The court took this to be limited to “possession of real property,” and so con-

cluded that allegations that CCT had its own “independent computer systems

to which Cooper . . . had limited access” did not show that the representation
was false.584 While the plaintiff also alleged that Cooper personnel had at

some point been locked out of the CCT premises, that allegation “lack[ed] any

detail as to when the incident occurred, who was kept out, and what transpired

572. Id. at 487.
573. Id. at 487–88.
574. Id. at 488, 505.
575. Id. at 488–89.
576. Id. at 486.
577. Id.
578. Id. at 489; Complaint at paras. 1, 109–17, OFI Asset Mgmt. v. Cooper Tire & Rubber Co.,

834 F.3d 481 (3d Cir. 2016) (No. 1:14CV00068), 2014 WL 358674.
579. Cooper Tire, 834 F.3d at 489, 505.
580. Id. at 494–505.
581. Id. at 494–97.
582. Id. at 494.
583. Id. at 494–95 (alteration by the court) (quoting the plaintiff that, in turn, quoted the merger

agreement).
584. Id. at 495.
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during the incident and afterward.”585 Thus, it did not “support the assertion
that OFI would ultimately need to prove—that Cooper lacked ‘exclusive posses-

sion’ of the CCT facility on June 12, 2013.”586 Second, Cooper represented that

it “‘maintain[ed] internal control over financial reporting [that was] effective in
providing reasonable assurance regarding . . . prevention or timely detection

of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that

could have a material effect on its financial statements.’”587 The Third Circuit
found that the plaintiff did not plead this false by alleging that CCT had an “in-

dependent” financial system that collected information then transferred on to

Cooper, as the plaintiff failed to “allege that Cooper had experienced any diffi-
culty with that arrangement in the past, let alone anything that would call

into question its efficacy in detecting fraud that could materially affect Cooper’s

financial statements.”588 Third, Cooper represented that there “was not ‘pending
or . . . threatened, nor has there been for the past five years, any labor strike or

lockout or any material dispute, walk-out, work stoppage or slowdown involving

[Cooper] or any of its Subsidiaries.’”589 While the plaintiff alleged that Cooper
knew that Che and Chengshan would oppose the merger590 and that Chengshan

had in fact orchestrated the strike at CCT,591 the specifically pled facts led the

court to conclude that Che’s probable reaction to the merger was unknown at
the time the merger was announced, and that Cooper thought that Che might

actually support the merger if he was compensated.592 As to possible labor prob-

lems with the USW if a merger were announced, the complaint pled only that
Cooper appreciated this risk and was preparing for it, but no facts to show

that Cooper knew “that a material dispute with the USW was either pending

or threatened as of June 12, 2013.”593

The plaintiffs contended that Cooper’s August 9 10-Q was false for two rea-

sons. First, the company stated “there were ‘no other changes in the Company’s

internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30,
2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,

the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.’”594 While the plaintiff

alleged that, in fact, Cooper lost its ability to collect financial information from
CCT on August 19, the court found that allegation insufficient to plead falsity of

the August 9 10-Q’s assurance regarding internal controls because August 19

was “ten days after the [10-Q] filing, and over a month after the reporting period

585. Id.
586. Id.
587. Id. at 496 (quoting merger agreement).
588. Id. The additional allegation that Cooper’s control over CCT was “illusory” was insufficiently

particular to satisfy the PSLRA pleading rules. Id.
589. Id. (alterations by the court) (quoting merger agreement).
590. Id.
591. Id. at 499.
592. Id. at 496–97.
593. Id. at 497.
594. Id.
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closed [on June 30].”595 Second, the plaintiff asserted that the 10-Q misled by
characterizing the strike at CCT, which started during the second quarter, as

“implemented” by CCT’s “unionized workforce,” when in fact it was Chengshan

behind the work stoppage, and also misled by characterizing the strike as “tem-
porary.”596 As to the 10-Q’s intimation that the workers initiated the strike, the

court held that even if Che and Chengshan were behind the strike instead of the

union at the CCT plant, nothing suggested that the defendants intended to de-
fraud by the challenged statement, as the characterization “was a single phrase

buried within a filing that encompassed dozens of pages,” and no defendant

“stood to gain from this relatively minor misrepresentation, if that’s what it
was.”597 As to calling the strike “temporary,” the Third Circuit recognized that

adjective to be forward-looking, and concluded that the language in the 10-Q

warning that “if there were ‘[a]n extended work stoppage at [CCT, it] could neg-
atively affect the Company’s future financial performance’” brought the “tempo-

rary” characterization within the PSLRA safe harbor.598

Turning to the August 30 proxy statement, the plaintiff contended, first, that it
included projections that were false because they were above projections that

Cooper provided to Apollo between July 21 and August 9.599 But the proxy

statement said only that the projections it included had been provided to Apollo
during the negotiations leading up to the June 12 merger agreement, and speci-

fically advised that readers should not rely on the projections and that they were

outdated.600 They therefore were not “false.”601 As to the plaintiff’s second claim
that the proxy statement was false when it said that the strike at CCT was not

“expected to have an effect on the consummation of the merger,” the court

found this statement to be forward-looking and protected from a private lawsuit
by meaningful cautionary language (i) warning that “labor problems” and “dis-

ruptions” and “changes in [Cooper’s] relationship with joint-venture partners”

“could cause . . . actual results . . . to differ materially from those . . . implied
by forward-looking statements” and (ii) disclosing that “the strike was underway,

that CCT’s employees were ‘demanding termination of the merger,’ that the

strike had started and stopped before, and that CCT was then denying Cooper
access to the facility and withholding financial information.”602 Third and fi-

nally, the plaintiff contended the proxy statement misled by stating that Party C

595. Id. at 497–98; see Cooper Tire & Rubber Co., Quarterly Report (Form 10-Q), cover page
(Aug. 9, 2013) (stating that the report was “[f]or the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013”).
596. Cooper Tire, 834 F.3d at 498–500.
597. Id. at 499. The court was also skeptical of the materiality of this alleged misstatement, as the

plaintiff “did not plead any facts demonstrating that the extra information about Che’s support for the
strike would have materially affected the closing of the merger.” Id.
598. Id. at 500 (“[A]cknowledgement of the business effects of the then-active strike, and its ref-

erence to the implications of that stoppage persisting or later being renewed, provided sufficient no-
tice to the reader about the specific risks attached to the forward-looking statement.”); see 15 U.S.C.
§ 78u-5(c)(1)(A)(i) (2012).
599. Cooper Tire, 834 F.3d at 500.
600. Id. at 501.
601. Id.
602. Id. at 501–02.
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had been a potential purchaser without disclosing that Party C was a group headed
by Chengshan.603 The Third Circuit held that Cooper was not obligated to make

such a disclosure because the failure to do so did not render any statement in the

proxy solicitation either false or misleading.604

Turning last to the two 8-Ks in September, the plaintiff alleged them mislead-

ing because they did not say that the USW arbitration decision, and Apollo’s re-

action to that decision, imperiled the merger’s closing.605 But Cooper filed the
first of these 8-Ks on September 19, before Apollo requested a price reduction

on September 25, or indicated that the deal was contingent on such a reduc-

tion.606 Although Cooper filed the second 8-K on September 30—after the re-
quested price reduction—the court held that the failure to disclose that develop-

ment created no cause of action because Cooper “believed Apollo had no

contractual right to demand such a reduction”—a view that the Delaware Chan-
cery Court confirmed.607

Significance and analysis. While the court addressed each of the allegedly

false representations and warranties in the merger agreement with a standard
Rule 10b-5 analysis, it introduced its discussion by quoting an extensive passage

from the June 12, 2013 8-K that attached the agreement.608 That passage said,

among other things, that investors “should not rely on the representations and
warranties in the Merger Agreement as characterizations of the actual state of

facts about the Company.”609 Similarly, in discussing the projections included

in the proxy statement, the court noted that that filing said that readers “should
not rely on the projections,” which had been provided by Cooper to Apollo dur-

ing the negotiations but “should not [be] regard[ed as] . . . predictive.”610 In nei-

ther case did the Third Circuit hold that the plaintiff could not recover for want
of reliance.611 But the circumstance that the court quoted the language suggests

that this careful lawyering paid off in setting the stage for a defense victory, and

the language could have been relevant on scienter, as it seems inconsistent with
an intent to defraud for the defendant to explicitly tell investors that they should

not rely on statements that the plaintiff later claims to be wrong.

As set out above, the court concluded that the plaintiff could not successfully
sue on two statements about the strike at CCT because the alleged misrepresen-

tations were accompanied with meaningful cautionary language that shielded

them from private lawsuits under the statutory protection for forward-looking

603. Id. at 503.
604. Id. (“[Section] 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 do not impose liability for ‘statements that are simply

incomplete,’ only those that are ‘misleading or untrue.’” (quoting Winer Family Tr. v. Queen, 503
F.3d 319, 330 (3d Cir. 2007))).
605. Id. at 504.
606. Id.
607. Id. at 505 (“Cooper’s choice not to disclose a request by Apollo that it was not entitled to

make thus does not constitute an actionable material misrepresentation.”).
608. Id. at 494.
609. Id.
610. Cooper Tire, 834 F.3d at 501.
611. See id. at 493 (listing reliance as an element of a Rule 10b-5 claim).
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statements.612 In the second instance, the court rejected the plaintiff’s argument
that, even if a defendant accompanies a forward-looking statement with language

warning of risks, the statement is still actionable if the defendant could not have

believed the statement to be true.613 The Third Circuit joined other circuits in
holding that “whether [the defendants] believed the statement to be true at

the time is irrelevant, as long as there was sufficient ‘meaningful cautionary

language.’”614

Miscellaneous Cases. The Eleventh Circuit held that misrepresentations

made to the Government National Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mae”) were

“in connection with the purchase or sale” of securities and “in the offer or sale
of any securities” within the meaning of Rule 10b-5 and section 17(a) respec-

tively where defendants made the misstatements for the purpose of obtaining

Ginnie Mae guarantees for securities that the defendants were selling.615 The
Tenth Circuit found that interests in a limited liability company (“LLC”) were

not “investment contracts” and therefore not securities under federal law

where the purchasers held 80 percent of the total interests in the LLC, had
the right to choose eight out of nine LLC managers, and were sophisticated in-

vestors receiving LLC financial statements, with access to other company rec-

ords.616 The Second Circuit held that market standoff agreements known as
lockups do not create a “group” for purposes of computing the 10 percent ben-

eficial ownership triggering the section 16(b) prohibition against short-swing

profits.617 The Second Circuit affirmed dismissal of an action in which a sub-
scriber to trading data claimed breach of contract and violation of regulations be-

cause national stock exchanges provided such data microseconds faster to those

who subscribed to direct data feeds from the exchanges than to the intermediar-
ies from which the plaintiff received that data.618 That same court held that an

issuer must have actual knowledge of a trend or uncertainty in order that the

obligation to disclose it arises under Regulation S-K Item 303(a)(3)(ii), but
found that plaintiffs alleged an issuer’s actual knowledge of uncertainties created

by a fraud that had been committed on a company project that might lead to a

claim for recovery by the municipality for which the work was being done and
the possible loss of business from other public entities.619

612. See supra text accompanying notes 598 & 602.
613. Cooper Tire, 834 F.3d at 502–03.
614. Id. at 503; see also In re Cutera Sec. Litig., 610 F.3d 1103, 1112 (9th Cir. 2010); Miller v.

Champion Enter. Inc., 346 F.3d 660, 672 (6th Cir. 2003); Edward J. Goodman Life Income Tr. v.
Jabil Circuit, Inc., 594 F.3d 783, 795 (11th Cir. 2010).
615. SEC v. Radius Capital Corp., 653 F. App’x 744, 748–51 (11th Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 2017

WL 2407505 (U.S. June 5, 2017) (No. 16-8119).
616. Ave. Capital Mgmt. II, L.P. v. Schaden, 843 F.3d 876, 880–84 (10th Cir. 2016).
617. Lowinger v. Morgan Stanley & Co., 841 F.3d 122 (2d Cir. 2016).
618. Lanier v. Bats Exch., Inc., 838 F.3d 139 (2d Cir. 2016).
619. Ind. Pub. Ret. Sys. v. SAIC, Inc., 818 F.3d 85, 95 (2d Cir. 2016) (“Item 303 requires the

registrant to disclose only those trends, events, or uncertainties that it actually knows of when it
files the relevant report with the SEC. It is not enough that it should have known of the existing
trend, event, or uncertainty.”), cert. granted sub. nom., Leidos, Inc. v. Ind. Pub. Ret. Sys., 137 S. Ct.
1395 (2017) (No. 16-581).
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Two courts of appeals applied the five-year statute of limitations in 28 U.S.C.
§ 2462 in SEC actions, reaching different conclusions as to whether that statute

governs Commission claims for disgorgement, with the Supreme Court reversing

one of those decisions in 2017 and holding that the statute does apply.620 Three
courts of appeals held that the pendency of a class action does not toll the repose

periods applicable to either (i) claims under sections 11 and 12 of the Securities

Act or (ii) claims under Rule 10b-5 and the related control person statute.621 The
Second Circuit ruled that the statute of limitations in sections 9(f) and 18(a) of

the Exchange Act governs claims for violation of section 14(a), even though 28

U.S.C. § 1658(b) now supplies the limitations period for actions under sections 9(f)
and 18(a) themselves.622

620. SEC v. Graham, 823 F.3d 1357 (11th Cir. 2016); id. at 1363–64 (holding that 28 U.S.C.
§ 2462 applies to disgorgement claims); SEC v. Kokesh, 834 F.3d 1158, 1164–67 (10th Cir. 2016),
rev’d, 2017 WL 2407471 (U.S. June 5, 2017) (holding that 28 U.S.C. § 2462 does apply to disgorge-
ment claims).
621. Stein v. Regions Morgan Keegan Select High Income Fund, Inc., 821 F.3d 780, 792–95 (6th

Cir. 2016) (addressing statutes of repose applicable to sections 11 and 12 (three years per 15 U.S.C.
§ 77m) and Rule 10b-5 (five years per 28 U.S.C. § 1658(b)(2))); SRM Global Master Fund Ltd.
P’ship v. Bear Stearns Cos., 829 F.3d 173, 177 (2d Cir. 2016), petition for cert. filed, 85 U.S.L.W.
3151 (U.S. Sept. 22, 2016) (No. 16-372) (addressing statute of repose applicable to Rule 10b-5);
Dusek v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., 832 F.3d 1243, 1246–49 & n.4 (11th Cir. 2016) (addressing statute
of repose applicable to control person claim on Rule 10b-5 violation), petition for cert. filed, 85 U.S.L.W.
3167 (U.S. Sept. 26, 2016) (No. 16-389).
622. DeKalb Cty. Pension Fund v. Transocean Ltd., 817 F.3d 393, 401–10 (2d Cir. 2016), petition

for cert. filed, 85 U.S.L.W. 3072 (U.S. Aug. 12, 2016) (No. 16-206).
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